Effects and Interactions of Early-Life and Adult Stress on Neuroendocrine Control of Reproduction

by

Amanda G. Gibson

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Neuroscience) in the University of Michigan 2024

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Suzanne M. Moenter, Co-Chair Professor Audrey Seasholtz, Co-Chair Assistant Professor Christian Burgess Assistant Professor Kevin Jones Assistant Professor Joanna Spencer-Segal Amanda G. Gibson

gibsonag@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0000-0003-0817-2141

© Amanda G Gibson 2024

Acknowledgements

The path to graduate school and earning a PhD is not an easy one, especially when it's further disrupted by a global pandemic, and I am tremendously grateful to those who have supported me along the way.

Sue, thank you for always tailoring my experience to help me achieve my goal of becoming a teacher and a researcher. From taking courses at the School of Education, leading SIREN-NURO workshops during the pandemic, working as an instructional consultant, to teaching at Washtenaw, the flexibility that you offered was invaluable. Thank you for allowing me to develop a new line of research within the lab and helping me to design fundamentally sound experiments from which we learned, even through lots of rejected hypotheses.

Beth and Laura, thank you for all that you do to make the lab function. I would not have had the flexibility to pursue all of my interests outside the lab if it were not for your support. More importantly, thank you for your friendship, for listening to my daily updates, and for answering countless questions which strengthened my research.

Tony and Xi, thank you for helping me to understand electrophysiology. Your thoughts and guiding directions in ephys meetings and beyond were always deeply appreciated.

To the many Moenter Lab alumni – Abira, Rudi, Charlotte, Jeff, Charlene, Eden, Tova, Caroline, Kasia, and Marina, thank you for all of your support and guidance over the years. You have helped to shape the direction of my project and offered valuable tips for navigating graduate school.

Christian, you rotated and joined the lab in the thick of COVID. It has been great to watch you grow and take ownership of your project and develop as a mentor. Thank you for helping to teach Jesse and me IHC.

ii

Jesse and Bo, thank you for trusting me as a research mentor. Your work helped get key new directions off the ground, and it was a joy to watch you both come into your own in the lab.

Jenn, I cannot imagine graduate school without you. From the early conversation in Palmer, to patching your first cell under about a dozen layers of PPE, to defending your PhD, you had a vision for your time in graduate school and your hard work has paid off.

To my dissertation committee, thank you for your guidance and always recognizing my teaching activities as valuable parts of my training. Your ideas helped to strengthen my projects, and I genuinely enjoyed the conversations during my committee meetings.

The work presented in this dissertation was supported by the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development R01HD041469. I was also supported by the National Defense Science and Engineering Graduate Fellowship and *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health & Human Development of the National Institutes of Health F31HD108872.

Beth Rust, thank you for helping me come into my own as an instructor. I loved teaching physiology, despite all of the disruptions of teaching for two semesters in 2020. Thank you for your continued support of my professional development, including offering critical feedback on my job talks.

Audrey and Keith, thank you for the opportunity to help design and lead SIREN-NURO in 2020. The amount of trust that you placed in me as a second-year student still astounds me. I can trace nearly every subsequent opportunity I had as an educator and leader during graduate school back to this experience. It is not a stretch to say that this changed the course of my career.

Rachel, Valerie, Vicky, and everyone who has helped to make the Neuroscience Graduate Program function over the years, thank you! This is a huge undertaking. Throughout my time at Michigan, you have made the RPR like a second home and refuge. Carol, Audrey, Shelly, Michael, Keith, and Victoria, thank you for your leadership of the program.

iii

To the friends who have helped me through all the stages of graduate school, I would not be here without you. Nolan, it was fun to continue our friendship that began in Madrid back in Michigan. Jenn, I am so thankful for your friendship through these challenging years of pandemic + grad school. From trips to Bill's, to Traverse City, to Glasgow, Valencia, Madrid, and Tours, we have found ways to get out of the lab and explore. Thank you for the many book recommendations – I look forward to finally making a dent in the list. Rodrigo, thank you for letting me play Michigan tour guide. Luis, thank you for the reminders to get out of lab, countless trips for ice cream, Oberon Days, Detroit sports, and movies. Katie, Warren, Francisco, Marcel, and Kevin, thank you for being there to celebrate the wins and push through the tough times. Thank you to my 2018 NGP cohort for your support along the way.

My success in graduate school is also thanks to family, mentors, and friends who have supported me long before graduate school was even a possibility.

Dad, I've been following your path for some time now, from starting with Mrs. Dubnicka in kindergarten, to Hope College, to IES Madrid, and then to Michigan for graduate degrees. I'm so grateful for this path that you have set for me. Thank you for a love of the outdoors, whether it's the joy of spending time on or by any body of water, or the awe of being on a snow-covered mountain (or the hills and old garbage dumps of Michigan, though I'm looking forward to more real mountains in my future!). Some of my patience in the lab has to come from helping on all those "five-minute projects." You may have also taught me by omission to always start by consulting the instructions.

Mom, thank you for always being there for all the piano lessons, sports games, Battle of the Books, and band events over the years. You did it all while managing a career on your own terms and set the best model in the process. Watching your work with Southwest Michigan Eating Disorders Association at a young age, I learned the value of community-based approaches to solving tough problems. I saw how much you appreciated the perspectives offered by different disciplines. You always encouraged me to explore, to talk with your colleagues, and learn whatever I could. You made sure that I was always making my own decisions, but in critical moments, you helped to

iv

reflect back to me my own thoughts when I couldn't sort them out in my own head. You've been with me on near daily phone calls for all of the highs and lows of graduate school. I look forward to continuing to learn with you on this path of teaching and leadership in higher education.

Jacob and Joshua, thank you for the constant companionship. I may be the big sister, but you have both taught me so much in so many aspects of life. We had a few extra months of all living together in 2020, and despite the weirdness of the moment, I'm grateful to have gone through it together. Jake, thank you for showing me the ropes in Ann Arbor. It was so much fun and a welcome distraction to have you back in town over breaks this past year while finishing up my dissertation. Thank you both for the concerts and sports games that I never would have found or attended on my own.

To my Grandpa Woody, thank you for instilling a love and curiosity for numbers. Whether in the form of games like Yahtzee, Cribbage, Stock Market, or Blue Chip or logic puzzles and mental math tricks, I was never too young to be challenged. You never just *let* me win, I always had to earn it. Thank you for the early trips to Tigers' games and Tigers' trivia. You and Dad gave me a team and a fan base to join, through difficult and exciting seasons. It's not summer without a Tigers' game on the radio and a campfire on the shores of Burt Lake. These Detroit Tigers of a new generation have gotten me through many long nights of sampling in the waning months of grad school.

Thank you to you and Grandma Jo for showing me how much can be learned and gained from travel near and far. I've acquired a lifetime of memories and a community of world-wide friends from your inspiration. Grandma Jo, it was a special trip to join you for the 500th Anniversary of the Reformation and 50th Anniversary of the Sister City relationship with Gunzenhausen. To see the homes and villages of my ancestors, and to hear stories of all of your prior trips were moments that I will always remember. I only wish that Grandpa could have been there with us. I've loved being closer to Frankenmuth these last few years. I'm sure that neither of us will forget our two-person Thanksgiving in 2020 during the first year of COVID.

To my aunts, uncles and cousins on the Frank-side, Gibson-side, and the extended Christian family, I am so blessed by your love, support, and community. I'm thankful for the pandemic side-effect of many months of weekly Zooms that would have never come about otherwise. A mi segunda familia en España, vosotros habéis enriquecido mi vida de una forma que no me habría imaginado jamás. To Sandy, Charlie, and Ben, thank you for all of the music, travel, good food, and stories through the years. I am beyond grateful for the coincidences that brought all our families together.

To my teachers at Mattawan, I owe so much of my foundation to you. I have thought back to 10th grade English *many* times while writing this dissertation. Every (correctly) placed comma and semicolon is a testament to Mr. Hoff. The work ethic and community that I developed in band prepared me in more ways than I could have expected for graduate school. Thank you to Mr. Boswell and Mr. Greer, Chris Janowiak and Josh Garcia, and the many more instructors and volunteers who made it all possible. Thank you to Mrs. Garman for working hard to ensure that I was welcomed and integrated into the AP Calc class community as the sole freshman in a class mostly comprised of the big siblings of my friends. Mrs. Flachier and Mr. Boven, thank you for giving me the life skills to help friends in the challenging moments of life. Mr. Waldron, thank you for opening your room, long after school had finished, for students to talk about life and the world outside of the classroom. I have shared before how much your genuine care when you asked, "How are you?" meant and continues to mean to me.

I grew up with the best group of friends in Mattawan, and you all continue to support me from afar. Band has a way of bonding you together for life, often through literal blood, sweat, and tears. From the trips to Wagoners, marches through the woods, bus rides to competitions, and travels to Disney and Europe, I cherish the memories and countless inside jokes.

My time at Hope College shaped me into the scientist and educator that I am today. Because of the example set by my faculty mentors, I entered graduate school with the explicit goal of becoming a teacher at a small, primarily undergraduate institution. That guiding vision helped me say yes to the right opportunities to lead to my new position at

vi

Regis. Dr. Jeffrey Johnson, you gave me the first taste of research as a freshman in organic chemistry, and you helped me to clarify my goals and purpose in senior seminar. Dr. Gerald Griffin, thank you for showing me how to incorporate creativity into a neuroscience classroom, and for writing exams from which I continued to learn.

Dr. Sonja Trent-Brown, developmental psychology was one of my first classes at Hope, and my lasting interest in development plays out in this dissertation. Thank you for welcoming me as part of your team of student researchers. The outdoor, nature-based preschool project holds a special place in my heart. Beyond the research organization and data analysis, the opportunity to see such a wide range of preschools and to understand the impact of play are truly lessons that will stay with me forever.

Dr. Leah Chase, your impact on my life and career began before I had even applied to Hope when I learned about the Neuroscience minor and Neurochemistry and Disease course on a prospective student visit. This was the first of what would ultimately become many conversations in your office. Thank you for giving me ownership over a project and the tools to troubleshoot when things didn't work the first time (or the tenth)! It was in your lab that I learned not only how to be a mentee but also to develop as a research mentor. Thank you for continuing to believe in me, pushing me beyond what I thought possible for myself at every stage.

Dr. Andrew Gall, thank you for the first opportunity to TA a neuroscience course. I learned so much from observing multiple ways of teaching Intro to Neuroscience, and from watching these concepts start to stick for students. Neuroscience Capstone was fundamental to my success in graduate school. It offered the skills not only in animal-based neuroscience research, but also in reading journal articles and grant writing.

Dr. Peter Vollbrecht, thank you for always sharing openly about your experiences and path through academia. I have benefited from your insight and support through every step of my own journey, from graduate school applications and interviews, selecting a lab, teaching anatomy, and most importantly, navigating the job market.

vii

Kimberly, thank you for adopting the freshman in your organic lab and welcoming me into your friend group. Chris, Sam, Kathryn, Liz, Tiffany, Lyndsy, Dan, and Stanna: I'm thankful for all the meals spent laughing in Phelps. Somehow, we also survived 14 people in Pieters Cottage. I've learned so much while cheering you on (and sometimes commiserating) through your own journeys with academia, careers, family, and life.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementsii
List of Tablesxii
List of Figuresxiv
List of Abbreviationsxv
Abstractxvii
Chapter 1 Introduction 1
Reproductive axis overview1
Stress axis overview
Early-life stress and reproduction2
Rodent models of early-life stress
Reproductive consequences of early-life stress in rodents
Stress hyporesponsive period5
Effects of early-life stress on the neuroendocrine stress axis
Effects of adult stress on the reproductive axis8
Humans8
Non-human primates9
Sheep11
Rodents14
Hypothalamic synaptic physiology and the switch to positive feedback
Interactions between early-life and adult stress on reproductive outcomes
Stimulatory effects of stress on the reproductive axis

ļ	Stress-related changes in synaptic physiology	19
l	Dissertation preview	21
Cha Res Disr	apter 2 Limited Bedding and Nesting Does Not Alter Adult Corticosterone sponse to Acute Psychosocial Stress in Male or Female Mice or the Stress-Induce ruption of the Preovulatory Luteinizing Hormone Surge	d 25
1	Abstract	25
:	Significance Statement	26
	Introduction	26
I	Materials and Methods	29
	Animals	29
	Experimental design	29
	Limited bedding and nesting (LBN) paradigm	31
	Dam behavior monitoring	32
	Body mass	32
	Offspring maturation	33
	Adult female estrous cycles	33
	Acute, layered, psychosocial stress (ALPS) paradigm	33
	Corticosterone administration	35
	Corticosterone enzyme immunoassay	35
	Ultra-sensitive LH assay	36
	Electrophysiology	36
	Statistical analysis	38
	Code accessibility	41
	Results	41
	LBN dams exited the nest more frequently	41
	LBN affected pup mass	44

LBN did not alter reproductive maturation or estrous cycles	47
Early-life stress did not alter the corticosterone response to adult stress	48
ALPS decreased afternoon LH in proestrous mice, LBN had no additional effect	55
Neither LBN nor ALPS reduced the frequency of GABA PSCs in GnRH neurons	56
Discussion	60
Chapter 3 Conclusion	
LBN did not disrupt reproductive maturation	87
STD and LBN mice had similar corticosterone responses to ALPS	89
Timing of limited bedding and nesting paradigm	89
Diurnal and sex steroid effects on corticosterone release	90
Does ALPS suppress LH pulses?	92
Mechanisms of ALPS-induced disruption of the LH surge	92
Hypothalamus	92
Pituitary	94
Actions of corticosterone	94
Activation of CRH neurons	97
Other components of the stress response	100
Summary	101
Bibliography	102

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in non-human primates. 22
Table 1.2. Summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in sheep
Table 1.3. Summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in rats. 24
Table 1.4. Summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in mice
Table 2.1. Type of statistical test used to analyze each outcome
Table 2.2. Statistical table for pairwise comparisons for post-hoc tests
Table 2.1.1. Number of dams in each group for studies in Figure 2.1. 75
Table 2.1.2. Statistics for tests of dam mass and dam behavior over time
Table 2.2.1 . Linear mixed models of offspring mass on PND11 and anogenitaldistance.75
Table 2.2.2. Linear mixed model of the offspring mass from PND11-72 fit with theequation mass ~ early-life treatment * PND@ + (1 dam) + (1 mouse)
Table 2.2.3. Linear mixed models for maturation with the equation maturation feature~ early-life treatment + (1 dam).76
Table 2.3.1. Statistics for estrous cycles from postnatal days 70-90. 76
Table 2.4.1 . Number of litters and mice with serum corticosterone measurements before and after adult treatment. 77
Table 2.4.2. Statistics for serum corticosterone in male and female offspring
Table 2.4.3. Number of litters and male mice with mass measurements on the day of adult treatment. 79
Table 2.4.4 . Statistics from linear mixed models of male masses on day of adulttreatment.80
Table 2.4.5 . Number of litters and female mice with mass measurements on the day of adult treatment. 81

Table 2.4.6. Statistics from linear mixed models of female masses on day of adult treatment.	. 82
Table 2.4.7. Statistics from linear mixed models of male masses on day of vehicle(0mg/kg) or corticosterone (2mg/kg) treatment.	. 84
Table 2.4.8. Statistics for serum corticosterone in males with vehicle or corticosterone administration.	э . 84
Table 2.5.1. Statistics from linear mixed models of average LH in diestrous mice on day of adult treatment.	. 84
Table 2.6.1. Statistics from linear mixed models of electrophysiology properties on day of adult treatment.	. 85
Table 2.7.1. Statistics for number of postsynaptic current (PSC) events per 240s inGnRH neurons on the day of adult treatment.	. 85
Table 2.7.2 . Pairwise comparisons of distributions of interevent interval and amplitude for PSCs recorded in GnRH neurons.	e . 86

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. The LBN paradigm altered dam behavior.	43
Figure 2.2 . LBN decreased PND11 body mass and lowered body mass in adult males but did not affect reproductive maturation.	s 46
Figure 2.3. LBN did not alter estrous cyclicity from PND70-90.	48
Figure 2.4. LBN does not change the corticosterone response to ALPS.	51
Figure 2.4.1. The ALPS paradigm caused small changes in tissue mass in males	52
Figure 2.4.2. LBN and ALPS cause limited changes in tissue masses in females	53
Figure 2.4.3. Acute elevation of serum corticosterone decreases testicular mass in males.	54
Figure 2.5. The LH surge is disrupted by adult stress	56
Figure 2.6 . Recording quality and passive properties of GnRH neurons were similar among groups	58
Figure 2.7 . Stress treatments did not alter overall GABA PSC frequency, but ALPS may lengthen the interevent interval in GnRH neurons.	59
Figure 2.3.1 . Corticosterone administration on proestrus does not disrupt the LH surge or ovulation.	96

List of Abbreviations

ACE	adverse childhood experience
ACSF	artificial cerebrospinal fluid
ACTH	adrenocorticotropic hormone
ALPS	acute, layered, psychosocial stress
ARC	arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus
AVPV	anteroventral periventricular nucleus
CRH	corticotropin-releasing hormone
CRHR	corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor
DREADDs	designer receptor exclusively activated by designer drugs
ERα	estrogen receptor alpha
ERβ	estrogen receptor beta
FSH	follicle-stimulating hormone
GABA	gamma-aminobutyric acid
GABAA	A-type gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor
GABAB	B-type gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GnRH	gonadotropin-releasing hormone
HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
HPG	hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal
ICV	intracerebroventricular

IV	intravenous
KNDy	arcuate neurons co-expressing kisspeptin, neurokinin B, and
	dynorphin
LBN	limited bedding and nesting
LBN-CON	limited bedding and nesting; subsequent control treatment
LBN-ALPS	limited bedding and nesting; subsequent acute, layered,
	psychosocial stress
LH	luteinizing hormone
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
mPSC	miniature postsynaptic current; recorded in presence of tetrodotoxin
OVX	ovariectomized
OVX+E	ovariectomized with replaced estradiol
POA	preoptic area
PSC	postsynaptic current
PVN	paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus
STD	standard-reared
STD-CON	standard-reared; subsequent control treatment
STD-ALPS	standard-reared; subsequent acute, layered, psychosocial stress

Abstract

The neuroendocrine systems regulating stress and reproduction are important for organisms to respond to their environments and ensure the continuation of the species. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons in the hypothalamus integrate many inputs and serve as the common central output to the downstream reproductive axis. The pulsatile release of GnRH leads to the synthesis and release of luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone from the anterior pituitary; these gonadotropins regulate the synthesis of sex steroids by the gonads. The frequency of GnRH/LH pulses changes throughout the ovarian reproductive cycle, and a high frequency of pulses in the preovulatory stage leads to a sustained rise in estradiol. This leads to a switch from negative to positive feedback effects of estradiol, inducing the LH surge and subsequent ovulation. The stress axis is organized similarly to the reproductive axis, beginning with corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) neurons in the hypothalamus. CRH stimulates the release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the pituitary, and ACTH stimulates the synthesis of glucocorticoids by the adrenal glands.

Both early-life and adult stress in humans can affect the reproductive system, and earlylife stress may also change the response to adult stress. Because causal and mechanistic studies cannot be conducted in humans to understand these relationships, we used models for early-life and adult stress in rodents. Though the length of the reproductive cycle is different in humans and rodents, the pattern of hormonal changes

xvii

is similar. We tested the hypotheses that limited bedding and nesting (LBN) from postnatal days 4-11 would delay sexual maturation in male and female mice, and would alter the response to an acute, layered, psychosocial stress (ALPS) in adulthood. ALPS disrupts the LH surge in most mice on proestrus. We also investigated a possible mechanism underlying ALPS disruption of the surge.

LBN dams exited the nest more often than standard dams. Contrary to the hypotheses, however, the age and mass at vaginal opening, first estrus, and preputial separation were not affected by LBN. In males, diestrous females, and proestrous females, basal corticosterone (the primary glucocorticoid in rodents) concentrations were similar between standard and LBN reared mice. Further, ALPS increased serum corticosterone similarly in standard and LBN reared offspring. The LH surge was disrupted by ALPS in most mice when applied on the morning of proestrus, but this effect was not changed by LBN. To test if ALPS disrupts the LH surge by blunting the observed increase in excitatory GABAergic input to gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons on the afternoon of proestrus, whole-cell voltage-clamp recordings were conducted following ALPS treatment. The frequency of GABA PSCs in GnRH neurons was not altered by LBN, ALPS, or their interaction.

These studies suggested that LBN did not confer susceptibility or resilience to ALPS, and questions remain about how ALPS disrupts the LH surge. ALPS may act upstream of GnRH neurons, change the responsiveness of GnRH neurons to input, or decrease pituitary responsiveness to GnRH. We also tested and rejected the hypothesis that elevated serum corticosterone disrupts the LH surge and ovulation, as there were no differences between the incidence of the surge or ovulation between vehicle- and

XVIII

corticosterone-treated proestrous mice. Future studies should consider other potential mechanisms for ALPS-induced disruptions such as central actions of CRH or endogenous opioid peptide signaling.

Chapter 1 Introduction

This chapter describes the knowledge of the field at the time that the dissertation project was developed.

Reproductive axis overview

Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons form the final common pathway for the hypothalamic component of the reproductive axis. In both sexes, GnRH is released in a pulsatile manner (1–7) that drives release of luteinizing hormone (LH) and folliclestimulating hormone (FSH) from the pituitary; the frequency of pulses shapes the relative release of these gonadotropins, with higher frequencies favoring LH and lower favoring FSH (8–10). LH and FSH stimulate synthesis of sex steroids by the gonads; these sex steroids feed back to the brain to regulate GnRH pulse frequency. Collectively, this system is known as the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis.

The frequency of GnRH/LH pulses fluctuates throughout the ovarian reproductive cycle. The pulse frequency increases during the follicular phase and then decreases dramatically during the luteal phase, which is also characterized by higher amplitude pulses (11–15). The increased frequency of LH pulses during the preovulatory stage (late follicular phase in humans, proestrous in rodents) leads to a sustained rise in estradiol levels (11,14,15), which induces a prolonged surge of GnRH and LH release (16–20). Ovulation of mature follicles is triggered by the resulting LH surge (21,22). Positive feedback is likely conveyed to GnRH neurons via estradiol-sensitive neurons in

the anteroventral periventricular (AVPV) region that make kisspeptin, a potent stimulator of GnRH neurons (23–25). Stress during the follicular phase may be particularly detrimental for fertility, and it has been associated with a decreased probability of conception (26).

Stress axis overview

The organization of the neuroendocrine stress axis, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, is similar to that of the reproductive axis. Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) neurons in the paraventricular hypothalamus stimulate release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from pituitary corticotropes; ACTH promotes synthesis of glucocorticoids by the adrenal cortex (27). The primary glucocorticoid in humans is cortisol; in rodents, it is corticosterone. This dissertation focuses primarily on this neuroendocrine aspect of the stress response. While the neuroendocrine aspect is an important component of the stress response, helping to mobilize energy resources to react to threats, it must be noted that it does not encompass the entirety of the stress response. Unique circuits govern other components of the stress response, such as behavioral aspects and the sympathetic response; these components may have distinct interactions with the reproductive axis.

Early-life stress and reproduction

Most of the population experiences at least one adverse childhood experience (ACE), including experiences of abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction (28,29). ACEs can affect age at menarche, but the direction of the association (advance vs. delay) depends on the type and timing of stress (30–33). ACEs are also linked with infertility,

including risk for amenorrhea and increased time to pregnancy (34,35), indicating underlying physiological dysfunction. The causal relationships and mechanisms by which early-life stress could be leading to this dysfunction cannot be addressed in human research. Due to the limitations of studying early-life stress in humans, researchers have turned to animal models. Rodents offer additional methodological advantages, such as the availability of genetic tools and shorter lifespans to study development.

Rodent models of early-life stress

There are many ways to model early-life stress of various durations in rodents, including mimicking the adrenal component of the neuroendocrine stress response through corticosterone or dexamethasone administration, activating the immune system, or altering maternal-infant interactions. Maternal separation is a commonly used model, though there are limitations to this paradigm. This stress cannot be continuously applied throughout development, as pups and lactating dams cannot be indefinitely separated. It thus relies on daily experimenter manipulations to separate and then reunite the dams and pups, introducing a source of human variability. The duration of daily separation and whether the pups or the dam remain in the home cage could also impact how the paradigm influences subsequent interactions between the dam and pups. Further, effects of maternal separation in rat offspring, such as reducing exploratory behavior in the open field test and elevated plus maze, have not been successfully replicated in mice (36), suggesting that maternal separation may affect rats and mice differently.

Another model that alters dam-pup interactions is the limited bedding and nesting (LBN) paradigm. In contrast to maternal separation, the LBN paradigm is continuous through the treatment period and does not require repeated experimenter intervention. In this model, the dam and pups are moved into a new "low resource" cage that typically contains a raised wire platform over a single layer of bedding material and reduced nesting material; for review of this model, the reader is directed to Molet et al. (37) and Walker et al. (38). The timing of this treatment varies among research groups, but two of the most common windows are from postnatal day (PND) 2-9 or 4-11. The key finding of fragmented maternal behavior during this paradigm has been demonstrated in both rats (39–41) and mice (42).

Reproductive consequences of early-life stress in rodents

As suggested by the correlational studies in humans, models of early-life stress in rodents can lead to reproductive consequences. Disruptions to the reproductive axis have been demonstrated with prenatal dexamethasone exposure in rats and mice (43–46), perinatal lipopolysaccharide (LPS) exposure in rats and mice (47–53), and maternal separation in rats (54,55). In mice, results are mixed. LBN from PND4-11 was found to delay vaginal opening, an external indicator of sexual maturation (56). Another group using LBN from PND2-9 observed a delay in preputial separation, a marker of sexual maturation in males, but they did not observe a change in the age at vaginal opening (57).

The interpretation of the effects of LBN on reproductive maturation is challenged by the common finding that the paradigm can also lead to smaller offspring (38). This reduction

in body mass by LBN was observed in mice in both Manzano Nieves et al. (56) and Knop et al. (57). Body mass is affected by litter size (smaller litters lead to larger pups, and vice versa) and pups from larger litters have delayed vaginal opening (58–62). Litter sizes in Manzano Nieves et al. (56) are unknown, but were restricted to 6-7 pups in Knop et al. (57). This makes it difficult to determine if the delayed reproductive maturation with LBN is secondary to the reduction in body mass, which cannot be solely explained by a lack of litter size standardization, or if the early-life stress is directly altering maturation.

Stress hyporesponsive period

The neonatal period is an important developmental period and a time of dynamic changes. In altricial species, including humans and rodents, the neonate is dependent upon caregivers for fulfilling their basic needs, and thus must form successful attachments with these caregivers (63). It is often in the immediate interest of neonates to form these attachments even in the face of substandard care. This sensitive period for attachment in rodents is demonstrated by rat pups from PND1-9 forming a positive association to odors paired with a foot shock (63). This positive association with negative stimuli helps to ensure that pups attach to dams despite potentially aversive experiences such as being stepped on in the nest.

The stress hyporesponsive period occurs at a similar time in development as the sensitive period for attachment, and it is characterized by low basal corticosterone levels in neonates and decreased responsiveness to stressors (63–65). During the stress hyporesponsive period, neonatal rodents react more discriminately to different

stressors. Whereas stressors such as novel environments (66,67) do not reliably elevate corticosterone in neonates, others such as cold stress (68,69) and saline injections (70) can elicit elevated corticosterone concentrations during this period. This discrimination may be related to the intensity and/or the type of stressors. For example, cold stress likely represents an ethologically-relevant stressor to which pups must be able to respond. Maternal interactions such as nursing and licking also sculpt the HPA axis of pups (71), which could in part explain how paradigms such as maternal separation or limited bedding and nesting that alter normal maternal behavior lead to lasting developmental changes in offspring (63).

When assessing the impacts of different early-life stressors, it is important to consider the timing relative to this stress hyporesponsive period. As this is a critical window of HPA axis development, stressors applied during the stress hyporesponsive period may lead to distinct outcomes from the same stressors applied after this period. The stress hyporesponsive period is from approximately PND4-14 in rats (64,65) and PND1-12 in mice (64,65,67). LBN paradigms that run from PND2-9 in rats, thus, begin prior to the onset of the hyporesponsive period, whereas those from PND2-9 or 4-11 in mice are likely to occur primarily within this hyporesponsive period.

Effects of early-life stress on the neuroendocrine stress axis

There is evidence of perturbations in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in offspring at the end of the LBN paradigm. In offspring from both mice and rats, basal corticosterone concentrations were elevated at the end of the LBN paradigm (39,72– 75). Normalized adrenal mass, another measure of adrenal axis activation, was

unchanged by LBN in PND9 mice (74), but was elevated in LBN rats at the end of the paradigm on PND9 (39,72). In female, but not male, Wistar rats, these elevations in basal corticosterone and normalized adrenal mass persisted to weaning at PND21 (76). Adult (4-7mo-old) males in the original study of LBN in mice had elevated basal corticosterone, though group size (3 mice per group) was small (75). Another laboratory observed a small increase in basal corticosterone of male adult LBN mice that approached the level set for significance; in contrast, female adult LBN mice had lower basal corticosterone concentration compared to STD females (77). However, by adulthood in both mice and rats, most studies have found that control and LBN offspring have similar basal corticosterone levels (39,57,74,78–80), suggesting that the effects of LBN on basal stress axis activity are predominantly transient.

LBN can change how rodents respond to subsequent stressors. In one study, standardreared (STD) and LBN rat offspring on PND9 were exposed to either stress-free control conditions or cold stress for 30-40 minutes, resulting in four groups: STD-CON, STD-COLD, LBN-CON, and LBN-COLD (73). Before treatment, STD-CON and LBN-CON pups had similar corticosterone concentrations (73). STD-CON pups killed at 90min, 240 min, and 360 min did not have higher corticosterone concentrations than STD-CON pups killed before treatment (73). Concentrations in STD-COLD pups were higher than in STD-CON pups by 90min (73). In contrast, neither LBN-CON nor LBN-COLD pups had elevated corticosterone concentrations at 90min, and both had similarly elevated corticosterone at 240min, making it difficult to determine if the cold stress had an effect in LBN pups at 240min (73). The rise in LBN-CON corticosterone concentration at 240min could be due to LBN pups being more sensitive to the disruption of littermates

being removed from the nest, or secondary to changes in LBN dam behavior as pups are removed. Though the onset of the corticosterone response was delayed in LBN-COLD pups, these pups had higher corticosterone concentrations at 360min than both LBN-CON and STD-COLD pups, suggesting altered termination of the corticosterone response and/or clearance of corticosterone in LBN pups after cold stress (73). This initial study only tested the short-term neuroendocrine consequences of LBN exposure and did not address how LBN affects response to stress in adulthood.

The neuroendocrine consequences of LBN in adulthood are likely to vary by stressors and may be different in male and female offspring. Adult female mice that experienced LBN from PND2-9 had similar corticosterone levels as STD females immediately after a 10-min restraint stress, but LBN females had a blunted corticosterone response at 20 and 30min, before again approaching similar concentrations as STD females at 60min, when corticosterone has begun declining in both groups (79). Overall, males had lower corticosterone responses than females, and STD and LBN males did not differ from each other (79). In a different study using a 6min forced swim stress, adult male mice treated with LBN from PND2-12 had lower corticosterone concentrations than standardreared offspring 1h after the swim stress (80). These studies suggest that LBN may dampen the responsiveness of the neuroendocrine stress response upon exposure to a brief stressor in adulthood, but that this could depend on sex and the type of stressor.

Effects of adult stress on the reproductive axis

Humans

Adult stress can independently affect reproductive outcomes. The likelihood of both natural conception and successful assisted reproductive technology pregnancies are related to women's perceived stress (26,81,82). Acute glucocorticoid exposure reduces mean LH release and pulse frequency in early-follicular-phase women (83), and LH release in response to acute GnRH administration is decreased in women taking the corticosteroid prednisolone (84).

As with studies of early-life stress, animal models are necessary to investigate the neurobiological mechanisms that tie together stress and fertility; such studies are not ethical in humans. Core aspects of fertility shared by spontaneously-ovulating mammals include central control by GnRH stimulating LH release from the pituitary, and a preovulatory shift from a negative feedback to positive feedback action of estradiol leading to a surge in LH that promotes ovulation (17,18,20,85–87). While the reproductive cycle length is different between species, the sequence of hormonal changes is similar. The summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in non-human primates (Table 1.1), sheep (Table 1.2), rats (Table 1.3), and mice (Table 1.4) are described below.

Non-human primates

An early indication that the neuroendocrine stress axis could impact the reproductive axis came from the finding that daily administration of hydrocortisone acetate to orchidectomized rhesus macaques for two months elevated serum cortisol concentrations and decreased serum LH and FSH concentrations (88). As hydrocortisone acetate increases serum cortisol in adrenalectomized macaques (89),

the elevated cortisol is likely due in part to metabolism of the drug. More acutely, CRH administration to ovariectomized (OVX) females also decreased mean LH by decreasing LH-pulse frequency (90,91). CRH administration increases serum cortisol (90–92), which could be partially responsible for the effects on the reproductive axis. However, even when OVX rhesus macagues are adrenalectomized, CRH still suppressed mean LH release (92). This indicates that CRH can affect the reproductive axis independent of elevating cortisol. CRH has central effects on the reproductive axis, as corresponding multiunit activity in the putative GnRH/LH pulse generator region of the hypothalamus (93) was also suppressed after CRH administration (94). The opioid antagonist naloxone reversed these effects of CRH (90,91,94), suggesting the involvement of endogenous opioid peptides in stress-induced suppression of the reproductive system. Activation of the immune system by the bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) increases cortisol in rhesus macaques, and decreases the frequency of LH pulses (95). As naloxone reverses this effect, opioid signaling likely also mediates the response to this immune stressor (95).

Psychosocial stressors also affect the reproductive system in nonhuman primates. In OVX marmosets with estradiol replacement (OVX+E), receipt of aggression from a female conspecific followed by restraint decreased mean LH (96,97), and with longer sampling times, decreased LH pulse amplitude (96). In gonad-intact rhesus macaques, restraint decreased mean LH in males and follicular-phase, but not luteal-phase, females (98,99); the researchers did not assess pulse parameters in these studies, though qualitatively, pulsatile release appears to be disrupted. The above effects of

restraint are also mediated by endogenous opioid signaling, as they are reversed by antagonizing opioid receptors (97–99).

Sheep

Immune stress

Studies in sheep provide great mechanistic detail about how stress interacts with the reproductive system, as sampling techniques allow for the simultaneous monitoring of GnRH and LH pulses. LPS decreased GnRH and mean LH (100). The amplitude of both GnRH and LH pulses was suppressed, but only LH-pulse frequency was reduced (100). This decoupling of the frequency of GnRH and LH pulses suggested that LPS altered how the pituitary gonadotropes responded to GnRH. After blocking endogenous GnRH release, LH release in response to hourly GnRH administration could be assessed. LPS decreased amplitude of LH pulses induced by GnRH injection (101), consistent with the hypothesis that LPS reduced pituitary responsiveness to GnRH. In addition to, and perhaps in part as a consequence of, the disruption to LH pulses, the GnRH/LH surge can also be delayed and/or blunted by LPS exposure prior to the onset of the surge (102,103).

Glucocorticoids

Increased glucocorticoids following LPS exposure could be a source of reproductive disruptions. Yet, in ewes, increased cortisol is not necessary for LPS to suppress LH release, as even when cortisol synthesis is blocked, LPS exposure still reduced LH-pulse frequency and mean LH levels (104). While increased cortisol concentrations

following LPS exposure may not be necessary to disrupt the reproductive axis, it may be sufficient, as demonstrated by studies that artificially elevate serum cortisol levels in ewes without additional stressors. In OVX ewes, serum cortisol concentrations that mimic those induced by LPS exposure decreased mean LH (104,105), variably suppressing either LH-pulse amplitude (105) or LH-pulse frequency (104). While neither GnRH-pulse amplitude nor frequency were suppressed in cortisol-treated OVX ewes (105), replacement of estradiol resulted in cortisol-induced suppression of both GnRH and LH-pulse frequency (106,107). As the results in OVX ewes without estradiol replacement demonstrated that features of LH pulses could be affected by cortisol without altering GnRH pulses (105), this suggested that cortisol alters the responsiveness of pituitary gonadotropes to GnRH. Indeed, when endogenous GnRH release was blocked, the amplitude of LH pulses in response to hourly GnRH administration was reduced following cortisol treatment (105). This effect is dependent on glucocorticoid receptors (108).

Studies of cortisol effects in ovary-intact, follicular-phase ewes offer insight into how stress may disrupt both LH pulses and the LH surge. Stress-like levels of cortisol at the start of the follicular phase prevented the increase in LH-pulse frequency and decrease in LH-pulse amplitude that typically occurs as ewes progress through the follicular phase (106,109). With these disrupted LH pulses, the ewes exposed to cortisol had either a delayed or blocked rise in estradiol, which then delayed or blocked the LH/FSH surge (106,109,110). Thus, one mechanism by which stress disrupts the LH surge may be by suppressing the estradiol signal necessary for a switch to positive feedback. It is also possible, however, that stress could also alter the responsiveness of the central

reproductive axis to the preovulatory rise in estradiol. Indeed, in OVX ewes in which artificial estrous cycles were generated using progesterone and estradiol replacement, ensuring a rise in estradiol in the artificial follicular phase, cortisol still delayed the LH surge (111).

Psychosocial stressors

As observed in nonhuman primates, psychosocial stressors disrupt LH pulses in ewes. In gonadectomized male and female sheep, restraint stress suppressed many aspects of pulsatile LH release; the exact effects on mean LH, pulse amplitude, and pulse frequency depended on steroid milieu (112,113). A sequence of layered, psychosocial stressors including isolation, blindfolding, and predator cues decreased mean LH release and GnRH and LH-pulse amplitude without changing GnRH and LH-pulse frequency (114,115). The decrease in GnRH and LH-pulse amplitude with this paradigm was not dependent on glucocorticoid receptors (114,115).

Psychosocial stress can also change the responsiveness of pituitary gonadotropes to exogenous GnRH, as measured by LH release. Gonad-intact and orchidectomized males exhibited decreased LH release in response to a single IV injection of GnRH after restraint compared to controls (113,116). In OVX ewes, whereas restraint alone did not alter pituitary responsiveness to this GnRH injection (113), the layered psychosocial stress decreased the amplitude of LH pulses in response to hourly GnRH administration in a glucocorticoid receptor-dependent manner (114). This contrasts with the central actions of the layered stress to decrease GnRH-pulse amplitude being independent of glucocorticoid receptors, as described above.

Interestingly, the LH surge appears to be more resistant to the effects of psychosocial stress in ewes. All ewes had typical LH surges after repeated isolation during the early, mid, and late follicular phase (117). Two exposures to the layered stress paradigm similarly did not alter the LH surge, nor did repeated, variable psychosocial stress (117). These findings highlight the specificity with which the reproductive system appears to respond to different stressors, offering an example where animals may be susceptible to the effect of a stressor on one outcome but resilient to the effects on a different outcome.

Rodents

The use of rodent models to study the effects of stress on reproduction offers different methodological advantages including access to genetic tools to probe pathways and shorter lifespans and reproductive cycles. LPS and restraint stress both decreased LH-pulse frequency in OVX rats with (118–120) and without (121) estradiol replacement. Whereas LPS acts via CRH receptor 2 (CRHR2) to suppress LH pulses (119) and depends on activity in the central amygdala (121), restraint acts via both CRHR1 and CRHR2 (119,122) and depends on the medial amygdala (121).

LPS suppresses multiunit activity in the putative GnRH/LH pulse generator region of the hypothalamus in OVX rats (123). Neurons that express kisspeptin, neurokinin B, and dynorphin (KNDy neurons) in the arcuate (ARC) nucleus of the hypothalamus are thought to be a core component of this GnRH/LH pulse generator activity (124–126). Therefore, it is intriguing that LPS also decreased expression of *Kiss1* and *Kiss1R* mRNA for kisspeptin and the kisspeptin receptor, respectively, in both the ARC and

medial preoptic area (118). Restraint similarly decreased *Kiss1* mRNA in the ARC and both *Kiss1* and *Kiss1R* mRNA in the medial preoptic area, suggesting that both stressors could alter signaling of kisspeptin-mediated pathways. Signaling through GABA_B receptors in the ARC may also be involved in the suppression of LH pulses by restraint (120).

Advances in sensitivity of assays for LH have facilitated detection of LH pulses in mice using repeated tail tip sampling (127–129). In OVX mice without estradiol replacement, restraint stress decreased the frequency of LH pulses and mean LH without changing pulse amplitude (130). Chronic elevation of serum corticosterone via the implantation of subcutaneous pellets two days prior to sampling decreased mean LH and LH-pulse frequency in OVX+E, but not OVX, mice (131). This suggests that, while corticosterone depends on estradiol sensitization to alter LH pulses, restraint stress may also act through additional, non-estradiol-dependent mechanisms. This difference also emphasizes that the totality of the stress response activated by restraint, and contributing to disruption of LH pulses, encompasses more than simply elevating serum corticosterone.

In both mice (132) and rats (133), restraint stress on proestrus that begins 7-9h after lights on and continues for 5-7h disrupts the LH surge. Some restrained rats did not show any evidence of an LH surge during the 8h span of hourly sampling from 5h before to 3h after lights out (14:10h light-dark cycle) and had no evidence of ovulation the following day (133). Others had smaller amplitude surges, with some of these rats ovulating (133). None of the restrained rats had an LH surge at the expected time the following day, indicating that stress did not simply delay the surge by one day (133). In

mice, samples for LH were only collected at a single time point around the time of the expected surge peak (132), making it more likely that this study may have missed surges with altered timing and/or lower amplitude in some mice. Of note, restraint still disrupted the LH surge in CRH knockout mice, indicating that restraint does not depend on CRH signaling to disrupt the LH surge (132).

A 5h acute layered psychosocial stress (ALPS) paradigm consisting of transport to a new cage and room, restraint, and predator odor, also disrupted the LH surge when applied on the morning of proestrus in mice (134). The mechanisms of this effect remain unknown. It does not appear that ALPS reduces estradiol levels, which would remove the signal to switch to positive feedback. Uterine mass, a proxy for estrogen exposure, was unchanged by ALPS (134). Further, in OVX+E mice exhibiting a daily surge (135), ALPS still disrupted this LH surge (134). This disruption may thus reflect changes in the ability of elevated estradiol to induce positive feedback.

Hypothalamic synaptic physiology and the switch to positive feedback

To examine how ALPS could be disrupting the LH surge, it is necessary to first understand the typical physiological changes that accompany the switch to positive feedback. GnRH neurons only express detectable levels of estradiol receptor- β (ER- β) and not ER- α (136). Yet, the LH surge is disrupted in ER- α knockout mice, but not in ER- β knockout mice (137). Despite lacking this critical ER- α receptor, GnRH neurons exhibit clear physiological changes around the time of the surge. Their firing rate increases on the afternoon of proestrus (138), due at least in part to increased neuronal excitability (139). The signals to induce positive feedback are likely conveyed to GnRH
neurons by an estradiol-sensitive, upstream network. GnRH neurons receive an increased frequency of GABAergic postsynaptic currents (PSCs) on the afternoon of proestrous (139). In OVX+E mice that express a daily LH surge, the GnRH neuron firing rate (138), excitability (139), and frequency of GABA PSCs (140) are all increased in the afternoon, suggesting that estradiol is responsible for these changes during proestrous. GABA excites GnRH neurons as these cells maintain a high internal chloride concentration in adults (141). Anatomic (142,143) and functional (144,145) data point to GABA as the main fast synaptic input to GnRH neurons. At the start of this project, it was unknown if ALPS alters the GABAergic input to GnRH neurons; this is assessed in Chapter 2.

A possible source of this GABAergic input is AVPV kisspeptin neurons, which use GABA as a co-transmitter (146,147). AVPV kisspeptin neurons could also be a locus of estradiol feedback, as most of these neurons also express ER- α (146,148). The number of *Kiss1*-expressing cells in the AVPV decreases with OVX and is restored in OVX+E mice; this estradiol sensitivity depends on ER- α (148). Knocking down ER- α specifically in AVPV kisspeptin neurons blunts the LH surge in both proestrous mice and OVX+E mice with a daily surge (149), further solidifying the role of these kisspeptin neurons in the switch to positive feedback and the GnRH/LH surge.

Interactions between early-life and adult stress on reproductive outcomes

For this dissertation, we were interested in how LBN would shape the response to ALPS in adulthood. Studies of LPS in both early-life and adulthood offer an example of how two hits of stress could affect reproductive outcomes such as LH release. Prior to any

treatment in adulthood, the LH interpulse interval of OVX+E rats that received saline or LPS as neonates (PND3+5) were similar (50). LPS exposure in adulthood increased the LH interpulse interval for rats treated with saline as neonates, and the increase was even longer in pups treated with LPS as neonates (50). This indicates that the rats with early-life LPS exposure were more susceptible to the disruption of LH pulses when exposed again in adulthood.

The timing of this LPS early-life stress appears to be important for determining how it shapes the response to a second exposure to LPS in adulthood. In male rats, LPS on PND 15 and PND25, but not on PND10, led to a decrease in LH concentrations when measured 2h later (48). This suggests male rats on PND10 were experiencing a hyporesponsive period for this immunological stressor. Further, when exposed to LPS in adulthood, control rats and those with LPS exposure on PND25 had depressed LH concentrations when measured at a single time point 2h later. In contrast, rats with LPS exposure on PND10 did not exhibit depressed LH concentrations following adult LPS treatment (48), suggesting that LPS exposure on PND10 can reprogram the response to a similar stressor in adulthood. In this case, the early-life LPS exposure appeared to induce a form of resilience to LH suppression upon re-exposure to LPS in adulthood. This highlights the complexities and challenges of trying to predict reproductive consequences to two-hits of stress at different life stages.

Stimulatory effects of stress on the reproductive axis

Though most instances of stress exert inhibitory actions on the reproductive axis, there are substantive examples of stimulatory effects of stress. Approximately one third of

OVX rhesus monkeys exhibited a premature volley of hypothalamic multiunit activity at the start of IV CRH infusion (94). LH-pulse frequency was also increased in some studies of OVX (150) and OVX+E (151) ewes after ICV administration of CRH. LH-pulse amplitude and mean LH were also increased by ICV CRH in orchidectomized rams with or without testosterone replacement (152).

One possible explanation for these variable effects of CRH is that different modes of administration and concentrations could lead to activation of different CRHRs. CRHR1 and CRHR2 have different affinities for CRH; CRHR1 binds CRH with a much higher affinity, meaning that it can be activated by lower concentrations of the peptide than CRHR2 (153). The excitatory and inhibitory effects of CRH may be mediated by CRHR1 and CRHR2, respectively. Lower concentrations of CRH increased the firing rate of GnRH neurons in *ex vivo* slice preparations from OVX+E mice, whereas higher concentrations decreased the firing rate of GnRH neurons (154). This dose-dependent effect is due to activation of distinct receptors, as a CRHR1 agonist also increased firing of GnRH neurons, whereas a CRHR2 agonist decreased firing (154). It is also important to note that CRH only affected the firing rate of GnRH neurons from OVX+E mice, and not from OVX mice without steroid replacement (154), further demonstrating the permissive effect of estradiol in the interactions between the stress and reproductive systems.

Stress-related changes in synaptic physiology

Given our goal of testing if ALPS alters GABAergic input to GnRH neurons, it is helpful to consider if and how stressors alter synaptic physiology in other brain regions. This

overview will be limited to the physiology of parvocellular neurons in the PVN, which include CRH neurons, but there are also documented changes following stress in regions such as the hippocampus and amygdala, as reviewed in Tasker and Joëls (155). In basal conditions, there is tonically active, inhibitory GABAergic input to CRH neurons (155). Restraint stress (60min) or an injection of corticosterone 60min before decapitation both reduced the frequency of GABAergic PSCs recorded in the presence of tetrodotoxin (mini-PSCs, mPSCs) in parvocellular PVN neurons; neither amplitude nor the decay time constant of PSCs were altered by restraint or corticosterone (156). Incubation of hypothalamic slices in corticosterone for 20min similarly decreased mPSC frequency in these cells (156). This indicates that the decreased frequency from the *in vivo* restraint or corticosterone exposure is likely due to local actions of corticosterone in the hypothalamus, and not secondary to peripheral changes or altered activity in non-hypothalamic regions.

The tonic inhibition within the PVN is mediated by GABA_A receptors, as introduction of the GABA_A receptor antagonist bicuculline directly to the PVN results in a rapid increase in plasma corticosterone in control animals (157). Bicuculline does not elevate plasma corticosterone in rats after restraint stress (30min), indicative of changes to the inhibitory tone of GABA following stress. GABA_A receptors are chloride channels, and thus, the outcome following activation of these receptors depends on the membrane potential and the chloride concentration gradient between the intracellular and extracellular environments (158). After 30min of restraint stress, the reversal potential for GABA in parvocellular PVN neurons is depolarized; this effect appears to be dependent on reducing activity of KCC2, a potassium-chloride cotransporter (157).

To test if this depolarization is sufficient to lead to excitation, the researchers used synaptic stimulation of GABAergic inputs at various frequencies while conducting cell-attached recordings in parvocellular PVN neurons. Whereas 10Hz stimulation for 1s did not change the firing frequency in cells from control animals, the firing frequency of cells from stressed animals increased (157). Stimulation at 20Hz decreased firing in control cells, while again increasing firing in stress cells (157). These experiments suggest that GABA might excite parvocellular PVN neurons under certain conditions, but it is also possible that this stimulation protocol released other neuropeptides that could be partially responsible for the observed effect.

These studies are an important demonstration that acute stress exposure can lead to changes in synaptic physiology that persist in *ex vivo* slice preparations up to 5h later. They also demonstrate a known effect of stress to alter GABAergic signaling within the hypothalamus. Thus, if ALPS alters GABAergic input to GnRH neurons on proestrus, we should be able to observe these changes in a similar *ex vivo* preparation.

Dissertation preview

The goal of this dissertation was to assess the independent effects of and interactions between early-life and adult stress on reproductive outcomes. Chapter 2 details the primary experiments that addressed this goal. We test the consequences of early-life stress in the form of LBN from PND4-11 on external markers of sexual maturation in males and females, and on estrous cyclicity in females. Experiments then assess how LBN affects the corticosterone response to ALPS in males and diestrous and proestrous females. The effects and interactions of LBN and ALPS on the proestrous LH surge are

also determined. Finally, electrophysiological experiments test the hypothesis that ALPS decreases the excitatory GABAergic input to GnRH neurons on the afternoon of proestrus. Chapter 3 contextualizes the results of these experiments within the broader literature and proposes future experiments to address the questions generated by this work.

		Immunological stressors	Glucocorticoids	CRH	Psychosocial stressors
Mean GnRH and/or LH	No change				(98)
	Decrease		(88)	(90,91)	(97–99)
GnRH and/or LH amplitude	No change	(95)			(97)
	Decrease				(96)
GnRH and/or LH pulse frequency	Increase			(94)	
	No change				(96)
	Decrease	(95)		(90,91,94)	

 Table 1.1. Summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in non-human primates.

		Immuno- logical stressors	Glucocorticoids	CRH	Psychosocial stressors
Mean GnRH and/or LH	Increase			(151,152)	
	No change			(150,151,159)	(113)
	Decrease	(100)	(104,105,109)		(112–114)
GnRH and/or LH amplitude	Increase		(106,109)	(152)	
	No change		(105,106,109)	(150,151,159)	(113)
	Decrease	(100)	(105,106)		(112–115)
GnRH and/or LH pulse frequency	Increase			(150,151)	
	No change	(100)		(150– 152,159)	(113–115)
	Decrease	(100,160)	(104,106,107,109)		(112,113,161)
Pituitary responsive ness to GnRH	No change				(113)
	Decrease	(101)	(105,108)		(113,114,116)
LH surge and/or ovulation incidence	No change	(102)	(110)		(117)
	Decrease	(102,103)	(109,110)	(162)	
LH surge timing	No change	(102)			(161)
	Delay	(102,103)	(106,109,111)		
LH surge amp	No change		(106)		
	Decrease	(103)			

 Table 1.2.
 Summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in sheep.

		Immunological stressors	Glucocorticoids	CRH	Psychosocial stressors
Mean GnRH and/or LH	No change			(163)	
	Decrease	(123,164,165)	(166)	(163)	
GnRH and/or LH amplitude	Decrease			(167)	
GnRH and/or LH pulse frequency	No change		(118)	(168)	
	Decrease	(118–121)		(118,168)	(118–122)
Pituitary responsiveness to GnRH	No change			(163)	
	Decrease			(166)	
LH surge and/or ovulation incidence	Decrease	(169)		(163)	(133)
LH surge timing	Delay			(170)	
LH surge amp	Decrease			(170)	(133)

 Table 1.3.
 Summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in rats.

Table 1.4. Summary of reproductive effects of stress studies in mice.

		Glucocorticoids	Psychosocial stressors
Mean GnRH and/or LH	No change	(131)	
	Decrease	(131)	(130)
GnRH and/or LH amplitude	No change	(131)	(130)
GnRH and/or LH pulse frequency	No change	(131)	
	Decrease	(131)	(130)
Pituitary responsiveness to GnRH	No change	(131)	
LH surge and/or ovulation incidence	Decrease	(171)	(132,134)

Chapter 2 Limited Bedding and Nesting Does Not Alter Adult Corticosterone Response to Acute Psychosocial Stress in Male or Female Mice or the Stress-Induced Disruption of the Preovulatory Luteinizing Hormone Surge

Co-authored with Suzanne M. Moenter

Abstract

Early-life stressors can affect the development of the reproductive system and change the responses to adult stress. We tested the hypotheses that limited bedding and nesting (LBN) from postnatal days 4-11 would delay sexual maturation in male and female mice, and would alter the response to an acute, layered, psychosocial stress (ALPS) in adulthood. LBN dams exited the nest more often, but contrary to the hypotheses, the age and mass at vaginal opening, first estrus, and preputial separation were not affected by LBN. Further, basal corticosterone concentrations were similar between males, diestrous females, or proestrous females reared in standard or LBN environments. After exposure to ALPS, serum corticosterone concentrations were also similar between standard and LBN reared offspring. ALPS disrupts the luteinizing hormone (LH) surge in most mice when applied on the morning of proestrus; this effect is not changed by LBN. To test if ALPS disrupts the LH surge by blunting the observed increase in excitatory GABAergic input to gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons on the afternoon of proestrus, whole-cell voltage-clamp recordings were conducted following ALPS treatment. The frequency of GABAergic postsynaptic currents (PSCs) in GnRH neurons was not altered by LBN, ALPS, or their interaction.

This study suggests LBN did not confer either susceptibility or resilience to ALPS and leaves open the possibilities that ALPS acts at other neuronal populations upstream of GnRH neurons, changes the response of GnRH neurons to input, or alters pituitary responsiveness to GnRH.

Significance Statement

The stress and reproductive neuroendocrine systems interact, and early-life stress has reproductive consequences in humans. This study in mice rejected the hypotheses that an early-life stress, limited bedding and nesting (LBN), would delay sexual maturation and alter the response to an acute, layered, psychosocial stress (ALPS) in adulthood. ALPS disrupts the proestrous luteinizing hormone (LH) surge, which is critical for ovulation; this disruption is not altered by LBN. To assess a possible mechanism for this disruption, we conducted electrophysiological recording of gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons to test if ALPS reduces excitatory GABAergic input to these cells. The frequency of GABAergic input was similar among groups, suggesting that LBN and ALPS act elsewhere in the broader neuroendocrine network controlling reproduction.

Introduction

The neuroendocrine systems regulating stress and reproduction are important for organisms to respond to their environments and ensure the continuation of the species. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons in the hypothalamus integrate many inputs and serve as the final common central output to the downstream reproductive axis. GnRH is released in a pulsatile manner and acts on the pituitary to stimulate the release of luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) (10), which

activate gametogenesis and steroidogenesis. In males and during most of the female reproductive cycle, sex steroids exert negative feedback to reduce overall GnRH and LH concentrations. Sustained elevated estradiol concentrations in the preovulatory period (proestrus in rodents), exerts positive feedback to induce prolonged surges of GnRH and LH release (17–20). The LH surge triggers ovulation (21). The organization of the neuroendocrine stress axis is similar, with corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) release from hypothalamic neurons stimulating secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the pituitary, and the adrenal cortex producing glucocorticoids that provide negative feedback at the brain and pituitary (27).

Neuroendocrine axes interact with one another. In humans, stress has clinical effects on the reproductive system with social consequences (172). Perceived stress in adulthood can reduce likelihood of both natural conception and pregnancy via assisted reproductive technology (26,81,82). Early-life stress can disrupt reproductive development, though whether stress delays or advances puberty appears to depend on the type and timing of stressor (30–33). In humans, it is challenging to disentangle the independent effects of early-life and adult stress on reproduction from each other and from other factors, and to understand how a history of early-life stress affects the response to adult stress. These questions can be better addressed using animal models.

A common model for early-life stress in rodents is the limited bedding and nesting (LBN) paradigm in which dams and pups are moved to a low-resource environment for several days; this alters the way the dam interacts with the pup without ongoing investigator interference (38,75). Effects of LBN on reproductive outcomes have been mixed in both

mice and rats. LBN delayed the age at vaginal opening, an external indicator of puberty, in some studies (56,173), advanced it in another (174), and had no effect in others (57,175). Some studies found a delay in preputial separation in males (57,173,174). There are many models of adult stress including psychosocial (e.g., restraint), metabolic (e.g., hypoglycemia) and immune (e.g., endotoxin) (176–178). In adult mice, exposure to an acute, layered, psychosocial stress (ALPS) paradigm on the morning of proestrus disrupts the preovulatory (proestrous) LH surge in most mice (134). The mechanisms by which ALPS leads to this disruption are not known, but do not include disrupting the preovulatory estradiol rise. With regard to possible mechanisms, the rate of GABAergic transmission to GnRH neurons (which is excitatory in these cells, DeFazio et al., 2002) increases on the afternoon of proestrus (139) and around the onset of the estradiolinduced LH surge (140). The increase in GABAergic postsynaptic currents (PSCs) could account for the increased activity in GnRH neurons during the surge. Stressors alter GABAergic signaling within other hypothalamic regions. For example, restraint stress reduced the frequency of GABA transmission in parvocellular neurons in the paraventricular nucleus (156). A reduction in GABAergic input to GnRH neurons following ALPS could help explain the disruption to the LH surge by this psychosocial stressor.

Early-life stress can affect the response to adult stressors, though whether animals are more susceptible or resilient depends on the type of stressors and the outcomes measured (179). In the present study, we investigated the effect of LBN on reproductive maturation and adult response to stress in male and female mice. We also tested the hypothesis that ALPS disrupts the LH surge by reducing the excitatory input to GnRH

neurons on the afternoon of proestrus and determined if LBN altered ability of ALPS to disrupt the LH surge.

Materials and Methods

Animals

All animal procedures were approved by the University of Michigan Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Mice had ad libitum access to water and food; breeders were provided Teklad 2919 chow (Inotiv) through weaning. After weaning, mice were maintained on Teklad 2916 (Inotiv). The vivarium followed a 14/10h light-dark cycle (lights on at 3AM EST); at times, dim red light (<10 lux) was used overnight. A male GnRH-GFP (Tg(Gnrh1-EGFP)51Sumo MGI:6158457, C57BI6/J background) mouse expressing GFP under control of the GnRH promoter (180) was housed with one or two female CBA mice (Strain #000656; The Jackson Laboratory) in cages containing 550-650 mL of corn cob bedding (Bed-o'Cobs 1/4, The Andersons). Female body mass was measured on the day of pairing with the male. Females were examined for vaginal plugs for up to 5d after pairing and their body mass measured again around hypothetical gestational day 12-14. An increased body mass (>110% of initial mass) was used as an initial confirmation of pregnancy, at which point females were moved to individual cages with 550-650 mL bedding, and a Nestlet (Ancare) and plastic igloo (Bio-Serv) for enrichment.

Experimental design

This study assessed the independent effects of and interactions between early-life and adult stress on reproduction. Pilot studies were conducted to examine timing of LBN

treatment and effects of litter size. Based on these, offspring from the first litter of a dam were studied, and litter size was normalized to 5-8 pups per mouse as small litters had early vaginal opening whereas large litters were delayed as has been observed (58). Dams and litters were assigned to either standard (STD) housing or LBN treatment as an early-life stress. Body mass of individual offspring was monitored after early-life treatment through adulthood. To determine if LBN affected external markers of reproductive maturation, offspring were monitored for preputial separation (male) or vaginal opening and first appearance of estrus, as indicated by cornification of the vaginal epithelium (female) (181). Estrous cycles of female offspring in adulthood were monitored to test if cycles were disrupted by LBN.

To evaluate if LBN alters the response to an adult stressor, adult offspring were assigned to either control (CON) or ALPS treatment, resulting in four experimental groups (STD-CON, STD-ALPS, LBN-CON, LBN-ALPS). Block assignment within litters and minimization strategies were used to balance adult treatments. Serum corticosterone concentration was assessed in males and in diestrous and proestrous females to determine if cycle stage altered baseline corticosterone concentration or corticosterone rise in response to stress. In proestrous females, we also assessed if a history of LBN affected the disruptions of the LH surge by ALPS. To investigate the mechanisms by which ALPS disrupts the surge, GABAergic transmission to GnRH neurons was monitored using whole-cell voltage-clamp around the time of the typical LH surge.

Limited bedding and nesting (LBN) paradigm

LBN was used to model early life stress. STD cages contained 550-650mL of bedding and one full 5x5 cm square of Nestlet material. LBN cages contained ~100 mL of bedding, enough to cover the floor of the cage with a single layer, and a 2.5 x 5 cm piece of Nestlet. LBN cages were fitted with a wire mesh platform ~1.5cm above the cage floor (allFENZ 23-Gauge Hardware Cloth, Home Depot). Food was provided in a small container placed on the floor of the cage to prevent pups crawling into the food hopper from the raised platform, and to permit unobstructed video monitoring of dam behavior. Food was replenished daily.

Females were monitored for births daily before lights off beginning 19d after observation of vaginal plug or after pairing with a male if no plug was noted. The day of birth was designated postnatal day (PND) 0. Pups (CBB6/F1 hybrids) from litters born within one day of each other were cross-fostered if needed to standardize litter sizes to 5-8 pups by PND2. The STD or LBN treatment period began on PND4. From PND4 through PND11, animals were undisturbed in their respective treatment cages apart from transferring for video monitoring and daily replenishment of food and water. On the morning of PND11, a tail blood sample was collected from the dam for assessment of serum corticosterone concentration, then all dams and litters were transferred to clean cages containing 550-650 mL of bedding and a 5 x 5 cm Nestlet until weaning at PND21. All offspring were weaned with same-sex littermates into standard cages with the addition of a plastic igloo; the igloo was removed on PND28.

Dam behavior monitoring

Continuous video monitoring occurred for either 24h from the morning of PND5 to the morning of PND6, 48h from the morning of PND4 to PND6, or for the duration of the early-life treatment from PND4-11. The number of exits made by the dam from the nest were manually counted for 1h periods beginning at Zeitgeber times (ZT) 1 (4AM EST), ZT15 (6PM EST), and ZT19 (10PM EST). The average number of exits and amount of time off the nest per hour was calculated for each dam. Recordings were conducted using ffmpeg (version 4.3.1) on the following computers: MacBook Air (Mid 2009, running OS X El Capitan, Version 10.11.6, with a 2.13 GHz Intel Core 2 Duo), MacBook Pro (Mid 2012, running macOS Catalina, Version 10.15.7, with a 2.5 GHz Dual-Core Intel Core i5), MacBook Pro (Early 2015, running macOS Catalina, Version 10.15.7, with a 2.7 GHz Dual-Core Intel Core i5), Mac mini (2018, running macOS Sonoma, Version 14.0, with a 3 GHz 6-Core Intel Core i5), and a MacBook Pro (Late 2013, running macOS Mojave, Version 10.14.6, with a 2.3 GHz Intel Core i7).

Body mass

Dam mass was recorded on PND4 (start of paradigm), PND11 (end of paradigm), and PND21 (pup weaning). Before placing pups into the new cage at the start of the paradigm, the average mass for each litter was recorded to identify any potential outliers. At the end of the paradigm, on the morning of PND11, pups were ear-marked and identified with Sharpie markings on the tail to permit individual tracking of each pup. Pup mass was recorded daily through PND24 and then weekly through PND70 and as indicated below.

Offspring maturation

Beginning at weaning, offspring were checked daily for preputial separation or vaginal opening (182,183). Body mass was recorded on the day of preputial separation/vaginal opening. After vaginal opening, female mice underwent daily vaginal lavage to identify the day of first estrus based on cornification of vaginal epithelium; body mass was recorded on the day of first estrus. Anogenital distance (AGD) was measured with digital calipers (Marathon) for three consecutive days during the tenth postnatal week and averaged for each animal.

Adult female estrous cycles

To study the effect of LBN on estrous cycles, vaginal lavages were monitored daily from PND70-90 (184–186). Number of cycles (defined as the number of days in proestrus preceded by diestrus or estrus per 21-day monitoring period), mean cycle length (days between successive proestrous stages), and the percentage of days in diestrus, estrus, and proestrus are reported.

Acute, layered, psychosocial stress (ALPS) paradigm

Animals exposed to adult stress were habituated for at least two weeks beforehand to tail and general handling. Female mice were studied on either the first day of diestrus or on proestrus, as determined by vaginal cytology and confirmed by uterine mass (diestrus <100mg; proestrus >125mg) measured the same day. An acute, layered, psychosocial stress (ALPS) paradigm that disrupts the proestrous LH surge in most females was used (134); both male (>PND84) and female (≥PND90) mice were studied. At 0h (6.5h after lights on), a tail blood sample (~30µL) was collected and the serum

stored for assessment of corticosterone. In females, an additional 6µL of whole blood was obtained for LH measurement. Control mice were only removed from their home cage for tail blood sampling at times equivalent to sampling in stressed mice and remained in the vivarium. ALPS mice were placed individually into a new cage and transferred to a new room. At 1h, the mice were placed in a restraint tube (BrainTree Scientific, flat-bottom restrainer small or Tailveiner-150 restrainer). At 3h, restrained mice were exposed to a component of red fox (Vulpes vulpes) urine as a predator odor (2,3,5-trimethyl-3-thiazoline,TMT; ~6nmol; Contech Enterprises, Victoria, BC, Canada). Tail blood samples were collected at the end of the paradigm (5h, 2:30pm EST, 2.5h before lights out) for corticosterone, and LH in females. For females in diestrus, an additional tail blood sample for LH was collected at the time of lights out (5pm EST). For those in proestrus, additional tail blood samples to monitor the effect of LBN and/or ALPS on the LH surge were taken hourly from 3pm to 7pm EST, unless noted. Animals were considered to exhibit an LH surge if any PM value was greater than 3.8ng/ml. This threshold of 3.8ng/mL was determined from the mean+3SD of LH concentrations measured on the morning of proestrus at 0h.

Body mass was recorded at the start of ALPS and just before euthanasia. Males were transported to the laboratory at the end of the ALPS paradigm (2:30p EST). The mass of the adrenal glands, testes, and seminal vesicles was recorded and normalized to PM body mass. Diestrous females were transported to the laboratory after the LH sample at lights out, and proestrous females used for LH surge sampling were transported after the last sample 2h after lights out. Adrenal and uterine masses were recorded in females.

Corticosterone administration

To mimic serum corticosterone concentrations induced by ALPS, standard-reared males from our main colony were fed corticosterone in Nutella, a design based on ongoing studies in females in which 2mg/kg oral corticosterone at 0h, 1h, and 3h (times corresponding to the ALPS transitions) mimics the serum corticosterone pattern observed during the ALPS paradigm (187). To habituate animals to this feeding paradigm, cage mates were transferred to a holding cage and one mouse was left in the home cage with Nutella on a Petri dish for up to 5min. Mice were habituated daily for at least a week prior to the experiment. On the day of the experiment, corticosterone (2mg/kg) or 36% DMSO vehicle in Nutella (60mg Nutella mixture for a 30g mouse, range 56.2-75.2mg) was administered at 0h (9:30am EST, 6.5h after lights on), 1h, and 3h. Tail blood samples were collected as described above at 0h, 1h, 2h, 3h, 4h, and 5h after Nutella administration. Only one mouse per cage was sampled on a given day, as preliminary experiments determined that transfer to the holding cage while a cage mate consumed Nutella increased serum corticosterone concentration. Body and tissue masses were recorded for these mice as described for the ALPS paradigm.

Corticosterone enzyme immunoassay

Serum corticosterone concentrations were determined in duplicate samples diluted 1:100 by enzyme immunoassay (Arbor Assays, DetectX Corticosterone Kit, K014). Standard curves from 78.1pg/mL to 5000pg/mL or 39.0pg/mL to 10000pg/mL were run on each plate. Intraassay %CVs for standards ranged from 3-6%; functional sensitivity, defined as the lowest standard with a CV <20%, was 39.0pg/mL. The reportable range was 3.9ng/mL to 1000ng/mL.

Ultra-sensitive LH assay

At the time of tail blood collection, 6µL of whole blood was mixed with 54µL of assay buffer (0.2% BSA – 0.05% Tween 20 – PBS, pH 7.5) and immediately placed on ice for up to 3h then stored at -20°C. Samples were assayed by Center for Research in Reproduction at the University of Virginia with the Ultra-Sensitive Mouse & Rat LH ELISA method (129). The capture monoclonal antibody (anti-bovine LH beta subunit, 518B7) was provided by Janet Roser, University of California. The detection polyclonal antibody (rabbit LH antiserum, AFP240580Rb) was provided by the National Hormone and Peptide Program (NHPP). HRP-conjugated polyclonal antibody (goat anti-rabbit) was purchased from DakoCytomation (Glostrup, Denmark; D048701-2). Mouse LH reference prep (AFP5306A; NHPP) was used as the assay standard. The Limit of Quantitation (Functional Sensitivity) is defined as the lowest concentration that demonstrates accuracy within 20% of expected values and intra-assay coefficient of variation (%CV) <20% and was determined by serial dilutions of a defined sample pool. Intraassay %CV is 2.2%. Interassay %CVs were 7.3% (Low QC, 0.13 ng/mL), 5.0% (Medium QC, 0.8 ng/mL) and 6.5% (High QC, 2.3 ng/mL). Functional sensitivity was 0.016 ng/mL, and the reportable range is 0.016 ng/mL to 4.0 ng/mL. Samples were diluted 1:10, making the reportable range 0.16 ng/mL to 40 ng/mL.

Electrophysiology

A subset of the adult proestrous females was used to characterize the effect of LBN and/or ALPS on GABAergic transmission to GnRH neurons. The mouse was transported to the laboratory between 3:00-3:30PM EST (1.5-2h before lights out), and body mass recorded. All solutions were bubbled with 95% O₂/5% CO₂ for at least

15 min before tissue exposure and throughout the procedures; chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich unless noted. The brain was rapidly removed and placed in ice-cold sucrose saline solution containing the following in mM: 250 sucrose, 3.5 KCl, 26 NaHCO₃, 10 D-glucose, 1.25 Na₂HPO₄, 1.2 MgSO₄, and 3.8 MgCl₂. Coronal brain slices (300 µM) containing the preoptic area and GnRH neurons were prepared in the sucrose saline solution with a vibratome (VT1200S, Leica Biosystems). Slices were incubated at room temperature for 30 min in a 50%-50% mixture of the sucrose saline and artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) containing the following in mM: 135 NaCl, 3.5 KCl, 26 NaHCO₃, 10 D-glucose, 1.25 Na₂HPO₄, 1.2 MgSO₄, and 2.5 CaCl₂ (pH 7.4). Slices were then incubated for 0.5 to 5h in 100% ACSF before being transferred to the recording chamber mounted to an Olympus BX51WI upright fluorescent microscope.

Slices in the recording chamber were perfused (3-5mL/min) with ACSF via a MINIPULS 3 peristaltic pump (Gilson). GABAergic PSCs were isolated by blocking ionotropic glutamate receptors with CNQX (10 μ M) and D-APV (20 μ M). Solution temperature was maintained between 29–32°C with an inline heating system (Warner Instrument Corporation). Individual GFP-positive GnRH neurons were visualized using infrared differential interference contrast and brief illumination with fluorescence microscopy. The recording pipette was filled with a high-chloride internal solution containing (in mM): 140 KCl, 10 HEPES, 5 EGTA, 0.1 CaCl₂, 4 MgATP, and 0.4 NaGTP. A high-resistance (>1G Ω) seal was made between the cell membrane and the pipette, and then the whole-cell configuration achieved. The cell was held at -65 mV in voltage-clamp mode, and recording quality was monitored by averaging the response to 16 hyperpolarizing

voltage steps (5mV, 20ms, acquisition 100kHz, filter 10kHz). GABAergic PSCs were recorded during 2-3 min series (acquisition 10kHz, filter 5kHz).

Custom routines in Igor Pro (WaveMetrics) were used to detect PSCs, which were manually confirmed. The frequency of PSCs (# events / recording duration) was determined for each cell. For each event, the interevent interval was calculated, defined as the backwards interval from the time of that event's peak to the time of peak for the previous event. The cumulative probability distributions of interevent interval for each treatment group were also calculated. The true interevent interval for the first event in a recording is unknown and thus not included in calculations of interevent interval. For events with an interevent interval of at least 200ms, the amplitude (absolute value of the difference between the peak and baseline) was determined, and cumulative probabilities of amplitudes calculated for each group; this analysis included first events preceded by >200ms of recording time). Isolated events (>200ms interval in both the forwards and backwards direction between adjacent event peaks) were selected and averaged by cell. These averaged traces were used to estimate the decay time from 80% to 20% of the peak for each cell.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted in R (188); statistical packages used included rstatix (189), Ime4 (190), ImerTest (191), Ispline (192), afex (193), emmeans (194), and nparLD (195). Plots were made with the packages ggplot2 (196) and cowplot (197). Tables were made with the flextable package (198).

Linear mixed models (LMMs) were used to analyze these data as these models can account for the dependencies among data attributable to experimental design and permit missing data (199). For example, litter was included as a random effect for outcomes measured in offspring, as mice within a litter are not fully independent from one another, violating assumptions of more traditional tests such as ANOVAs. The type of test for each outcome measure and associated figure are in Table 2.1. Type III tests with effects coding were used, as recommended by Singmann and Kellen (199). The Kenward-Roger approximation was used for estimation of degrees of freedom for linear mixed models. *Post hoc* comparisons were made using pairwise tests of estimated marginal means (emmeans). For multiple pairwise comparisons, p values were adjusted using Holm's method; confidence intervals could only be adjusted using the more conservative Bonferroni method with this package in R. The pairwise comparisons for all tests are in Table 2.2.

Residual and Q-Q (Quantile-Quantile) plots were used to check the assumptions of models, alternative models were selected when available if assumptions were not met, as reported in Table 2.1. Nonparametric longitudinal analysis has been used to assess mouse behavioral data across time (195,200) and was used to analyze the number of exits that the dams made from the nest over time. Because the ultra-sensitive LH assay can report a maximum concentration of 40ng/mL and many of our samples in proestrous mice exceeded this concentration, data for this parameter were not normally distributed and an accurate estimate of the effect of stress on absolute LH concentrations was precluded. We instead focused on the binary outcome of whether or not the mouse exhibited an LH surge (at least one measurement ≥3.8ng/mL) and fit

these data with a generalized linear mixed-effects model for the binomial logistic regression family. The sample sizes and the low variance in the adult control groups, because of the high likelihood of observing a surge in those groups, precluded the model from adequately estimating the interaction term of early-life treatment (LBN) and adult treatment (ALPS). Thus, the formula was simplified to consider only the independent main effects of each stressor.

The number of PSCs was fit with a generalized linear mixed-effects model for the negative binomial family to handle count data with meaningful zeros (no observed PSCs during recording period). To assess if early-life or adult treatment affected PSC properties (interval and amplitude), the distributions from all four treatment groups were compared with the Anderson-Darling test using the kSamples package in R (201). If the test comparing all four distributions was significant, post hoc Anderson-Darling tests comparing the (a) STD-CON and STD-ALPS, (b) LBN-CON and LBN-ALPS, (c) STD-CON and LBN-CON, and (d) STD-ALPS and LBN-ALPS groups were conducted and pvalues were adjusted for multiple comparisons. To help with interpretation of the comparison of these distributions, a bootstrapping approach was used to estimate the 95% confidence interval of the mean of each treatment group and the difference in means for the four comparisons described just above (a-d). This approach, inspired by Ho et al. (202), was necessitated by the non-normality of the distributions and adapted using custom code to account for the experimental design. Briefly, the dataset was resampled 5000 times; for each resampling iteration, the mean of each treatment group was calculated, as was the difference in the means for the comparisons described above (a-d). The average of these group means and differences in means were

calculated for the 5000 iterations. The boundaries for the 95% confidence intervals, or percentile intervals, were found by ranking the group's mean estimates for all 5000 iterations and selecting the 2.5th percentile and the 97.5th percentile as the lower and upper bounds of the interval, respectively; the same process was applied to obtain a confidence interval for the differences in means.

Code accessibility

The PSC detection and analysis code used is freely available online at https://gitlab.com/um-mip/coding-project/. The ffmpeg and R analysis code is freely available online at https://github.com/gibson-amandag/LBN. Analyses were conducted on a Lenovo Yoga 9, 11th Gen Intel Core i7, running Windows 11 Home.

Results

LBN dams exited the nest more frequently

LBN was applied from PND4-11 (Figure 2.1A, numbers in Table 2.1.1). LBN dams had a higher body mass than STD dams at PND4, 11, and 21 (Figure 2.1B, Table 2.1.2, STD: n = 25, LBN: n = 24, Table 2.2, row 1: p = 0.033). Regardless of treatment, dams gained body mass during the paradigm (Table 2.2, row 2: p < 0.001) and decreased body mass between PND11 and 21 (Table 2.2, row 3: p = 0.007). There were no differences in morning serum corticosterone concentration between STD and LBN dams on PND11, indicating LBN did not chronically elevate this hormone in dams (Figure 2.1C, STD: n = 24, LBN: n = 24, t_{46} = -1.67, p = 0.102; difference (STD-LBN) = -9.08; 95% CI = [-20.04, 1.88]; Cohen's d = -0.48). This may indicate the LBN phenotype is milder in CBA dams than in other strains. Dam behavior was captured on video during the paradigm. The number of exits that each dam made from the nest was scored for one-hour periods beginning at ZT1, 15, and 19 then averaged for each postnatal day (STD: n = 19-25, LBN: n = 19-24). LBN dams had more exits than STD dams throughout the paradigm (Figure 2.1D, warmer colors indicate dams with more exits over time, Table 2.1.2, p < 0.001). Interestingly, there was no difference in the percentage of time that STD and LBN dams spent on the nest (Figure 2.1E, Table 2.1.2, p = 0.156). Together, these observations suggest that LBN dams have more fragmented interactions with the pups.



Figure 2.1. The LBN paradigm altered dam behavior. A. Experimental timeline. B. Dam mass before and after the paradigm and at weaning on PND21. Thin lines are individual dams, LMM model mean±SEM shown in thick lines. Letters (a-c) indicate that dam mass, combined across treatment groups, differed on each postnatal day (p < 0.01). C. Individual values and mean±SEM serum corticosterone from the dams at the end of the paradigm on the morning of PND11. **D**. (left) The number of exits averaged by PND for individual dams are shown by colored lines: warmer colors indicate more exits, mean±SEM number of nest exits versus PND is in black. (right) Individual dam averages and mean±SEM number of nest exits; color is consistent with left graph. E. (left) The percentage of time spent off nest averaged by PND for individual dam are shown by colored lines; warmer colors indicated more time off the nest, mean±SEM percentage of time off the nest versus PND is in black. (right) Individual dam averages and mean±SEM percentage of time off nest: color is consistent with left graph. Some error bars are obscured by mean line. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. Numbers in Table 2.1.1. Full statistical model results are in Table 2.1.2. Abbreviations: STD, standard-reared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting; CON, adult control treatment; ALPS, acute layered psychosocial stress; PND, postnatal day.

LBN affected pup mass

Prior to treatment on PND4, there were no differences in offspring body mass between the litters that would receive STD (mean±SEM: 2.8g±0.06, 25 litters) and LBN (2.9g±0.06, 24 litters) treatment (Figure 2.2A, $t_{47} = -1.18$, p = 0.245; difference (STD-LBN) = -0.10; 95% CI = [-0.27, 0.07]; Cohen's d = -0.34). After treatment on PND11, LBN offspring were smaller than STD offspring (Figure 2.2B, Table 2.2.1, Table 2.2, row 5, p = 0.006; STD: 74 females and 80 males; LBN: 74 females and 58 males). Offspring sex did not affect mass at PND11 (p = 0.616) or interact with treatment (p = 0.124); the overall litter averages are thus displayed in Figure 2.2B. This demonstrates that mass gain during the treatment window was slower in LBN offspring, consistent with prior studies of this early-life stressor.

We continued recording offspring mass into adulthood to test if there was an effect of rearing conditions on subsequent growth, creating separate linear models of growth for female and male offspring. LBN treatment did not alter body mass growth in females (Figure 2.2C, Table 2.2.2, STD: post-weaning: 24 litters and 74 mice; LBN: post-weaning: 22 litters and 73 mice). In contrast in males, LBN treatment altered the overall pattern of growth (Figure 2.2C, Table 2.2.2, Table 2.2.2, p < 0.001, STD: post-weaning: 19 litters and 63 mice; LBN: post-weaning 14 litters and 42 mice). To understand how LBN changed the trajectory of growth, we conducted *post hoc* comparisons of body mass at discrete days throughout development (PND11, 21, 35, 56, and 72). The masses were not different through PND35 (PND11, Table 2.2, row 6: p = 0.129; PND 21, Table 2.2, row 7: p = 0.129; PND 35, Table 2.2, row 8: p = 0.121). As males transitioned from adolescence to adulthood, the LBN mice appeared to gain mass more slowly, and by

PND56, the LBN mice were about 1g smaller than STD mice (Table 2.2, row 9: p = 0.045) with the difference persisting into the end of the observation period at PND72 (Table 2.2, row 10: p = 0.024).



Figure 2.2. LBN decreased PND11 body mass and lowered body mass in adult males but did not affect reproductive maturation. **A**. Mean litter values and mean±SEM for PND4 mass. **B**. Mean litter values (both sexes) and model mean±SEM for PND11 mass. **C**. Statistical model mean±SEM for the body mass of the female (left) and male (right) offspring. The average mass of each litter is plotted in the insets. **D**-**E**. Mean litter values and model mean±SEM for age (**D**) at vaginal opening (left), first estrus (center), and preputial separation (right); for mass (**E**) at vaginal opening (left), first estrus (center) and preputial separation (right). Some error bars are obscured by mean line. * *p* < 0.05, ** *p* < 0.01, *** *p* < 0.001. Full statistical model results are in Tables 2.2.1 (mass at PND11), 2.2.2 (mass from PND11-72), and 2.2.3 (maturation). Abbreviations: STD, standard-reared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting.

LBN did not alter reproductive maturation or estrous cycles

To assess if LBN altered external markers of reproductive maturation, the age and mass at vaginal opening and first estrus were monitored in females (STD: 24 litters and 74 mice; LBN: 22 litters and 73 mice, unless otherwise noted below); age and mass at preputial separation were monitored in males (STD: 19 litters and 63 mice; LBN: 14 litters and 41 mice). LBN did not affect age at vaginal opening (Figure 2.2C, Table 2.2.3, p = 0.217) or first estrus (p = 0.221), and there were no differences in body mass at these milestones (Figure 2.2D, Table 2.2.3; vaginal opening: p = 0.754; first estrus p =0.758, STD: 23 litters and 70 mice, LBN: 22 litters and 73 mice). Similarly, the age (Figure 2.2C, Table 2.2.3, *p* = 0.177) and mass (Figure 2.2D, Table 2.2.3, *p* = 0.846) at preputial separation were not affected by LBN. Adult anogenital distance was not affected by LBN in either sex (model mean±SEM (mm): female STD: 6.4±0.08; female LBN: 6.3±0.09; male STD: 16.8±0.09; male LBN: 16.6±0.1; Table 2.2.1, p = 0.257), but the typical increased AGD in males vs females was observed (Table 2.2.1, Table 2.2, row 11: p < 0.001). To test if LBN altered estrous cycles, daily vaginal lavages were obtained from PND70-90 (STD: 23 litters and 73 mice; LBN: 22 litters and 73 mice). Figure 2.3A shows representative estrous cycles from both groups. LBN had no effect on the number of estrous cycles (Figure 2.3B, Table 2.3.1, p = 0.359) or features of the cycle including the length (Figure 2.3C, Table 2.3.1, p = 0.457), or the percentage of days spent in each stage (Figure 2.3D, Table 2.3.1, p = 0.865). Together, these results indicate that LBN did not disrupt reproductive maturation or estrous cyclicity.



Figure 2.3. LBN did not alter estrous cyclicity from PND70-90. A. Representative individual estrous cycle traces for STD (left) and LBN (right) offspring, proestrus (P), estrus (E), or diestrus (D). B. Number of cycles averaged for female littermates; model mean±SEM. C. Mean cycle length averaged for female littermates; model mean±SEM; no model value is available as Chi-square test was used for analysis of percentage values. Full statistical model results are in Table 2.3.1. Some error bars obscured by mean line. Abbreviations: STD, standard-reared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting; PND, postnatal day.

Early-life stress did not alter the corticosterone response to adult stress

To determine if early-life stress alters the serum corticosterone response to adult stress, STD and LBN mice were exposed to an acute, layered, psychosocial stress (ALPS) paradigm (134) or remained in non-stressed, home cage control (CON) conditions (numbers in Table 2.4.1). There were no effects of early-life stress at any point in either sex or either cycle stage in females (Table 2.4.2), thus results are combined in Figure 2.4. Baseline corticosterone levels were the same in CON and ALPS males (Table 2.2, row 12: p = 0.883) and diestrous (Table 2.2, row 16: p = 0.826) and proestrous (Table 2.2, row 18: p = 0.387) females. Baseline corticosterone levels were elevated in

proestrous relative to diestrous mice that received ALPS (Table 2.2, row 25: p < 0.001). In all three groups, CON mice exhibited the typical diurnal increase in corticosterone (male: Table 2.2, row 14: p < 0.001; diestrus: Table 2.2, row 20: p < 0.001, proestrus: Table 2.2, row 22: p < 0.001). Similarly, all three groups had a similar response to ALPS treatment, post-paradigm corticosterone concentrations being 2- to 3-fold greater in ALPS than CON mice (male: Table 2.2, row 13: p < 0.001; diestrus: Table 2.2, row 17: p < 0.001, proestrus: Table 2.2, row 19: p < 0.001). These results indicate that early-life stress in the form of LBN treatment from PND4-11 did not alter this neuroendocrine response to a series of psychosocial stressors in adulthood in either males or females.

Body mass was monitored before and after treatment (males: Figure 2.4.1, Tables 2.4.3 and Table 2.4.4; females: Figure 2.4.2, Tables 2.4.5 and 2.4.6). Consistent with the weekly monitoring of body mass in early adulthood, LBN males were smaller than STD males at the start of the experiment (Figure 2.4.1A, Table 2.4.4, Table 2.2, row 28: p = 0.037) and LBN did not affect initial body mass in females (Figure 2.4.2A, Table 2.4.6). ALPS animals of both sexes lost a greater percentage of body mass during treatment (males: Figure 2.4.1B, Table 2.4.4, Table 2.2, row 30: p < 0.001, females: Figure 2.4.2B, Table 2.4.6, Table 2.2, row 39: p < 0.001), likely attributable in part to no access to food or water during the last four hours of stress treatment. By chance, morning body mass of ALPS males was greater than CON males (Figure 2.4.1A, Table 2.4.4, Table 2.2, row 29: p = 0.008), complicating interpretation of these observations, but males had apparent changes following ALPS in the normalized mass of seminal vesicles (Figure 2.4.1F, Table 2.4.4, Table 2.2, row 34: p = 0.048) and mass of the testes (absolute: Figure 2.4.1G, Table 2.4.4, Table 2.2, row 36: p = 0.003; normalized: Figure 2.4.1H,

Table 2.4.4, Table 2.2, row 37: p = 0.021). Females did not exhibit changes in either uterine or adrenal mass following ALPS (Figure 2.4.2, Table 2.4.6). Small changes in organ masses in males and females associated with LBN treatment are in Table 2.4.4, Table 2.4.6, and Table 2.2 (rows 31, 33, 35, and 40).

To test if corticosterone could reproduce the effects of ALPS on organ masses in males, additional mice were fed corticosterone or vehicle (Figure 2.4.3, Tables 2.4.7 and 2.4.8). Corticosterone decreased testicular mass (Table 2.4.7, absolute: Figure 2.4.3H, Table 2.2, row 51: p = 0.010, normalized: Figure 2.4.3I, Table 2.2, row 52: p = 0.085), suggesting this parameter may be sensitive to stress.



Figure 2.4. LBN does not change the corticosterone response to ALPS. Individual values and model mean \pm SEM (adjacent horizontal lines and vertical error bars) for preand post-treatment serum corticosterone concentrations in males (**A**) and females (**B**) (diestrus left, proestrus right). Early-life treatment groups are plotted together as there were no effects of LBN treatment on serum corticosterone concentrations at any point. Numbers are in Table 2.4.1. Results from the full statistical models are in Table 2.4.2. Additional data regarding tissue masses and the effect of corticosterone on masses are in Figures 2.4.1 (male tissue masses), 2.4.2 (female tissue masses), 2.4.3 (male corticosterone administration) and Tables 2.4.3 to 2.4.8. Abbreviations: STD, standardreared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting; CON, adult control; ALPS, acute, layered, psychosocial stress in adulthood. *** p<0.001.



Figure 2.4.1. The ALPS paradigm caused small changes in tissue mass in males. Individual values and model mean±SEM for **A**. morning body mass; **B**. percent change in body mass after adult treatment; **C**. adrenal mass; **D**. normalized adrenal mass; **E**. seminal vesicle mass; **F**. normalized seminal vesicle mass; **G**. testicular mass; and **H**. normalized testicular mass. Some error bars obscured by mean lines. * *p* < 0.05, ** *p* < 0.01, *** *p* < 0.001. Numbers are in Table 2.4.3. Results from the full statistical models are in Table 2.4.4. Abbreviations: STD, standard-reared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting; CON, adult control; ALPS, acute, layered, psychosocial stress in adulthood.


Figure 2.4.2. LBN and ALPS cause limited changes in tissue masses in females. Individual values and model mean±SEM for **A**. morning body mass; **B**. percent change in body mass after adult treatment. **C**. adrenal mass; **D**. normalized adrenal mass; **E**. uterine mass; **F**. normalized uterine mass in diestrous (left) and proestrous (right) females. Some error bars obscured by mean lines. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. Numbers are in Table 2.4.7. Results for the full statistical models are in Table 2.4.8. Abbreviations: STD, standard-reared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting; CON, adult control; ALPS, acute, layered, psychosocial stress in adulthood.



Figure 2.4.3. Acute elevation of serum corticosterone decreases testicular mass in males. Individual and model mean±SEM for **A**. morning body mass; **B**. serum corticosterone concentrations; comparisons between 0 and 2 mg/kg treatment at each hour; **C**. percent change in body mass after adult treatment. **D**. adrenal mass; **E**. normalized adrenal mass; **F**. seminal vesicle mass; **G**. normalized seminal vesicle mass; **H**. testicular mass; and **I**. normalized testicular mass. Some error bars are obscured by mean line. Vehicle (0mg/kg): 11 litters and 19 mice, except for adrenal mass with 18 mice; corticosterone (2mg/kg): 11 litters and 17 mice. * *p* < 0.05, ** *p* < 0.01, *** *p* < 0.001. Results for the full statistical models are in Tables 2.4.5 and 2.4.6.

ALPS decreased afternoon LH in proestrous mice, LBN had no additional effect

Samples for LH collected at the end of the ALPS paradigm and at lights out from diestrous mice were averaged (STD-CON: 9 litters and 10 mice; STD-ALPS: 8 litters and 8 mice; LBN-CON: 7 litters and 9 mice; LBN-ALPS: 9 litters and 9 mice). Neither early-life stress (p = 0.687) nor adult stress (p = 0.067) had an effect on mean PM LH concentrations on diestrus (Figure 2.5A, Table 2.5.1); though the effect of adult stress approached the level set for significance. We tested if LBN alters the ability of ALPS to disrupt the proestrous LH surge (134). (STD-CON: 7 litters and 8 mice; STD-ALPS: 11 litters and 16 mice; LBN-CON: 8 litters and 8 mice; STD-ALPS: 14 litters and 19 mice). The maximum observed LH, the proportion of mice with an LH surge, and individual LH concentration profiles are in Figure 2.5B-D, respectively. Adult stress decreased the proportion of proestrous mice with an LH surge (logistic regression, X² = 26.12, p < 0.001) but exposure to early-life stress did not change the likelihood of observing an LH surge (X² < 0.01, p = 0.991, Figure 2.5C).



Figure 2.5. The LH surge is disrupted by adult stress. **A**. Individual values and model mean±SEM for the average LH concentrations on diestrus. **B**. Individual values and median±interquartile range of maximum evening LH for proestrous mice. Grey line at 3.8ng/mL is the cutoff for an LH surge. **C**. Percentage of proestrous mice with a maximum LH concentration >3.8ng/mL (filled bars; numbers are counts per result). **D**. Individual LH profiles for proestrous mice in each treatment group sampled hourly until 2h after lights out; time is relative to lights out. Grey lines show mice with no LH concentrations above 3.8ng/mL. Results from the full statistical model of diestrous concentrations are in Table 2.5.1. Abbreviations: STD, standard-reared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting; CON, adult control; ALPS, acute, layered, psychosocial stress in adulthood.

Neither LBN nor ALPS reduced the frequency of GABA PSCs in GnRH neurons

The frequency of GABA PSCs in GnRH neurons increases around the time of the LH

surge on proestrus (139). We thus tested the hypothesis that ALPS decreases the

frequency of these PSCs (STD-CON: 14 cells; STD-ALPS 15 cells; LBN-CON: 15 cells;

LBN-ALPS: 14 cells; 5 litters and 6 mice in all groups). There were no differences in the

passive properties or recording quality among treatment groups (Figure 2.6A-D, Table

2.6.1). Representative PSC recordings from neurons in each group are in Figure 2.7A;

the average PSC from each group is in Figure 2.7B. Neither LBN nor ALPS altered the frequency of GABA PSCs (Figure 2.7B, Table 2.7.1). Shifts in PSC patterns can occur within datasets with the same mean; however, when averaged by cell, the interevent interval of GABA PSCs is also similar among groups (Figure 2.7D, Table 2.6.1, n as above except LBN-ALPS n=13 as one cell did not have PSCs). There were no differences in mean amplitude (Figure 2.7E) or decay time (Figure 2.7F, Table 2.6.1). In contrast, the cumulative distribution of interevent intervals for all events is shifted towards longer intervals in the ALPS groups compared to the CON groups (Figure 2.7G, Table 2.7.2, pairwise AD tests, STD-CON vs STD-ALPS: p < 0.001; LBN-CON vs LBN-ALPS: p < 0.001).

Because of the large number of events in each group, the Anderson-Darling test could be identifying significant differences in the distribution that are not biologically relevant. To determine the effect size of these changes, we used bootstrapping to estimate 95% confidence intervals for the differences in means between groups. The mean interevent interval for events from STD-ALPS mice was estimated to be 0.78s (95% CI: [0.65, 0.92]) longer than for events from STD-CON mice; in LBN mice, ALPS lengthened mean interevent interval by about 0.32s (95% CI: [0.19, 0.46]). This suggests that ALPS alters the excitatory input to GnRH neurons on the evening of proestrous. We interpret these results with caution, however, as three control cells with high PSC frequencies contribute a disproportionate number of short interevent intervals.

The amplitude distribution for the STD-ALPS groups was shifted towards larger events (Figure 8H, Table 2.7.2, pairwise AD tests, STD-CON vs STD-ALPS, p = 0.006, STD-ALPS vs LBN-ALPS, p < 0.001). In LBN mice, ALPS did not shift the amplitude

distribution (Table 2.7.2, pairwise AD tests, LBN-CON vs LBN-ALPS, p = 0.711). The mean amplitude of the STD-ALPS group was about 3.6pA larger (95% CI: [1.36, 5.81]) than the mean of the STD-CON group and about 5.2pA larger (95% CI: [3.09, 7.34]) than the mean of the LBN-ALPS group, as estimated with bootstrapping.



Figure 2.6. Recording quality and passive properties of GnRH neurons were similar among groups. **A-D**. Individual cell values and model mean±SEM for **A**. capacitance, **B**. input resistance, **C**. series resistance, **D**. holding current. Results for the full statistical model are in Table 2.6.1. Abbreviations: STD, standard-reared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting; CON, adult control; ALPS, acute, layered, psychosocial stress in adulthood.



Figure 2.7. Stress treatments did not alter overall GABA PSC frequency, but ALPS may lengthen the interevent interval in GnRH neurons. **A**. Representative 15s traces (Box 9 smoothed) near the median frequency and amplitude from a GnRH neuron in each group. **B**. Normalized average PSC for each treatment group. **C-F**. Individual cell values and model mean±SEM for **C**. PSC frequency (# events/duration), **D**. mean interevent interval, **E**. mean amplitude, and **F**. decay time from 80% to 20% of peak calculated from the cell's normalized average trace. **G-H**. Distribution of **G**. interevent interval and **H**. amplitude. (top) Bootstrapped mean estimates with 95% confidence interval for each group. (bottom) Cumulative probability distribution plots for each group. Inset plots show the full range of the distribution. Results for the full statistical models are in Tables 2.6.1, 2.7.1, and 2.7.2. * *p* < 0.05, ** *p* < 0.01, *** *p* < 0.001, from bootstrapped results. Abbreviations: STD, standard-reared; LBN, limited bedding and nesting; CON, adult control; ALPS, acute, layered, psychosocial stress in adulthood; PSC, postsynaptic current.

Discussion

The stress and reproductive neuroendocrine systems interact, and early-life stress has reproductive consequences in humans. We tested the hypotheses that early-life stress in the form of LBN would delay sexual maturation and alter the response to subsequent stress exposure in adulthood in mice. We rejected these hypotheses, finding that LBN did not delay external indicators of sexual maturation in males or females. Further, the corticosterone response to adult psychosocial stress was not altered by LBN in either sex. On proestrus, adult stress disrupts the LH surge, but this is not affected by a history of LBN. In contrast to our hypothesis that ALPS disrupts the LH surge by decreasing the frequency of excitatory GABA PSCs in GnRH neurons, these currents were not appreciably altered by either adult psychosocial stress or limited bedding and nesting. This suggests that the disruption of the LH surge by adult stress is not attributable to changes in the GABAergic input to GnRH neurons.

The LBN paradigm was chosen as the model for early-life stress because animal behavior is minimally disrupted by ongoing investigator interference (38). Over its implementation in several labs, LBN effectiveness has been evaluated in three main ways: dam behavior, pup mass at the end of the paradigm and/or dam stress parameters. In both rats (39–41) and mice (42,75), maternal care is fragmented by LBN treatment, leading to more transitions between behavioral states and more exits from the nest. This fragmentation of maternal care was confirmed in CBA dams in the present study. On the last day of treatment, mice and rat offspring of LBN dams exhibit elevated basal corticosterone concentrations (39,72–75) and increased adrenal masses in rat pups (39,72). Because the aforementioned outcomes require terminal studies in

neonates, monitoring of body mass is a common proxy measure of the impact of LBN treatment in offspring, with LBN pups being smaller than STD pups after the paradigm (39,56,57,72,73,173,175,203,204). We similarly observed a lower pup mass at the end of the LBN paradigm in both male and female CBB6/F1 hybrid offspring, suggesting that the LBN paradigm was effectively implemented as an early-life stressor in our laboratory.

Strain can impact dam behavioral responses to LBN and the effect on offspring mass in mice (205), and there are indications that the LBN treatment may induce a milder phenotype in CBA dams and their CBB6/F1 hybrid offspring in the present study. Morning plasma corticosterone concentrations were elevated in rat dams at the end of the paradigm on PND9 (40); serum corticosterone was not, however, elevated on PND11 in CBA dams. Adaptation to psychosocial stressors resulting in decreased glucocorticoid output has been observed in mice (134) and ewes (117). Perhaps such acclimation occurs more quickly in CBA dams than in other species or strains, which could contribute to milder outcomes in their pups. The PND11 difference in body mass resolved quickly in female offspring, and there were no further impacts of LBN treatment on body mass growth through adulthood the females we studied. In contrast, LBN males had mildly slowed growth that was evident later in adulthood. This suggests there may also be a difference in susceptibility to LBN treatment between the female and male offspring.

The effects of LBN on reproductive maturation vary across studies (56,57,173–175). In the present study, we did not observe differences in body mass near the time of puberty or changes in the age at reproductive maturation, in part because we normalized litter

sizes to provide more consistent nutrition. Some of the variations in the literature may be related to age of LBN exposure, and/or subtle protocol differences such as the type of bedding or nesting material, the wire platform material, or vivarium conditions, along with the species and strain of animals. The variability in body mass may also underlie some of the variability in vaginal opening outcomes, as a decrease in body mass is known to delay vaginal opening (58–60,60–62). Together, these studies point to the importance of considering possible confounding and interacting factors when assessing the effect of early-life stress on body mass and reproductive maturation.

A lack of effect of LBN on the estrous cycle is a more consistent observation across studies in both mice (56) and rats (174,175), and was confirmed in the present study. Estrous cycles also remain unchanged following maternal separation as an early life stress (206,207). Although the observation of typical adult estrous cyclicity does not preclude other underlying changes in reproductive physiology (208), the ability of animals exposed to early life stress to establish cyclicity is an indication that aspects of the reproductive system can recover from developmental perturbations caused by this treatment.

Our findings that LBN did not alter adult basal corticosterone concentrations in the morning or afternoon are consistent with the observations of others (39,57,173,175). The original study of LBN in mice did, however, observe persistently elevated basal corticosterone concentrations in 4-7mo-old males (75). In one study, adult LBN rats responded similarly to standard-reared rats when exposed to a 1h restraint stress (175). The latter is consistent with our finding that adult LBN mice exhibited similar corticosterone profiles to standard-reared mice in response to a 5h, layered stress

paradigm, ALPS, which included restraint. This suggests that any transient changes in the neuroendocrine stress response following perinatal LBN exposure were normalized by subsequent rearing and weaning into standard housing conditions.

The primary motivation for this work was to study the reproductive consequences of LBN, including how it affects responses to ALPS exposure. In diestrous mice, the ALPS effect to reduce mean LH concentrations approached the value accepted for significance. This may reflect stress suppression (130) of the pulsatile LH release typical of this stage (127), but the infrequent sampling in the present study is not designed to assess pulse parameters. The ALPS paradigm was developed in the context of understanding the effects of acute stress exposure on the sustained preovulatory increase in LH concentration that occurs on the afternoon of proestrus. As reported (134), ALPS initiated on the morning of proestrus disrupts the LH surge in most mice. We hypothesized LBN exposure would alter the effect of ALPS on the LH surge, but LBN had no additional effect, suggesting that the paradigm studied for early-life stress did not confer either resilience or susceptibility to the adult stress studied for this parameter. There are several potential explanations for this finding. First, LBN may be milder than other perinatal stressors, such as lipopolysaccharide exposure (50), that have lasting effects on the reproductive consequences of adult stress. Second, the preweaning return to standard housing conditions may have also buffered the effects of early resource limitations. Third, work by Peña et al. (179) demonstrated the challenges of trying to predict if experiencing one stressor will lead to susceptibility or resilience to a subsequent stressor by comparing the impact of early-life stressors on the behavioral responses to 10 days of chronic social defeat. Most pertinent to the work presented

here, maternal separation with reduced bedding from PND2-12 did not affect postdefeat behavior, whereas the same treatment from PND10-17 increased susceptibility (179), a difference which the authors attributed to the transition out of the stress hyporesponsive period for pups who experienced the paradigm later in development (63). The lack of effect of LBN from PND4-11 could thus be reflective of pups experiencing the paradigm during the stress hyporesponsive period.

The mechanisms by which ALPS disrupts the LH surge, both in terms of the components of the stress response and the site of action within the reproductive axis, remain unknown. GnRH neurons from proestrous mice receive a higher frequency of GABAergic input, which is excitatory in these cells (141), in the evening than in the morning, consistent with the switch from negative to positive feedback and the timing of the LH surge (139). We thus tested the hypothesis that GABA input to GnRH neurons is diminished by ALPS. The frequency of GABAergic PSCs in GnRH neurons was not altered by stress, nor was the mean interevent interval by cell. The distribution of all interevent intervals was shifted towards longer intervals in cells from ALPS mice, but this appears to be primarily related to three control cells with a high frequency of PSCs. It is possible that one mechanism by which ALPS ultimately disrupts the LH surge is by reducing the incidence of GnRH neurons receiving a high frequency of GABAergic input, but the current study is not powered to assess this. The observation that the amplitude distribution of PSCs from STD-ALPS mice is shifted towards larger events runs counter to the hypothesis that this stressor reduces the efficacy of GABA input to GnRH neurons. The magnitudes of these observed changes in event distributions are small, and near our limit of detection for differentiating signal and noise in these

electrophysiological recordings. Amplitude did not differ when comparing the mean values from each cell; thus, the subtle shifts in the cumulative probability distributions of events may also reflect some bias towards the amplitude of PSCs from cells with more events included in the analysis.

One possible caveat to this work is that brain slice preparation could sever key neuronal networks that may be critical for the disruption of reproductive output following ALPS, or that other *in vivo* changes attributable to early-life or adult stress do not persist in this configuration. In this regard, both acute and chronic stressors induced measurable changes in synaptic physiology of the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus in brain slices (209). The increase in GABA PSC frequency in GnRH neurons on the evening of proestrus occurs concurrently with the expected time of the LH surge, but the experimental design precludes the ability to directly correlate the properties of PSCs to the incidence of the LH surge in that animal; in this regard, uterine mass in animals used for PSC recordings were consistent with proestrus (Figure 2.4.2). The source of the increased GABAergic transmission to GnRH neurons during the LH surge is not known and has been postulated to be the suprachiastmatic nucleus (140) or the anteroventral periventricular kisspeptin neurons (208). Although GABAergic transmission was not altered by ALPS or LBN, it is possible that peptidergic modulators from these, or other, populations are altered in a manner that disrupts the LH surge.

While persistent effects of LBN were not observed into adulthood in this study, care must be taken not to over-extrapolate these findings as demonstrating that early-life psychosocial and environmental manipulations are of no consequence. To allow rigorous control of conditions, this study considered a single type of early-life stress

during one week of development, after which time animals were returned to standard housing conditions. Altering the timing, type, or duration of the stressor may lead to different outcomes. Indeed, a recent study found persistent reproductive effects following three weeks of postweaning social isolation, including on vaginal opening, estrous cycles, and activity of hypothalamic neurons (210), indicating that housing conditions during certain developmental periods can lead to changes that persist into adulthood. The observations of the present study direct future attention to the effects of both early-life and adult stress on the broader neuroendocrine network controlling reproduction, including upstream neuronal populations and pituitary gonadotropes. **Table 2.1.** Type of statistical test used to analyze each outcome. Linear mixed models (LMM) were used where appropriate for the data structure and experimental design. [@]indicates that postnatal day (PND) was treated as a factor variable. For the analysis of dam behavior with a non-parametric longitudinal test, the nparLD package in R was used, with the F1 LD F1 Model. The subject variable was each dam, early-life treatment (standard or limited bedding and nesting cage) was the between-subject factor ('whole-plot' factor), and PND was the within-subject factor ('sub-plot' repeated factor). [^]indicates that linear splines at PND21 and 35 for the models of offspring mass allow the model to change the slope of the line for the segments between PND11-21, from 21-35, and from 35-72. Generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) were fit with either logistic regression or negative binomial (NB) families.

Fig	outcome	test	formula
2.1B	dam mass	LMM	mass ~ early-life treatment * PND [@] + (1 dam)
2.1C	dam corticosterone	t-test	corticosterone ~ early-life treatment
2.1D- E	# of nest exits	non-parametric longitudinal F1 LD F1	# of nest exits ~ early-life treatment * PND [@]
2.1F- G	% of time off nest	non-parametric longitudinal F1 LD F1	% off nest ~ early-life treatment * PND [@]
2.2A	PND4 offspring mass litter average	t-test	mass ~ early-life treatment
2.2B	PND11 offspring mass individual pups	LMM	mass ~ early-life treatment * sex + (1 dam)
2.2C	offspring mass males and females run separately	LMM with splines	mass ~ early-life treatment * PND [^] + (1 dam) + (1 mouse)
	age at vaginal opening		
2.2D	age at first estrus	LMM	age ~ early-life treatment + (1 dam)
	age at preputial separation		
2.2E	mass at vaginal opening	LMM	mass ~ early-life treatment + (1 dam)
	mass at first estrus		

	mass at preputial separation		
text	anogenital distance	LMM	anogenital distance ~ early-life treatment * sex + (1 dam)
2.3B	# of estrous cycles	LMM	# of estrous cycles ~ early-life treatment + (1 dam)
2.3C	cycle length	LMM	log ₁₀ (cycle length) ~ early-life treatment + (1 dam)
2.3D	% days in stage	X ² test	Distribution of days spent in diestrus, proestrus, and estrus by early-life treatment
2.4A	male serum corticosterone	LMM	log₁₀(cort) ~ early-life treatment * adult treatment * time + (1 mouse) + (1 dam)
2.4B	female serum corticosterone	LMM	log ₁₀ (cort) ~ cycle stage * early-life treatment * adult treatment * time + (1 mouse) + (1 dam)
2.4.1A	body mass		
2.4.1B	% change in body mass		
2.4.1C	adrenal mass		
2.4.1D	adrenal mass normalized to body mass		
2.4.1E	seminal vesicle mass	LMM	treatment + (1 dam)
2.4.1F	seminal vesicle mass normalized to body mass		
2.4.1G	testicular mass		
2.4.1H	testicular mass normalized to body mass		
2.4.2A	body mass		outcome ~ early-life treatment * adult
2.4.2B	% change body mass	LMM	treatment * cycle stage + (1 dam)

2.4.2C	adrenal mass		
2.4.2D	adrenal mass normalized to body mass		
2.4.2E	uterine mass		
2.4.2F	uterine mass normalized to body mass		
2.4.3B	serum corticosterone	LMM	log ₁₀ (cort) ~ dosage * time + (1 mouse) + (1 dam)
2.4.3A	body mass		
2.4.3C	% change in body mass		
2.4.3D	adrenal mass		
2.4.3E	adrenal mass normalized to body mass		
2.4.3F	seminal vesicle mass	LMM	outcome ~ dosage + (1 dam)
2.4.3G	seminal vesicle mass normalized to body mass		
2.4.3H	testicular mass		
2.4.31	testicular mass normalized to body mass		
2.5F	average LH, diestrous mice	LMM	avg LH ~ early-life treatment * adult treatment + (1 dam)
2.5C	proportion with LH surge, proestrous	GLMM – logistic regression	surged ~ early-life treatment + adult treatment + (1 dam)
2.6A	capacitance		
2.6B	input resistance	LMM	outcome ~ early-life treatment * adult
2.6C	series resistance		
2.6D	holding current		

2.7C	PSC frequency	GLMM – negative binomial	# of events in 4 min ~ early-life treatment * adult treatment + (1 mouse) (1 dam)		
2.7D	mean interevent interval	LMM	log ₁₀ (interval) ~ early-life treatment * adult treatment + (1 mouse) + (1 dam)		
2.7E	mean relative amplitude	LMM	outcome ~ early-life treatment * adult		
2.7F	decay time		treatment + (1 mouse) + (1 dam)		
2.7G	distribution of interevent interval	Anderson-Darlin	g test and bootstrapping. See "Statistical		
2.7H	distribution of amplitude	ar	nalysis" section of methods		

Table 2.2. Statistical table for pairwise comparisons for post-hoc tests. Holm's method for p-value adjustment was used for multiple comparisons. Confidence intervals were adjusted using the more conservative Bonferroni method. The statistical test used for each outcome is in Table 2.1.

fig	outcome	group level	contrast	estimate	95% CI	SEM	df	t	р	row
			STD - LBN	-1.23	[-2.36, -0.10]	0.562	47.0	-2.20	0.033	1
2 1B	dam mass		PND4 - PND11	-2.78	[-3.33, -2.22]	0.227	94.0	-12.21	<0.001	2
2.10	uani mass		PND4 - PND21	-2.15	[-2.70, -1.59]	0.227	94.0	-9.45	<0.001	3
			PND11 - PND21	0.63	[0.07, 1.18]	0.227	94.0	2.76	0.007	4
2.2B	PND11 mass		STD - LBN	0.55	[0.17, 0.94]	0.192	47.0	2.87	0.006	5
		PND 11	STD - LBN	0.67	[-0.28, 1.63]	0.355	43.2	1.90	0.129	6
		PND 21	STD - LBN	0.62	[-0.33, 1.57]	0.353	41.9	1.76	0.129	7
2.2C	male mass	PND 35	STD - LBN	0.77	[-0.21, 1.74]	0.364	47.5	2.11	0.121	8
		PND 56	STD - LBN	0.93	[-0.02, 1.88]	0.352	41.7	2.66	0.045	9
		PND 72	STD - LBN	1.06	[0.10, 2.03]	0.358	44.5	2.97	0.024	10
	anogenital distance		female - male	-10.35	[-10.48, -10.23]0.065	239.8	-160.51	<0.001	11
		pre	CON / ALPS	0.98	[0.71, 1.35]	0.125	121.7	-0.15	0.883	12
2.4A	male serum corticosterone	post	CON / ALPS	0.32	[0.23, 0.44]	0.041	122.2	-8.91	<0.001	13
		CON	pre / post	0.35	[0.25, 0.47]	0.042	74.1	-8.68	<0.001	14
		ALPS	pre / post	0.11	[0.08, 0.15]	0.014	73.2	-18.04	<0.001	15

fig	outcome	group level	contrast	estimate	95% CI	SEM	df	t	р	row
		di pre	CON / ALPS	1.21	[0.69, 2.13]	0.237	200.2	0.97	0.826	16
		di post	CON / ALPS	0.31	[0.18, 0.55]	0.061	200.2	-5.98	<0.001	17
		pro pre	CON / ALPS	0.79	[0.53, 1.18]	0.110	215.8	-1.67	0.387	18
		pro post	CON / ALPS	0.40	[0.27, 0.59]	0.055	215.8	-6.70	<0.001	19
		di CON	pre / post	0.22	[0.13, 0.38]	0.041	109.0	-8.08	<0.001	20
2 /B	female serum	di ALPS	pre / post	0.06	[0.03, 0.10]	0.011	109.0	-14.47	<0.001	21
2.4D	2.4B corticosterone	pro CON	pre / post	0.26	[0.17, 0.41]	0.041	109.0	-8.62	<0.001	22
		pro ALPS	pre / post	0.13	[0.09, 0.18]	0.015	109.0	-18.00	<0.001	23
		pre CON	diestrus / proestrus	0.68	[0.41, 1.14]	0.120	213.5	-2.16	0.160	24
		pre ALPS	diestrus / proestrus	0.45	[0.28, 0.72]	0.074	215.5	-4.85	<0.001	25
		post CON	diestrus / proestrus	0.83	[0.50, 1.37]	0.145	213.5	-1.09	0.826	26
		post ALPS	diestrus / proestrus	1.05	[0.65, 1.70]	0.174	215.5	0.31	0.826	27
0444	h a du mana a		STD - LBN	2.37	[0.16, 4.59]	1.067	21.9	2.22	0.037	28
2.4.1A	body mass		CON - ALPS	-0.97	[-1.68, -0.26]	0.353	50.7	-2.75	0.008	29
2.4.1B	% change body mass		CON - ALPS	3.66	[3.20, 4.11]	0.229	56.7	16.00	<0.001	30
2.4.1D	adrenal mass normalized to body mass		STD - LBN	-0.01	[-0.03, 0.00]	0.007	21.2	-2.01	0.057	31

fig	outcome	group level	contrast	estimate	95% CI	SEM	df	t	р	row
2.4.1E	seminal vesicle mass		CON - ALPS	-12.78	[-27.44, 1.88]	7.295	49.4	-1.75	0.086	32
2415	seminal vesicle mass		STD - LBN	-0.81	[-1.39, -0.23]	0.278	20.6	-2.91	0.008	33
2.4.1	normalized to body mass		CON - ALPS	-0.51	[-1.02, -0.01]	0.253	52.4	-2.03	0.048	34
	tootoo mooo		STD - LBN	15.52	[8.10, 22.94]	3.565	20.8	4.35	<0.001	35
2.4.1G	lesies mass		CON - ALPS	9.36	[3.25, 15.46]	3.046	55.0	3.07	0.003	36
	testes mass normalized to body mass		CON - ALPS	0.27	[0.04, 0.49]	0.113	50.6	2.37	0.021	37
2420	% change		diestrus - proestrus	-0.77	[-1.49, -0.04]	0.365	103.9	-2.10	0.038	38
2.4.2D	body mass		CON - ALPS	2.83	[2.11, 3.55]	0.363	93.6	7.81	<0.001	39
2.4.2C	adrenal mass		STD - LBN	-0.29	[-0.57, 0.00]	0.140	30.6	-2.05	0.049	40
2.4.2D	adrenal mass normalized to body mass		CON - ALPS	-0.01	[-0.02, 0.00]	0.005	60.8	-1.76	0.084	41
2.4.2E	uterine mass		diestrus - proestrus	-71.38	[-77.31, -65.46]	2.981	85.5	-23.95	<0.001	42
2.4.2F	uterine mass normalized to body mass		diestrus - proestrus	-2.98	[-3.26, -2.71]	0.138	84.4	-21.62	<0.001	43
		0hr	0mg/kg / 2mg/kg	1.12	[0.78, 1.61]	0.151	172.7	0.86	0.393	44
2.4.3B	male cort admin serum corticosterone	1hr	0mg/kg / 2mg/kg	0.14	[0.10, 0.20]	0.019	172.7	-14.72	<0.001	45
		2hr	0mg/kg / 2mg/kg	0.06	[0.04, 0.09]	0.008	172.7	-20.57	<0.001	46

fig	outcome	group level	contrast	estimate	95% CI	SEM	df	t	р	row
		3hr	0mg/kg / 2mg/kg	0.15	[0.10, 0.21]	0.020	172.7	-14.34	<0.001	47
		4hr	0mg/kg / 2mg/kg	0.10	[0.07, 0.14]	0.013	172.7	-17.18	<0.001	48
		5hr	0mg/kg / 2mg/kg	0.18	[0.13, 0.26]	0.024	172.7	-12.70	<0.001	49
2.4.3C	% change body mass		0mg/kg - 2mg/kg	0.68	[-0.02, 1.39]	0.344	27.5	1.99	0.057	50
2.4.3H	testes mass		0mg/kg - 2mg/kg	7.28	[1.90, 12.67]	2.613	24.5	2.79	0.010	51
2.4.31	testes mass normalized to body mass		0mg/kg - 2mg/kg	0.13	[-0.02, 0.28]	0.073	24.5	1.80	0.085	52

Table 2.1.1. Number of dams in each group for studies in Figure 2.1. Dam behavior includes values for number of nest exits per hour and percentage of time spent off the nest.

	# of dam measurements on postnatal day									
variable	treatment	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	21
	STD	25							25	25
dam mass	LBN	24							24	24
	STD								24	
dam conticosterone	LBN								24	
dam behavior	STD	23	24	25	19	19	19	19	19	
	LBN	22	23	24	20	20	20	20	19	

Table 2.1.2. Statistics for tests of dam mass and dam behavior over time. Linear mixed model and pairwise comparisons of the dam mass on PND4, 11, and 21 was fit with the equation mass ~ early-life treatment * PND@ + (1 | dam). Postnatal day (PND) was treated as a factor variable. Dam behavior parameters were analyzed with a nonparametric longitudinal model using the nparLD package in R, with the F1 LD F1 Model. The subject variable was each dam, early-life treatment (STD or LBN cage) was the between-subject factor ('whole-plot' factor), and PND was the within-subject factor ('sub-plot' repeated factor).

	earl	y-life trea	Itment	PND			early-life treatment * PND			
feature	F	df	р	F	df	р	F	df	р	
dam mass	4.83	1, 47.0	0.033	82.02	2, 94.0	<0.001	1.69	2, 94.0	0.189	
# of exits	19.49	1.0	<0.001	12.33	5.7	<0.001	1.11	5.7	0.356	
% off nest	2.01	1.0	0.156	0.90	5.6	0.490	1.52	5.6	0.171	

Table 2.2.1. Linear mixed models of offspring mass on PND11 and anogenital distance. Equations were outcome ~ early-life treatment * sex + (1 | dam). Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing. Sex is males vs females.

	early-life treatment				sex		early-life treatment * sex			
feature	F	df	р	F	df	р	F	df	р	
PND11 mass	8.26	1, 47.0	0.006	0.25	1, 249.7	0.616	2.38	1, 249.7	0.124	
anogenital distance	1.32	1, 46.5	0.257	25763.19	1, 239.8	<0.001	0.01	1, 239.8	0.940	

Table 2.2.2. Linear mixed model of the offspring mass from PND11-72 fit with the equation mass ~ early-life treatment * PND@ + (1 | dam) + (1 | mouse). Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing. PND@: Linear splines at PND21 and 35 allow the model to change the slope of the line for the segments between PND11-21, from 21-35, and from 35-72. Male and female offspring were fit with separate models.

		females			males	
variable	F	df	р	F	df	р
early-life treatment	0.78	1, 76.8	0.381	3.37	1, 69.4	0.071
PND@	59283.03	3, 3229.4	<0.001	68522.70	3, 2619.4	<0.001
early-life treatment * PND@	0.85	3, 3229.4	0.466	6.84	3, 2619.4	<0.001

Table 2.2.3. Linear mixed models for maturation with the equation maturation feature \sim early-life treatment + (1 | dam). Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing. Models were fit for age and for mass at vaginal opening, first estrus, and preputial separation.

	effect of early-life treatment								
		age			mass				
	F	df	р	F	df	р			
vaginal opening	1.57	1, 43.6	0.217	0.10	1, 41.2	0.754			
first estrus	1.54	1, 43.7	0.221	0.10	1, 41.4	0.758			
preputial separation	1.91	1, 30.9	0.177	0.04	1, 30.7	0.846			

Table 2.3.1. Statistics for estrous cycles from postnatal days 70-90. The number of cycles was fit with the linear mixed model equation # of cycles ~ early-life treatment + (1 | dam). The log of the mean cycle length in days was fit with equation $\log_{10}(cycle \text{ length}) \sim early-life treatment + (1 | dam)$. Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing. The number of days spent in each cycle stage was assessed with a Chi-squared test (n = 3066).

		# cycles		mean cycle length		Cycle sta	ge dis	tribution	
variable	F	df	р	F	df	р	Chi-sq	df	р
early-life treatment	0.86	1, 37.3	0.359	0.56	1, 37.2	0.457	0.29	2	0.865

Table 2.4.1. Number of litters and mice with serum corticosterone measurement	s
before and after adult treatment.	

		STD				LBN			
		CON		ALPS		CON		ALPS	
	time	litters	mice	litters	mice	litters	mice	litters	mice
mala	pre	11	20	11	20	13	19	13	19
male	post	11	19	11	20	13	19	13	19
diaatrua	pre	9	10	8	8	7	9	9	9
diestrus	post	9	10	8	8	7	9	9	9
proestrus	pre	11	14	17	25	12	14	19	28
	post	11	14	17	25	12	14	19	28

Table 2.4.2. Statistics for serum corticosterone in male and female offspring. Data from males were fit with the linear mixed model equation $log_{10}(cort) \sim early-life treatment *$ adult treatment * time + (1 | mouse) + (1 | dam). Data from females were fit with the linear mixed model equation $log_{10}(cort) \sim$ cycle stage * early-life treatment * adult treatment * time + (1 | mouse) + (1 | dam). Cycle stage is diestrus vs proestrus; early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing; adult treatment is CON vs ALPS; time is pre (0h) vs post (5h).

		males		females		
variable	F	df	р	F	df	р
cycle stage			-	23.85	1, 216.3	<0.001
early-life treatment	1.60	1, 44.0	0.213	1.36	1, 102.0	0.246
adult treatment	0.02	1, 121.7	0.883	0.03	1, 200.2	0.867
time	356.09	1, 73.6	<0.001	539.59	1, 109.0	<0.001
cycle stage * early-life treatment				0.18	1, 216.3	0.672
cycle stage * adult treatment				3.06	1, 212.1	0.081
early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.01	1, 121.7	0.943	0.53	1, 200.2	0.468
cycle stage * time				9.65	1, 109.0	0.002
early-life treatment * time	1.39	1, 73.6	0.241	0.83	1, 109.0	0.364
adult treatment * time	42.80	1, 73.6	<0.001	37.79	1, 109.0	<0.001
cycle stage * early-life treatment * adult treatment				0.00	1, 212.1	0.975
cycle stage * early-life treatment * time				0.38	1, 109.0	0.539
cycle stage * adult treatment * time				3.95	1, 109.0	0.049
early-life treatment * adult treatment * time	0.07	1, 73.6	0.791	0.22	1, 109.0	0.643
cycle stage * early-life treatment * adult treatment * time				0.02	1, 109.0	0.878

Table 2.4.3. Number of litters and male mice with mass measurements on the day of adult treatment. Lower numbers for some tissue masses are attributable to loss of or damage to tissue at dissection.

		S	ΓD		LBN				
	co	CON		ALPS		CON		ALPS	
feature	litters	mice	litters	mice	litters	mice	litters	mice	
AM body mass (g)	11	19	11	19	13	19	13	19	
% change body mass	11	19	11	19	13	19	13	18	
adrenal mass (mg)	10	17	10	17	12	18	11	16	
adrenal mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	10	17	10	17	12	18	11	15	
seminal vesicle mass (mg)	11	18	11	19	13	18	13	18	
seminal vesicle mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	11	18	11	19	13	18	13	17	
testicular mass (mg)	11	19	11	19	13	19	13	19	
testicular mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	11	19	11	19	13	19	13	18	

Table 2.4.4. Statistics from linear mixed models of male masses on day of adult treatment. Data were fit with the formula feature ~ early-life treatment * adult treatment + (1 | dam). Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing; adult treatment is CON vs ALPS.

	Early-life treatment			adult treatment			early-life treatment * adult treatment		
feature	F	df	р	F	df	р	F	df	р
AM body mass (g)	4.95	1, 21.9	0.037	7.57	1, 50.7	0.008	0.78	1, 50.7	0.381
% change body mass	0.50	1, 20.4	0.489	255.89	1, 56.7	<0.001	3.07	1, 56.7	0.085
adrenal mass (mg)	1.30	1, 21.2	0.267	1.80	1, 46.0	0.186	0.87	1, 46.0	0.356
adrenal mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	4.06	1, 21.2	0.057	1.44	1, 45.6	0.237	0.59	1, 45.6	0.448
seminal vesicle mass (mg)	0.95	1, 21.4	0.341	3.07	1, 49.4	0.086	0.22	1, 49.4	0.643
seminal vesicle mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	8.47	1, 20.6	0.008	4.12	1, 52.4	0.048	0.06	1, 52.4	0.804
testicular mass (mg)	18.95	1, 20.8	<0.001	9.43	1, 55.0	0.003	1.35	1, 55.0	0.250
testicular mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	0.03	1, 21.7	0.862	5.63	1, 50.6	0.021	0.25	1, 50.6	0.622

Table 2.4.5. Number of litters and female mice with mass measurements on the day of adult treatment. Adrenal masses were not collected from females used for electrophysiology studies (Figures 2.6.7). Lower numbers for some tissue masses are attributable to loss of or damage to tissue at dissection.

			STD				LBN			
		co	CON ALPS		CON		ALPS			
cycle stage	feature	litters	mice	litters	mice	litters	mice	litters	mice	
	AM body mass (g)	9	10	7	7	7	9	9	9	
	% change body mass	9	10	7	7	7	9	9	9	
-	adrenal mass (mg)	9	10	8	8	7	9	9	9	
diestrus -	adrenal mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	9	10	8	8	7	9	9	9	
	uterine mass (mg)	9	10	8	8	7	9	9	9	
	uterine mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	9	10	8	8	7	9	9	9	
	AM body mass (g)	11	14	15	23	12	14	19	28	
	% change body mass	10	13	15	23	12	14	18	27	
	adrenal mass (mg)	7	8	12	18	8	8	14	21	
proestrus	adrenal mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	7	8	12	18	8	8	13	20	
	uterine mass (mg)	11	14	17	25	12	14	19	28	
	uterine mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	10	13	17	25	12	14	18	27	

Table 2.4.6. Statistics from linear mixed models of female masses on day of adult treatment. Data were fit with the formula feature ~ early-life treatment * adult treatment * cycle stage + (1 | dam). Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing; adult treatment is CON vs ALPS; cycle stage is diestrus vs proestrus.

feature	variable	F	df	р
	early-life treatment	0.96	1, 43.5	0.333
	adult treatment	0.78	1, 77.9	0.380
	cycle stage	1.02	1, 86.0	0.315
AM body mass (g)	early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.16	1, 77.9	0.689
	early-life treatment * cycle stage	0.11	1, 86.0	0.744
	adult treatment * cycle stage	0.02	1, 83.1	0.896
	early-life treatment * adult treatment * cycle stage	0.00	1, 83.1	0.987
	early-life treatment	2.91	1, 34.0	0.097
	adult treatment	60.96	1, 93.6	<0.001
	cycle stage	4.41	1, 103.9	0.038
% change body mass	early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.02	1, 93.6	0.899
	early-life treatment * cycle stage	0.96	1, 103.9	0.330
	adult treatment * cycle stage	0.38	1, 101.7	0.539
	early-life treatment * adult treatment * cycle stage	0.23	1, 101.7	0.631
	early-life treatment	4.20	1, 30.6	0.049
	adult treatment	0.01	1, 68.6	0.913
	cycle stage	0.76	1, 67.9	0.386
adrenal mass (mg)	early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.82	1, 68.6	0.368
	early-life treatment * cycle stage	0.25	1, 67.9	0.617
	adult treatment * cycle stage	1.40	1, 76.3	0.241
	early-life treatment * adult treatment * cycle stage	0.32	1, 76.3	0.575

feature	variable	F	df	р
	early-life treatment	0.37	1, 32.5	0.547
	adult treatment	3.08	1, 60.8	0.084
	cycle stage	0.05	1, 61.7	0.831
adrenal mass normalized to PM	early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.01	1, 60.8	0.926
mass (mg/g)	early-life treatment * cycle stage	0.15	1, 61.7	0.696
	adult treatment * cycle stage	2.40	1, 66.9	0.126
	early-life treatment * adult treatment * cycle stage	0.28	1, 66.9	0.601
	early-life treatment	0.03	1, 43.6	0.871
	adult treatment	0.00	1, 77.2	0.995
	cycle stage	573.41	1, 85.5	<0.001
uterine mass (mg)	early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.05	1, 77.2	0.819
	early-life treatment * cycle stage	0.69	1, 85.5	0.407
	adult treatment * cycle stage	3.30	1, 83.6	0.073
	early-life treatment * adult treatment * cycle stage	0.28	1, 83.6	0.595
	early-life treatment	0.34	1, 43.3	0.565
	adult treatment	1.81	1, 74.9	0.183
	cycle stage	467.39	1, 84.4	<0.001
uterine mass normalized to PM	early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.00	1, 74.9	0.993
mass (mg/g)	early-life treatment * cycle stage	1.39	1, 84.4	0.242
	adult treatment * cycle stage	3.70	1, 81.0	0.058
	early-life treatment * adult treatment * cycle stage	1.21	1, 81.0	0.274

Table 2.4.7. Statistics from linear mixed models of male masses on day of vehicle (0mg/kg) or corticosterone (2mg/kg) treatment. Data were fit with the formula feature ~ dosage + (1 | dam).

	Dosage			
feature	F	df	р	
AM body mass (g)	0.28	1, 24.5	0.602	
% change body mass	3.96	1, 27.5	0.057	
adrenal mass (mg)	0.55	1, 23.4	0.466	
adrenal mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	0.70	1, 23.5	0.410	
seminal vesicle mass (mg)	0.07	1, 27.5	0.790	
seminal vesicle mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	0.18	1, 27.5	0.674	
testicular mass (mg)	7.77	1, 24.5	0.010	
testicular mass normalized to PM mass (mg/g)	3.22	1, 24.5	0.085	

Table 2.4.8. Statistics for serum corticosterone in males with vehicle or corticosterone administration. Data were fit with the linear mixed model equation $\log_{10}(\text{cort}) \sim \text{dosage}^*$ time + (1 | mouse) + (1 | dam). Dosage is 0mg/kg vs 2mg/kg; time compares 0h, 1h, 2h, 3h, 4h, and 5h.

variable	F	df	р
dosage	432.21	1, 36.4	<0.001
time	178.35	5, 245.0	<0.001
dosage * time	75.13	5, 245.0	<0.001

Table 2.5.1. Statistics from linear mixed models of average LH in diestrous mice on day of adult treatment. Data were fit with the formula average LH ~ early-life treatment * adult treatment + (1 | dam). Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN treatment; adult treatment is CON vs ALPS treatment.

variable	F	df	р
early-life treatment	0.171,	16.40	.687
adult treatment	3.691,	23.10	.067
early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.441,	23.10	.515

Table 2.6.1. Statistics from linear mixed models of electrophysiology properties on day of adult treatment. The mean value for each cell was calculated, and data were fit with the formula feature \sim early-life treatment * adult treatment + (1 | dam) + (1 | mouse). Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing; adult treatment is CON vs ALPS.

	early-life treatment			adult treatment			early-life treatment * adult treatment		
feature	F	df	р	F	df	р	F	df	р
capacitance (pF)	0.03	1, 8.1	0.863	0.77	1, 9.4	0.401	0.07	1, 9.4	0.791
input resistance (MOhm)	0.23	1, 8.4	0.641	1.52	1, 9.5	0.248	1.50	1, 9.5	0.250
series resistance (MOhm)	0.30	1, 7.8	0.601	0.97	1, 11.3	0.346	0.27	1, 11.3	0.613
holding current (pA)	0.02	1, 7.8	0.898	0.01	1, 9.2	0.909	0.35	1, 9.2	0.566
interevent interval (pA)	0.12	1, 7.8	0.740	0.05	1, 9.2	0.820	0.00	1, 9.2	0.946
amplitude (pA)	0.45	1, 7.0	0.524	0.72	1, 8.8	0.420	0.12	1, 8.8	0.737
decay time (ms)	0.50	1, 7.0	0.503	0.85	1, 8.8	0.381	1.31	1, 8.8	0.283

Table 2.7.1. Statistics for number of postsynaptic current (PSC) events per 240s in GnRH neurons on the day of adult treatment. As the frequency data were skewed right and included zeros, a generalized linear mixed effects negative binomial model was used. Data were fit with the model equation # events per 240s ~ early-life treatment * adult treatment + (1 | mouse) + (1 | dam). The joint_tests function of the emmeans package was used to obtain these p-value estimates from the model. Early-life treatment is STD vs LBN rearing; adult treatment is CON vs ALPS.

variable	F ratio	df	Chi-sq	р
early-life treatment	0.013	1, Inf	0.013	0.910
adult treatment	1.476	1, Inf	1.476	0.224
early-life treatment * adult treatment	0.067	1, Inf	0.067	0.796

Table 2.7.2. Pairwise comparisons of distributions of interevent interval and amplitude for PSCs recorded in GnRH neurons. The Anderson-Darling criterion (AD), the standardized test statistic (T AD), and asymptotic p-value were calculated with the kSamples package (201). Bootstrapping was used to estimate the mean difference. The confidence interval is not adjusted for multiple comparisons. The p-values for both tests were adjusted using Holm's method for multiple comparisons.

		# PSCs		Anderson-Darling			bootstrap		
variable	comparison	group 1	group 2	AD	T AD	р	mean diff	95% CI	р
interevent interval (ms)	STD-CON vs STD-ALPS	4,597	2,324	531.5	696.91	<0.001	0.78	[0.65, 0.92]	<0.001
	STD-CON vs LBN-CON	4,597	3,032	214.5	280.48	<0.001	0.35	[0.25, 0.46]	<0.001
	LBN-CON vs LBN-ALPS	3,032	2,217	104.0	135.40	<0.001	0.32	[0.19, 0.46]	<0.001
	STD-ALPS vs LBN-ALPS	2,324	2,217	0.5	-0.65	0.744	-0.11	[-0.27, 0.05]	0.177
amplitude (pA)	STD-CON vs STD-ALPS	1,787	1,849	15.5	19.02	<0.001	3.60	[1.36, 5.81]	0.006
	STD-CON vs LBN-CON	1,787	1,908	3.8	3.62	0.023	-1.23	[-3.36, 0.80]	0.498
	LBN-CON vs LBN-ALPS	1,908	1,759	2.3	1.69	0.065	-0.39	[-2.42, 1.66]	0.711
	STD-ALPS vs LBN-ALPS	1,849	1,759	21.1	26.37	<0.001	-5.22	[-7.34, -3.09]	<0.001

Chapter 3 Conclusion

This dissertation examined the implications of early-life stress on sexual maturation, estrous cycles, and the response to adult stress. LBN from PND4-11 did not alter the age or mass at vaginal opening, first estrus, or preputial separation. Further, estrous cycles were not disrupted by LBN. The basal corticosterone concentrations in both the morning and afternoon were similar for STD and LBN-reared mice. LBN did not alter the corticosterone response to ALPS. In both STD and LBN proestrous females, ALPS disrupted the LH surge in a majority of mice. We tested the hypothesis that ALPS reduces the frequency of GABAergic PSCs in GnRH neurons, but the results did not support this.

LBN did not disrupt reproductive maturation

In the time since the project was developed, a few additional studies have explored the consequences of LBN on sexual maturation. As with prior studies, there is variability in the outcomes. LBN from PND2-9 in Long Evans rats did not change the age at vaginal opening (175), whereas a modified LBN paradigm without the wire mesh advanced vaginal opening in this strain (174). In mice, a group found that LBN from PND2-9 delayed vaginal opening (173), contrasting with their own earlier finding in which LBN did not affect vaginal opening (57). While these studies were investigating two different genetic knockouts, these effects were observed in wildtype littermates, and both lines had been backcrossed to C57BI/6 mice.

In addition to considering the genetic background and strain of the pups, it is also likely that the effects of LBN are sensitive to the strain of the dam. In the present studies, we used wildtype CBA dams. These dams were bred with males on a C57BI/6J background resulting in F1 CBA/C57BI/6 hybrid pups. In early pilot studies, we compared the effects of the paradigm when using CBA or C57BI/6J dams from PND2-9. Anecdotally, CBA dams are thought to provide better maternal care than C57BI/6J dams, but how CBA dams would react to LBN treatment was unknown. There was greater pup loss during the paradigm in litters from C57BI/6J dams than from CBA dams, and some of the C57BI/6J litters also required additional nutritional support or delayed weaning due to extremely low body mass. These early results led us to continue the studies using only CBA dams from PND4-11, with the goal of disentangling delays in reproductive maturation inherent to the stress exposure from delays that are secondary to reductions in body mass.

We were able to verify that the LBN paradigm had the expected effect on maternal behavior with CBA dams. LBN dams made more exits from the nest, without changing the amount of time that they spent on the nest, indicative of fragmented maternal care. The lack of substantive differences in pup body mass after the paradigm and around the time of weaning suggests that the effect of LBN may have been milder in pups reared by CBA dams. At least at this milder level, there did not appear to be independent effects of LBN on the age at reproductive maturation in males or females.
STD and LBN mice had similar corticosterone responses to ALPS

LBN did not change the corticosterone response to ALPS in males, diestrous females, or proestrous females. This is consistent with a study in both male and female Long Evans rats in which STD and LBN exhibited similar corticosterone concentrations at the end of a 60min restraint stress and 30min after cessation of the stressor (175). However, in response to a shorter restraint stress of only 10min, LBN female mice in another study exhibited blunted corticosterone release after the cessation of the stressor (79). In the present study, corticosterone was only measured at the end of the 5h stress. Therefore, we are unable to determine if LBN mice had different patterns of release at the onset of the different stressors, or if the termination of the corticosterone release following the stressors was altered.

Timing of limited bedding and nesting paradigm

LBN is typically only applied for one week early in the postnatal period, often overlapping with the stress hyporesponsive period. This design is particularly useful for assessing the consequences of early-life stress on critical windows of development. However, this design does limit the ability to translate this paradigm broadly to human experiences. This week-long span of rodent development roughly corresponds to late fetal development through the first couple years of life for a human infant (65). Thus, LBN may best correspond to situations in which the maternal-infant dyad experiences low resources very early in life, but then had adequate resources throughout the rest of the child's life. This early disruption would likely have many developmental consequences, but it is a distinct situation from that of individuals who were reared throughout their childhood and adolescence in a low-resource environment. With this in

mind, I would expect that extended exposure to the LBN environment through weaning would lead to distinct consequences for the development of the reproductive system, and for the response to subsequent stressors like ALPS in adulthood.

Diurnal and sex steroid effects on corticosterone release

In rodents, serum corticosterone concentrations exhibit a diurnal pattern; concentrations are low early in the light phase and then rise throughout the light phase reaching a peak around the time of lights out (211–213). This matches our observation that adult control mice (males, diestrous and proestrous females) all had a rise in corticosterone concentrations from the morning pre-treatment to the afternoon post-treatment samples. The 5h stress paradigm, ALPS, further increased serum corticosterone in all groups, demonstrating its effective activation of the neuroendocrine stress response.

Corticosterone levels at baseline and in response to stressors are thought to vary with the estrous cycle and between sexes in rodents; for review see (214). Females typically exhibit higher basal levels and a larger corticosterone response to stress than males (212,213,215,216). The pattern of corticosterone release, as demonstrated by the onset of corticosterone release during a stressor, and persistence of elevated corticosterone after cessation of the stressor, also are impacted by sex. When considering the impact of the estrous cycle, the prevailing consensus is that proestrous females have higher basal corticosterone levels and a more pronounced stress response than diestrous females, who tend to exhibit patterns more similar to males (214). This is attributed to the role of estradiol in potentiating the stress axis; estradiol replacement alone

increases corticosterone release during and following a 20min restraint stress in OVX females relative to estradiol and progesterone combined or a vehicle control (217).

Proestrous females should have higher morning estradiol concentrations than diestrous females, and we observed that proestrous mice had elevated morning serum corticosterone concentration consistent with the hypothesis above. In contrast, there were no differences in afternoon corticosterone concentrations between these stages for either control or ALPS-exposed mice. While this lack of difference conflicts with the general hypothesis in the field, there have also been many studies that failed to detect a basal difference in corticosterone between proestrous and diestrous females (215,217-219). Estradiol and progesterone levels change throughout the day in both diestrous and proestrous females, and it is possible that the magnitudes of the differences in estradiol and progesterone between these two groups are smaller in the afternoon than in the morning. However, it is difficult to compare these hormone levels between groups with certainty; for example, the onset of the rise in progesterone as the rodent transitions from proestrus to estrus is likely to depend on the individual timing of the LH surge. Technical limitations related to the quantity of serum necessary to detect these steroids preclude the ability to attain data about estradiol and progesterone levels across the full cycle in individual animals.

We also did not observe corticosterone differences between proestrous and diestrous females after the stress paradigm. A limitation to the design of the study is that animals were only sampled at the beginning and end of the stress paradigm. It is thus possible that proestrous and diestrous mice may have had distinct patterns of corticosterone release during the paradigm, or that the termination of the corticosterone response after

cessation of stress could have differed. Furthermore, this study did not assess nonneuroendocrine components of the stress response that may have differed between cycle stages.

Does ALPS suppress LH pulses?

As described in detail in Chapter 1, many psychosocial stressors, including restraint, suppress aspects of LH pulses (such as mean LH, LH-pulse amplitude, and/or LH-pulse frequency) in non-human primates (96–99), sheep (112–116), and rodents (118–122,130). This dissertation project was not designed to directly test pulsatile LH release. Yet, the trend toward decreased mean LH in diestrous females with limited sampling at the end of the ALPS paradigm and 2.5h later at lights out suggests that ALPS could alter pulsatile release. Future studies could be specifically designed to assess how the layered stressors in the ALPS paradigm affect LH pulses in both females and males.

Mechanisms of ALPS-induced disruption of the LH surge

This study replicated the previous finding (134) that ALPS disrupts the LH surge in most animals, but many questions remain about the mechanism of this disruption.

Hypothalamus

As described in Chapter 1, AVPV kisspeptin neurons may be a primary source of increased GABAergic input to GnRH neurons on the afternoon of proestrus, and given their role in mediating estradiol positive feedback, we predicted that GABAergic input to GnRH neurons would be altered by ALPS. The results of this study indicate that a change in GABAergic PSC frequency or properties of GABA PSCs cannot easily account for the disruption of the LH surge following ALPS. An important caveat to this

work is that, due to the timing of the stress, slices were prepared around or after the time of the LH surge peak in many mice. While the frequency of GABA PSCs is elevated in coronal slices prepared from proestrous mice at similar times (139), in OVX+E mice the frequency is only elevated in coronal slices prepared around the onset of the surge and not in coronal slices at the peak of the surge (140). The design of this dissertation may have precluded detection of any changes in GABA PSC frequency induced by ALPS around the time of the onset of the surge, which could have disrupted surge initiation. Further, this study does not exclude a possible role for AVPV kisspeptin neurons in mediating ALPS-induced disruptions. We have yet to test if kisspeptin release by AVPV kisspeptin neurons is altered after ALPS, nor have we assessed if ALPS alters how GnRH neurons respond to kisspeptin.

Even though ALPS did not decrease the frequency of GABAergic input to GnRH neurons, it could be changing the activity of these cells by changing their excitability. Future experiments could use whole-cell current-clamp recordings to test the membrane response of GnRH neurons to controlled current injections. The number of action potentials generated at each current step is an indication of the excitability of GnRH neurons and could be compared between stress groups. The shape of the resulting action potentials could also point to potential underlying changes in voltage-dependent ion channels that could be altered by stress.

Additional studies could directly test if ALPS decreases the firing activity of GnRH neurons on the afternoon of proestrous, such as by conducting long-term extracellular recordings of these cells (220,221). If GnRH neurons have reduced excitability after stress or receive increased inhibitory input, this could translate to a decreased firing

frequency or pattern of activity that ultimately may decrease GnRH release in the median eminence. However, if the activity of GnRH neurons is not altered by ALPS, this could point to gonadotropes within the pituitary, as opposed to central effects within the hypothalamus, as the primary site of disruption to the LH surge.

Pituitary

Studies *in vivo* could test if ALPS alters the response to exogenous kisspeptin and/or GnRH administration, as measured by LH release (24,149). If LH release after exogenous GnRH is lower in ALPS than CON mice, this could indicate that pituitary gonadotropes are less responsive to GnRH after stress. A reduction in LH release after kisspeptin administration could indicate changes at either the level of GnRH neurons or the pituitary, and these results would need to be contextualized with the experiment described above to test how the firing frequency of GnRH neurons changes in response to bath application of kisspeptin after stress.

Actions of corticosterone

To test the hypothesis that corticosterone is sufficient to disrupt the LH surge and ovulation, I worked with an undergraduate student, Bo Dong, to develop a protocol for feeding mice Nutella to increase serum corticosterone concentrations. We chose this route of oral administration as pilot studies within the lab had demonstrated that even with habituation to injection procedures, mice still had elevated corticosterone in response to saline injections. After a series of additional pilot studies with Bo, we determined that a dosage of 2mg/kg corticosterone administered at times corresponding

to the stressors during ALPS leads to a similar serum corticosterone profile as ALPS (Figure 2.3.1A).

In the proestrous mice studied, 2mg/kg corticosterone administration elevated afternoon serum corticosterone relative to vehicle treatment (Figure 2.3.1B, linear mixed model, dosage * time: $F_{(1,24)} = 22.60$, p < 0.001; emmeans *post hoc*, 0mg/kg vs. 2mg/kg at post treatment time: $t_{46.1} = -2.80$, p = 0.007). As evident in the individual LH profiles (Figure 2.3.1C), most mice in each group exhibited an LH surge during the sampling window (Figure 2.3.1D). There was not a clear relationship between serum corticosterone concentrations and exhibiting an LH surge (mice without a surge are colored magenta in Figure 2.3.1B and D). We also checked for the presence of ovulated oocytes in the oviduct the following morning; all mice with a surge above the threshold of 3.8ng/mL ovulated and none below ovulated. Contrary to our hypothesis, vehicle and corticosterone-treated mice had similar incidences of observed LH surges and ovulation (Figure 2.3.1E, X² = 0.04, p = 0.848). This suggests that corticosterone is not the primary driver of the disruptive effects of ALPS on the LH surge.



Figure 2.3.1. Corticosterone administration on proestrus does not disrupt the LH surge or ovulation. **A**. Individual serum corticosterone after 0mg/kg or 2mg/kg repeated oral administration of corticosterone (0h, 1h, 3h) or ALPS treatment for female mice in various cycle stages. **B**. Individual and linear mixed model mean±SEM for serum corticosterone concentrations after 0mg/kg or 2mg/kg repeated oral administration of corticosterone in proestrous mice. Note the difference in the y-axis scale between **A** and **B**. Magenta dots in **B** and **D** are mice that did not exhibit an LH surge. **C**. Individual LH profiles for proestrous mice in each treatment group sampled hourly until 2h after lights out; time is relative to lights out. Grey lines show mice with no LH concentrations above 3.8ng/mL. **D**. Individual values of maximum evening LH. Grey line at 3.8ng/mL is the cutoff for an LH surge. **E**. Percentage of mice with oocytes the following morning (filled bars; numbers are counts per result). * *p* < 0.05, ** *p* < 0.01, *** *p* < 0.001 Abbreviations: LH, luteinizing hormone; ALPS, acute, layered, psychosocial stress in adulthood

Activation of CRH neurons

CRH was thought to be another candidate to mediate the effects of ALPS on the reproductive axis. In the PVN, CRH neurons are part of the neuroendocrine aspect of the stress response (27); other regions also help regulate related processes including behavioral responses to stress (222,223). CRH disrupts LH pulses in rodents (163,168), non-human primates (90,91,94), and humans (224). In OVX rats, the suppression of mean LH by CRH is similar in adrenal-intact and adrenalectomized rats (163). This suggests that there are independent effects of CRH beyond solely elevating serum corticosterone, though this does not exclude the possibility that a rise of ACTH could be involved. CRH antagonists ameliorate the LH-inhibiting effects of stress induced by foot shock (225), restraint (119,122), and LPS (119) in rats. Chemogenetic activation of PVN CRH neurons reduced the frequency of LH pulses in OVX mice (226), indicating these cells can affect GnRH neuron output. PVN lesions do not, however, prevent stress-induced disruption in LH (227), suggesting a role for extra-PVN CRH or other neurons.

CRH neuron activation during ALPS

Given these relationships, we hypothesized that ALPS disrupts the LH surge by increasing CRH neuron output, which directly or indirectly interrupts estradiol-induced increases in GnRH neuron output and thus the LH surge. I mentored an undergraduate student, Jesse Lange, on a project to determine if ALPS activates CRH neurons, including in regions outside the PVN. We planned to assess expression of cFos, an immediate early gene which is activated by stress (228,229), in CRH neurons. CRH neurons were identified by GFP expression in CRH-Cre mice crossed with an L10a-

GFP reporter line (230). Control or ALPS proestrous females were perfused at 1.5h, 2.5h, and 5h after the start of the paradigm to assess CRH neuron activation at different stages of the stress paradigm.

Jesse worked to modify a protocol for the use of immunofluorescence to detect the coexpression of cFos and GFP. He identified CRH neurons in the PVN that expressed cFos following ALPS, but systematic study of the activation of CRH neurons in various regions throughout the brain remains to be conducted. We anticipate that the results of this study could help direct future optogenetic experiments investigating the effects of endogenous CRH circuits on the reproductive neuroendocrine axis.

Optogenetic activation of CRH neurons

As described, CRH alters activity of GnRH neurons in brain slices in a dose- and estradiol-dependent manner (154). This provides important proof-of-principle premise for optogenetic studies of the effect of CRH neuron activation on GnRH and AVPV kisspeptin neurons. Yet, how CRH actions are integrated with other mediators *in vivo*, including co-transmitters arising from CRH neurons, is not known. To fill these gaps, it is important to understand the endogenous circuits by which CRH neurons interact with components of the reproductive neuroendocrine system. Thus, an important future direction for this work is to use channelrhodopsin-assisted circuit mapping (CRACM) to determine if activation of CRH terminals leads to evoked currents in GnRH or AVPV kisspeptin neurons. These studies would also help address the current debate on the existence of direct synaptic connections between CRH and GnRH neurons (231–235). Protocols could be designed to alter the frequency and duration of activation to bias the

release of neuropeptides, in contrast to fast-synaptic transmitters (236), and test if this sustained activation of CRH neurons alters the activity of GnRH or AVPV kisspeptin neurons.

In the initial design of these experiments, we had planned to use the Ai167(TIT2L-ChrimsonR-tdT-ICL-tTA2, Allen Brain Institute) (237) mouse line to express the opsin ChrimsonR in all CRH neurons. ChrimsonR is a red-shifted excitatory opsin with fast kinetics, a high peak current, and high fidelity that can be activated with lower intensity light (237,238). Given the wide distribution of CRH neurons throughout the brain, we chose to begin with mouse-line expression of ChrimsonR in all CRH neurons to first test if there were *any* effects of their activation on GnRH and/or kisspeptin neurons. If this approach suggested the presence of connections, we would then use a viral approach with stereotaxic injections to target expression of ChrimsonR in specific populations of CRH neurons and isolate the source of these connections.

However, as I began pilot experiments to verify that CRH neurons fired action potentials in response to red-light stimulation, I noted that the expression pattern of tdTomato/ChrimsonR⁺ cells did not match the expected distribution for CRH neurons. I compared the distribution of CRH⁺ neurons in similar sections from the Ai167 (ChrimsonR) line, which uses the TIGRE2.0 approach for Cre-dependent expression (237) and the L10a line, which inserts the floxed stop and GFP gene at the more traditional Rosa26 locus (230). The reduction in CRH⁺ cells identified in sections from the Ai167 line was particularly notable in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, where there should be a relatively high density of CRH neurons (230,239). Upon further review of the literature, other examples of a lower density of expression when using the

Ai167 mouse line compared to a viral-based approach or a reporter line using the Rosa26 locus were identified (240). Thus, these experiments will need to use viral approaches targeting specific CRH populations moving forward. As mentioned above, the selection of these initial targets could be guided by the CRH-cFos studies. Populations of CRH neurons that are activated by ALPS are perhaps more likely to be among those that may have reproductive consequences.

Chemogenetic activation of CRH neurons

As another approach to testing the hypothesis that activation of CRH neurons disrupts the LH surge and ovulation, other researchers in the lab are presently testing chemogenetic activation of designer receptors exclusively activated by designer drugs (DREADDs) that express a modified G_q-receptor in CRH neurons. Contrary to the hypotheses, preliminary results indicate that activation of CRH neurons is not sufficient to disrupt the LH surge or ovulation. Though activity of CRH neurons in isolation does not appear to disrupt the LH surge, it is possible that these neurons are still involved in the broader spectrum of changes that occur during the response to layered stress.

Other components of the stress response

Multiple lines of evidence, including experiments in progress within the lab that are not presented here, are converging on the conclusion that the disruptive effects of ALPS on the LH surge cannot be fully explained by the action of hormones involved in the neuroendocrine stress axis. Therefore, this work must expand to more broadly consider systemic changes that accompany the stress response. This could include sympathetic pathways involving adrenergic or noradrenergic signaling. Many of the effects of adult

stress presented in Chapter 1 were reversed by naloxone, an opioid receptor antagonist, indicating a potential role for endogenous opioid peptides in mediating the effects of ALPS on the LH surge. Other members of the laboratory plan to directly test the hypothesis that naloxone prevents ALPS-induced disruption of the LH surge in upcoming experiments.

Summary

This dissertation project assessed the reproductive consequences of early-life and adult stress. Despite rejecting the hypotheses that LBN would delay reproductive maturation and alter the response to adult stress, these studies contribute to a growing, albeit complex, body of literature testing the effects of LBN at different times and across different species and strains. This project also excluded a possible mechanism – reducing excitatory GABAergic input to GnRH neurons – by which adult stress could disrupt the LH surge in mice, helping to direct future research towards alternative possibilities.

Bibliography

- Barrell GK, Moenter SM, Caraty A, Karsch FJ. Seasonal Changes of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Secretion in the Ewe. Biol Reprod. 1992 Jun 1;46(6):1130–5.
- Caraty A, Orgeur P, Thiery JC. Mise en évidence d'une sécrétion pulsatile du LH-RH du sang porte hypophysaire chez la brebis par une technique originale de prélvements multiples [Demonstration of the pulsatile secretion of LH-RH into hypophysial portal blood of ewes using an original technic for multiple samples]. Comptes Rendus Seances Acad Sci Ser III Sci Vie. 1982 Sep 20;295(2):103–6.
- 3. Caraty A, Locatelli A. Effect of time after castration on secretion of LHRH and LH in the ram. Reproduction. 1988 Jan 1;82(1):263–9.
- 4. Carmel PW, Araki S, Ferin M. Pituitary Stalk Portal Blood Collection in Rhesus Monkeys: Evidence for Pulsatile Release of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH). Endocrinology. 1976 Jul 1;99(1):243–8.
- 5. Clarke IJ, Cummins JT. The temporal relationship between gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) secretion in ovariectomized ewes. Endocrinology. 1982 Nov 1;111(5):1737–9.
- Karsch FJ, Cummins JT, Thomas GB, Clarke IJ. Steroid Feedback Inhibition of Pulsatile Secretion of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone in the Ewe. Biol Reprod. 1987;36(5):1207–18.
- 7. Levine JE, Ramirez VD. Luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone release during the rat estrous cycle and after ovariectomy, as estimated with push-pull cannulae. Endocrinology. 1982 Nov 1;111(5):1439–48.
- 8. Gross KM, Matsumoto AM, Bremner WJ. Differential Control of Luteinizing Hormone and Follicle-Stimulating Hormone Secretion by Luteinizing Hormone-Releasing Hormone Pulse Frequency in Man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1987 Apr 1;64(4):675–80.
- Spratt DI, Finkelstein JS, Butler JP, Badger TM, Crowley WF Jr. Effects of Increasing the Frequency of Low Doses of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) on Gonadotropin Secretion in GnRH-Deficient Men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1987 Jun 1;64(6):1179–86.

- Wildt L, Hausler A, Marshall G, Hutchison JS, Plant TM, Belchetz PE, et al. Frequency and amplitude of gonadotropin-releasing hormone stimulation and gonadotropin secretion in the rhesus monkey. Endocrinology. 1981;109(2):376–85.
- 11. Bäckström CT, McNeilly AS, Leask RM, Baird DT. Pulsatile Secretion of LH, FSH, Prolactin, Oestradiol and Progesterone During the Human Menstrual Cycle. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1982 Jul 1;17(1):29–42.
- 12. Filicori M, Butler JP, Crowley WF Jr. Neuroendocrine regulation of the corpus luteum in the human. Evidence for pulsatile progesterone secretion. J Clin Invest. 1984 Jun 1;73(6):1638–47.
- 13. Filicori M, Santoro N, Merriam GR, Crowley WF Jr. Characterization of the Physiological Pattern of Episodic Gonadotropin Secretion throughout the Human Menstrual Cycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1986 Jun 1;62(6):1136–44.
- Reame N, Sauder SE, Kelch RP, Marshall JC. Pulsatile Gonadotropin Secretion during the Human Menstrual Cycle: Evidence for Altered Frequency of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Secretion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1984 Aug 1;59(2):328–37.
- 15. Rossmanith WG, Liu CH, Laughlin GA, Mortola JF, Suh BY, Yen SSC. Relative changes in LH pulsatility during the menstrual cycle: using data from hypogonadal women as a reference point. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1990 May 1;32(5):647–60.
- 16. D'Amour FE. A Comparison of Methods Used in Determining the Time of Ovulation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1943 Jan 1;3(1):41–8.
- Evans NP, Dahl GE, Glover BH, Karsch FJ. Central Regulation of Pulsatile Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) Secretion by Estradiol during the Period Leading up to the Preovulatory GnRH Surge in the Ewe. Endocrinology. 1994;134(4):1806–11.
- Moenter SM, Brand RC, Karsch FJ. Dynamics of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) secretion during the GnRH surge: insights into the mechanism of GnRH surge induction. Endocrinology. 1992 May 1;130(5):2978–84.
- 19. Pau KY, Berria M, Hess DL, Spies HG. Preovulatory gonadotropin-releasing hormone surge in ovarian-intact rhesus macaques. Endocrinology. 1993 Oct 1;133(4):1650–6.
- 20. Sarkar DK, Chiappa SA, Fink G, Sherwood NM. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone surge in pro-oestrous rats. Nature. 1976 Dec;264(5585):461–3.
- Fevold HL, Hisaw FL, Leonard SL. THE GONAD STIMULATING AND THE LUTEINIZING HORMONES OF THE ANTERIOR LOBE OF THE HYPOPHESIS. Am J Physiol-Leg Content [Internet]. 1931 May 1 [cited 2024 Jan 9]; Available from: https://journals.physiology.org/doi/10.1152/ajplegacy.1931.97.2.291

- 22. Richards JS, Ascoli M. Endocrine, Paracrine, and Autocrine Signaling Pathways That Regulate Ovulation. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2018 May 1;29(5):313–25.
- 23. Pielecka-Fortuna J, Chu Z, Moenter SM. Kisspeptin Acts Directly and Indirectly to Increase Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neuron Activity and Its Effects Are Modulated by Estradiol. Endocrinology. 2008 Apr 1;149(4):1979–86.
- 24. Glanowska KM, Burger LL, Moenter SM. Development of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Secretion and Pituitary Response. J Neurosci. 2014 Nov 5;34(45):15060–9.
- 25. Han SK, Gottsch ML, Lee KJ, Popa SM, Smith JT, Jakawich SK, et al. Activation of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neurons by Kisspeptin as a Neuroendocrine Switch for the Onset of Puberty. J Neurosci. 2005 Dec 7;25(49):11349–56.
- 26. Akhter S, Marcus M, Kerber RA, Kong M, Taylor KC. The impact of periconceptional maternal stress on fecundability. Ann Epidemiol. 2016 Oct;26(10):710-716.e7.
- 27. Smith SM, Vale WW. The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2006;8(4):383–95.
- 28. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, et al. Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults. Am J Prev Med. 1998 May 1;14(4):245–58.
- 29. Anda RF, Felitti VJ, Bremner JD, Walker JD, Whitfield C, Perry BD, et al. The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. A convergence of evidence from neurobiology and epidemiology. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2006 Apr;256(3):174–86.
- 30. Boynton-Jarrett R, Harville EW. A prospective study of childhood social hardships and age at menarche. Ann Epidemiol. 2012;22(10):731–7.
- 31. Mendle J, Leve LD, Van Ryzin M, Natsuaki MN, Ge X. Associations Between Early Life Stress, Child Maltreatment, and Pubertal Development Among Girls in Foster Care. J Res Adolesc. 2011;21(4):871–80.
- 32. Mendle J, Ryan RM, McKone KM. Early Childhood Maltreatment and Pubertal Development: Replication in a Population-Based Sample. J Res Adolesc. 2016;26(3):595–602.
- Foster H, Hagan J, Brooks-Gunn J. Growing up fast: Stress exposure and subjective "weathering" in emerging adulthood. J Health Soc Behav. 2008;49(2):162–77.

- 34. Jacobs MB, Boynton-Jarrett RD, Harville EW. Adverse childhood event experiences, fertility difficulties and menstrual cycle characteristics. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol. 2015;36(2):46–57.
- 35. Harville EW, Boynton-Jarrett R. Childhood social hardships and fertility: A prospective cohort study. Ann Epidemiol. 2013 Dec 1;23(12):784-790.e1.
- 36. Wang D, Levine JLS, Avila-Quintero V, Bloch M, Kaffman A. Systematic review and meta-analysis: effects of maternal separation on anxiety-like behavior in rodents. Transl Psychiatry. 2020 Jun 1;10(1):1–12.
- 37. Molet J, Maras PM, Avishai-Eliner S, Baram TZ. Naturalistic rodent models of chronic early-life stress. Dev Psychobiol. 2014 Dec;56(8):1675–88.
- Walker CD, Bath KG, Joels M, Korosi A, Larauche M, Lucassen PJ, et al. Chronic early life stress induced by limited bedding and nesting (LBN) material in rodents: critical considerations of methodology, outcomes and translational potential. Stress. 2017 Sep 3;20(5):421–48.
- Brunson KL, Kramár E, Lin B, Chen Y, Colgin LL, Yanagihara TK, et al. Mechanisms of late-onset cognitive decline after early-life stress. J Neurosci. 2005;25(41):9328–38.
- 40. Ivy AS, Brunson KL, Sandman C, Baram TZ. Dysfunctional nurturing behavior in rat dams with limited access to nesting material: A clinically relevant model for early-life stress. Neuroscience. 2008;154(3):1132–42.
- 41. Molet J, Heins K, Zhuo X, Mei YT, Regev L, Baram TZ, et al. Fragmentation and high entropy of neonatal experience predict adolescent emotional outcome. Transl Psychiatry. 2016;6(October 2015).
- 42. Gallo M, Shleifer DG, Godoy LD, Ofray D, Olaniyan A, Campbell T, et al. Limited Bedding and Nesting Induces Maternal Behavior Resembling Both Hypervigilance and Abuse. Front Behav Neurosci. 2019;13(July):1–13.
- 43. Lim WL, Soga T, Parhar IS. Maternal dexamethasone exposure inhibits the gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuronal movement in the preoptic area of rat offspring. Dev Neurosci. 2014;36(2):95–107.
- 44. Lim WL, Soga T, Parhar IS. Maternal dexamethasone exposure during pregnancy in rats disrupts gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuronal development in the offspring. Cell Tissue Res. 2014;355(2):409–23.
- 45. Lim WL, Idris MM, Kevin FS, Soga T, Parhar IS. Maternal dexamethasone exposure alters synaptic inputs to gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons in the early postnatal rat. Front Endocrinol. 2016;7(AUG).

- 46. Soga Tomoko, Dalpatadu SL, Wong DW, Parhar IS. Neonatal dexamethasone exposure down-regulates GnRH expression through the GnIH pathway in female mice. Neuroscience. 2012;218:56–64.
- Ignatiuk VM, Izvolskaya MS, Sharova VS, Voronova SN, Zakharova LA. Disruptions in the reproductive system of female rats after prenatal lipopolysaccharide-induced immunological stress: role of sex steroids. Stress. 2019 Jan 2;22(1):133–41.
- 48. Iwasa T, Matsuzaki T, Murakami M, Kinouchi R, Gereltsetseg G, Nakazawa H, et al. Effects of lipopolysaccharide exposure at different postnatal time points on the response of LH to homotypic stress in adulthood. J Reprod Immunol. 2012;94(2):155–60.
- 49. Knox AMII, Li XF, Kinsey-Jones JS, Wilkinson ES, Wu XQ, Cheng YSS, et al. Neonatal lipopolysaccharide exposure delays puberty and alters hypothalamic kiss1 and kiss1r mRNA expression in the female rat. J Neuroendocrinol. 2009 Aug 1;21(8):683–9.
- Li XF, Kinsey-Jones JS, Knox AMI, Wu XQ, Tahsinsoy D, Brain SD, et al. Neonatal Lipopolysaccharide Exposure Exacerbates Stress-Induced Suppression of Luteinizing Hormone Pulse Frequency in Adulthood. Endocrinology. 2007 Dec;148(12):5984–90.
- 51. Solati J, Hajikhani R, Rashidieh B, Jalilian MF. Effects of prenatal lipopolysaccharide exposure on reproductive activities and serum concentrations of pituitary-gonadal hormones in mice offspring. Int J Fertil Steril. 2012 Apr;6(1):51–8.
- 52. Walker AK, Hiles SA, Sominsky L, McLaughlin EA, Hodgson DM. Neonatal lipopolysaccharide exposure impairs sexual development and reproductive success in the Wistar rat. Brain Behav Immun. 2011;25(4):674–84.
- 53. Wu XQ, Li XF, Ye B, Popat N, Milligan SR, Lightman SL, et al. Neonatal programming by immunological challenge: Effects on ovarian function in the adult rat. Reproduction. 2011;141(2):241–8.
- 54. Bodensteiner KJ, Christianson N, Siltumens A, Krzykowski J. Effects of early maternal separation on subsequent reproductive and behavioral outcomes in male rats. J Gen Psychol. 2014;141(3):228–46.
- 55. Cowan CSMM, Richardson R. Early-life stress leads to sex-dependent changes in pubertal timing in rats that are reversed by a probiotic formulation. Dev Psychobiol. 2019 Jul 24;61(5):679–87.
- 56. Manzano Nieves G, Schilit Nitenson A, Lee HI, Gallo M, Aguilar Z, Johnsen A, et al. Early Life Stress Delays Sexual Maturation in Female Mice. Front Mol Neurosci. 2019 Feb 26;12:27.

- 57. Knop J, van IJzendoorn MH, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, Joëls M, van der Veen R. The effects of different rearing conditions on sexual maturation and maternal care in heterozygous mineralocorticoid receptor knockout mice. Horm Behav. 2019 Jun 1;112:54–64.
- Caron E, Ciofi P, Prevot V, Bouret SG. Alteration in Neonatal Nutrition Causes Perturbations in Hypothalamic Neural Circuits Controlling Reproductive Function. J Neurosci. 2012 Aug 15;32(33):11486–94.
- Castellano JM, Bentsen AH, Sánchez-Garrido MA, Ruiz-Pino F, Romero M, Garcia-Galiano D, et al. Early Metabolic Programming of Puberty Onset: Impact of Changes in Postnatal Feeding and Rearing Conditions on the Timing of Puberty and Development of the Hypothalamic Kisspeptin System. Endocrinology. 2011 Sep 1;152(9):3396–408.
- 60. Kirkpatrick BW, Rutledge JJ. The Influence of Prenatal and Postnatal Fraternity Size on Reproduction in Mice. Biol Reprod. 1987 May 1;36(4):907–14.
- 61. Nelson RE, Robison OW. Effects of Postnatal Litter Size on Reproduction of Female Mice. J Anim Sci. 1976 Apr 1;42(4):824–30.
- Wu XQ, Li XF, Xia WT, Ye B, O'Byrne KT. The effects of small litter rearing on ovarian function at puberty and adulthood in the rat. Reprod Biol. 2016;16(2):130– 7.
- Rincón-Cortés M, Sullivan RM. Early Life Trauma and Attachment: Immediate and Enduring Effects on Neurobehavioral and Stress Axis Development. Front Endocrinol [Internet]. 2014 Mar 21 [cited 2024 Mar 21];5. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/endocrinology/articles/10.3389/fendo.2014.000 33/full
- Levine S, de Kloet ER, Dent G, Schmidt MS. Stress Hyporesponsive Period. In: Fink G, editor. Encyclopedia of Stress (Second Edition) [Internet]. New York: Academic Press; 2007 [cited 2024 Apr 1]. p. 606–11. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780123739476003615
- 65. Suchecki D. Maternal regulation of the infant's hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis stress response: Seymour 'Gig' Levine's legacy to neuroendocrinology. J Neuroendocrinol. 2018;30(7):e12610.
- 66. Levine S, Huchton DM, Wiener SG, Rosenfeld P. Time course of the effect of maternal deprivation on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the infant rat. Dev Psychobiol. 1991;24(8):547–58.
- Schmidt M, Levine S, Oitzl MS, van der Mark M, Müller MB, Holsboer F, et al. Glucocorticoid Receptor Blockade Disinhibits Pituitary-Adrenal Activity during the Stress Hyporesponsive Period of the Mouse. Endocrinology. 2005 Mar 1;146(3):1458–64.

- Walker CD, Scribner KA, Cascio CS, Dallman MF. The Pituitary-Adrenocortical System of Neonatal Rats Is Responsive to Stress throughout Development in a Time-Dependent and Stressor-Specific Fashion. Endocrinology. 1991 Mar 1;128(3):1385–95.
- 69. Yi SJ, Baram TZ. Corticotropin-releasing hormone mediates the response to cold stress in the neonatal rat without compensatory enhancement of the peptide's gene expression. Endocrinology. 1994 Dec 1;135(6):2364–8.
- 70. Schoenfeld NM, Leathem J., Rabii J. Maturation of Adrenal Stress Responsiveness in the Rat. Neuroendocrinology. 1980;31(2):101–5.
- 71. Levine S. The Ontogeny of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis. The Influence of Maternal Factorsa. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1994;746(1):275–88.
- 72. Avishai-Eliner S, Gilles EE, Eghbal-Ahmadi M, Bar-El Y, Baram TZ. Altered regulation of gene and protein expression of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis components in an immature rat model of chronic stress. J Neuroendocrinol. 2001;13(9):799–807.
- 73. Gilles EE, Schultz L, Baram TZ. Abnormal corticosterone regulation in an immature rat model of continuous chronic stress. Pediatr Neurol. 1996;15(2):114–9.
- Naninck EFG, Hoeijmakers L, Kakava-Georgiadou N, Meesters A, Lazic SE, Lucassen PJ, et al. Chronic early life stress alters developmental and adult neurogenesis and impairs cognitive function in mice. Hippocampus. 2015;25(3):309–28.
- Rice CJ, Sandman CA, Lenjavi MR, Baram TZ. A novel mouse model for acute and long-lasting consequences of early life stress. Endocrinology. 2008;149(10):4892– 900.
- Moussaoui N, Jacobs JP, Larauche M, Biraud M, Million M, Mayer E, et al. Chronic Early-life Stress in Rat Pups Alters Basal Corticosterone, Intestinal Permeability, and Fecal Microbiota at Weaning: Influence of Sex. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2017 Jan 1;23(1):135–43.
- 77. Arp JM, ter Horst JP, Loi M, den Blaauwen J, Bangert E, Fernández G, et al. Blocking glucocorticoid receptors at adolescent age prevents enhanced freezing between repeated cue-exposures after conditioned fear in adult mice raised under chronic early life stress. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 2016;133:30–8.
- 78. Bath KG, Manzano-Nieves G, Goodwill H. Early life stress accelerates behavioral and neural maturation of the hippocampus in male mice. Horm Behav. 2016;82:64–71.
- 79. Bonapersona V, Damsteegt R, Adams ML, van Weert LTCM, Meijer OC, Joëls M, et al. Sex-Dependent Modulation of Acute Stress Reactivity After Early Life Stress

in Mice: Relevance of Mineralocorticoid Receptor Expression. Front Behav Neurosci [Internet]. 2019 Aug 7 [cited 2024 Mar 24];13. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00181

- Marrocco J, Gray JD, Kogan JF, Einhorn NR, O'Cinneide EM, Rubin TG, et al. Early Life Stress Restricts Translational Reactivity in CA3 Neurons Associated With Altered Stress Responses in Adulthood. Front Behav Neurosci [Internet]. 2019 Jul 11 [cited 2024 Mar 24];13. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00157
- Matthiesen SMS, Frederiksen Y, Ingerslev HJ, Zachariae R. Stress, distress and outcome of assisted reproductive technology (ART): a meta-analysis. Hum Reprod. 2011 Aug 1;26(10):2763–76.
- 82. Klonoff-Cohen H, Chu E, Natarajan L, Sieber W. A prospective study of stress among women undergoing in vitro fertilization or gamete intrafallopian transfer. Fertil Steril. 2001 Oct 1;76(4):675–87.
- 83. Saketos M, Sharma N, Santoro NF. Suppression of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Ovarian Axis in Normal Women by Glucocorticoids. Biol Reprod. 1993 Dec 1;49(6):1270–6.
- 84. Sakakura M, Takebe K, Nakagawa S. Inhibition of Luteinizing Hormone Secretion Induced by Synthetic LRH by Long-term Treatment with Glucocorticoids in Human Subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1975 May 1;40(5):774–9.
- 85. Moenter SM, Caraty A, Karsch FredJJ. The Estradiol-Induced Surge of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone in the Ewe. Endocrinology. 1990 Sep 1;127(3):1375–84.
- 86. Döcke F, Dörner G. The mechanism of the induction of ovulation by oestrogens. J Endocrinol. 1965 Nov;33(3):491–9.
- 87. Moenter SM, Caraty A, Locatelli A, Karsch FJ. Pattern of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) Secretion Leading up to Ovulation in the Ewe: Existence of a Preovulatory GnRH Surge. Endocrinology. 1991 Sep 1;129(3):1175–82.
- Dubey AK, Plant TM. A Suppression of Gonadotropin Secretion by Cortisol in Castrated Male Rhesus Monkeys (Macaca Mulatta) Mediated by the Interruption of Hypothalamic Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Release. Biol Reprod. 1985 Sep 1;33(2):423–31.
- 89. Plant TM, Zorub DS. A Study of the Role of the Adrenal Glands in the Initiation of the Hiatus in Gonadotropin Secretion during Prepubertal Development in the Male Rhesus Monkey (Macaca mulatto). Endocrinology. 1984 Feb 1;114(2):560–5.

- 90. Gindoff PR, Ferin M. Endogenous Opioid Peptides Modulate the Effect of Corticotropin-Releasing Factor on Gonadotropin Release in the Primate. Endocrinology. 1987 Sep;121(3):837–42.
- Olster DH, Ferin M. Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone Inhibits Gonadotropin Secretion in the Ovariectomized Rhesus Monkey. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1987 Aug 1;65(2):262–7.
- 92. Xiao E, Luckhaus J, Niemann W, Ferin M. Acute Inhibition of Gonadotropin Secretion by Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone in the Primate: Are the Adrenal Glands Involved? Endocrinology. 1989 Apr 1;124(4):1632–7.
- 93. Wilson RC, Kesner JS, Kaufman JM, Uemura T, Akema T, Knobil E. Central electrophysiologic correlates of pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion in the rhesus monkey. Neuroendocrinology. 1984;39(3):256–60.
- Williams CL, Nishihara M, Thalabard JC, Grosser PM, Hotchkiss J, Knobil E. Corticotropin-Releasing Factor and Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Pulse Generator Activity in the Rhesus Monkey. Neuroendocrinology. 1990;52(2):133–7.
- 95. Xiao E, Xia-Zhang L, Ferin M. Inhibitory Effects of Endotoxin on LH Secretion in the Ovariectomized Monkey Are Prevented by Naloxone but Not by an Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist. Neuroimmunomodulation. 1999 Dec 15;7(1):6–15.
- O'Byrne KT, Lunn SF, Dixson AF. Effects of acute stress on the patterns of LH secretion in the common marmoset (Callithrix jacchus). J Endocrinol. 1988;118(2):259–64.
- O'Byrne KT, Lunn SF, Dixson AF. Naloxone reversal of stress-induced suppression of LH release in the common marmoset. Physiol Behav. 1989 May 1;45(5):1077– 80.
- Norman RL, McGlone J, Smith CJ. Restraint Inhibits Luteinizing Hormone Secretion in the Follicular Phase of the Menstrual Cycle in Rhesus Macaques. Biol Reprod. 1994 Jan 1;50(1):16–26.
- 99. Norman RL, Smith CJ. Restraint inhibits luteinizing hormone and testosterone secretion in intact male rhesus macaques: effects of concurrent naloxone administration. Neuroendocrinology. 1992 Apr;55(4):405–15.
- 100. Battaglia DF, Bowen JM, Krasa HB, Thrun LA, Viguié C, Karsch FJ. Endotoxin Inhibits the Reproductive Neuroendocrine Axis While Stimulating Adrenal Steroids: A Simultaneous View from Hypophyseal Portal and Peripheral Blood*. Endocrinology. 1997 Oct 1;138(10):4273–81.
- 101. Williams CY, Harris TG, Battaglia DF, Viguié C, Karsch FJ. Endotoxin Inhibits Pituitary Responsiveness to Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone. Endocrinology. 2001 May 1;142(5):1915–22.

- 102. Battaglia DF, Beaver AB, Harris TG, Tanhehco E, Viguié C, Karsch FJ. Endotoxin Disrupts the Estradiol-Induced Luteinizing Hormone Surge: Interference with Estradiol Signal Reading, Not Surge Release. Endocrinology. 1999 Jun 1;140(6):2471–9.
- 103. Breen KM, Billings HJ, Debus N, Karsch FJ. Endotoxin inhibits the surge secretion of gonadotropin-releasing hormone via a prostaglandin-independent pathway. Endocrinology. 2004 Jan;145(1):221–7.
- 104. Debus N, Breen KM, Barrell GK, Billings HJ, Brown M, Young EA, et al. Does Cortisol Mediate Endotoxin-Induced Inhibition of Pulsatile Luteinizing Hormone and Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Secretion? Endocrinology. 2002 Oct 1;143(10):3748–58.
- 105. Breen KM, Karsch FJ. Does Cortisol Inhibit Pulsatile Luteinizing Hormone Secretion at the Hypothalamic or Pituitary Level? Endocrinology. 2004;145(2):692– 8.
- 106. Oakley AE, Breen KM, Clarke IJ, Karsch FJ, Wagenmaker ER, Tilbrook AJ. Cortisol reduces gonadotropin-releasing hormone pulse frequency in follicular phase ewes: Influence of ovarian steroids. Endocrinology. 2009;150(1):341–9.
- 107. Oakley AE, Breen KM, Tilbrook AJ, Wagenmaker ER, Karsch FJ. Role of estradiol in cortisol-induced reduction of luteinizing hormone pulse frequency. Endocrinology. 2009;150(6):2775–82.
- 108. Breen KM, Stackpole CA, Clarke IJ, Pytiak AV, Tilbrook AJ, Wagenmaker ER, et al. Does the type II glucocorticoid receptor mediate cortisol-induced suppression in pituitary responsiveness to gonadotropin-releasing hormone? Endocrinology. 2004;145(6):2739–46.
- 109. Breen KM, Billings HJ, Wagenmaker ER, Wessinger EW, Karsch FJ. Endocrine basis for disruptive effects of cortisol on preovulatory events. Endocrinology. 2005;146(4):2107–15.
- 110. Macfarlane MS, Breen KM, Sakurai H, Adams BM, Adams TE. Effect of duration of infusion of stress-like concentrations of cortisol on follicular development and the preovulatory surge of LH in sheep. Anim Reprod Sci. 2000 Nov 1;63(3):167–75.
- 111. Wagenmaker ER, Breen KM, Oakley AE, Pierce BN, Tilbrook AJ, Turner AI, et al. Cortisol Interferes with the Estradiol-Induced Surge of Luteinizing Hormone in the Ewe. Biol Reprod. 2009;80(3):458–63.
- 112. Rasmussen DD, Malven PV. Effects of Confinement Stress on Episodic Secretion of LH in Ovariectomized Sheep. Neuroendocrinology. 1983 May 1;36(5):392–6.
- 113. Tilbrook AJ, Canny BJ, Serapiglia MD, Ambrose TJ, Clarke IJ. Suppression of the secretion of luteinizing hormone due to isolation/restraint stress in gonadectomised

rams and ewes is influenced by sex steroids. J Endocrinol. 1999 Mar 1;160(3):469–81.

- 114. Breen KM, Oakley AE, Pytiak AV, Tilbrook AJ, Wagenmaker ER, Karsch FJ. Does cortisol acting via the type II glucocorticoid receptor mediate suppression of pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion in response to psychosocial stress? Endocrinology. 2007;148(4):1882–90.
- 115. Wagenmaker ER, Breen KM, Oakley AE, Tilbrook AJ, Karsch FJ. Psychosocial stress inhibits amplitude of gonadotropin-releasing hormone pulses Independent of cortisol action on the type II glucocorticoid receptor. Endocrinology. 2009;150(2):762–9.
- 116. Matteri RL, Watson JG, Moberg GP. Stress or acute adrenocorticotrophin treatment suppresses LHRH-induced LH release in the ram. Reproduction. 1984 Nov 1;72(2):385–93.
- 117. Wagenmaker ER, Breen KM, Oakley AE, Tilbrook AJ, Karsch FJ. The Estrous Cycle of the Ewe Is Resistant to Disruption by Repeated, Acute Psychosocial Stress. Biol Reprod. 2010;82(6):1206–15.
- 118. Kinsey-Jones JS, Li XF, Knox AMI, Wilkinson ES, Zhu XL, Chaudhary AA, et al. Down-regulation of hypothalamic kisspeptin and its receptor, Kiss1r, mRNA expression is associated with stress-induced suppression of luteinising hormone secretion in the female rat. J Neuroendocrinol. 2009 Jan 1;21(1):20–9.
- 119. Li XF, Bowe JE, Kinsey-Jones JS, Brain SD, Lightman SL, O'Byrne KT. Differential role of corticotropin-releasing factor receptor types 1 and 2 in stress-induced supression of pulsatile luteinising hormone secretion in the female rat. J Neuroendocrinol. 2006;18(8):602–10.
- 120. Li XF, Shao B, Lin CC, O'Byrne KT, Lin YS. Stress-induced inhibition of LH pulses in female rats: Role of GABA in arcuate nucleus. J Mol Endocrinol. 2015;55(1):9– 19.
- 121. Lin Y, Li X, Lupi M, Kinsey-Jones JS, Shao B, Lightman SL, et al. The role of the medial and central amygdala in stress-induced suppression of pulsatile LH secretion in female rats. Endocrinology. 2011;152(2):545–55.
- 122. Li XF, Bowe JE, Lightman SL, O'Byrne KT. Role of corticotropin-releasing factor receptor-2 in stress-induced suppression of pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion in the rat. Endocrinology. 2005;146(1):318–22.
- 123. Yoo MJ, Nishihara M, Takahashi M. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediates endotoxin induced suppression of gonadotropin-releasing hormone pulse generator activity in the rat. Endocr J. 1997 Feb;44(1):141–8.

- 124. Clarkson J, Han SY, Piet R, McLennan T, Kane GM, Ng J, et al. Definition of the hypothalamic GnRH pulse generator in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017 Nov 21;114(47):E10216–23.
- 125. Han SY, McLennan T, Czieselsky K, Herbison AE. Selective optogenetic activation of arcuate kisspeptin neurons generates pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015 Oct 20;112(42):13109–14.
- 126. McQuillan HJ, Han SY, Cheong I, Herbison AE. GnRH Pulse Generator Activity Across the Estrous Cycle of Female Mice. Endocrinology. 2019;160:1480–91.
- 127. Czieselsky K, Prescott M, Porteous R, Campos P, Clarkson J, Steyn FJ, et al. Pulse and surge profiles of luteinizing hormone secretion in the mouse. Endocrinology. 2016 Dec 1;157(12):4794–802.
- 128. McCosh RB, Kreisman MJ, Breen KM. Frequent Tail-tip Blood Sampling in Mice for the Assessment of Pulsatile Luteinizing Hormone Secretion. J Vis Exp. 2018 Jul 4;(137):e57894.
- 129. Steyn FJ, Wan Y, Clarkson J, Veldhuis JD, Herbison AE, Chen C. Development of a Methodology for and Assessment of Pulsatile Luteinizing Hormone Secretion in Juvenile and Adult Male Mice. Endocrinology. 2013 Dec 1;154(12):4939–45.
- 130. Yang JA, Song CI, Hughes JK, Kreisman MJ, Parra RA, Haisenleder DJ, et al. Acute psychosocial stress inhibits LH pulsatility and Kiss1 neuronal activation in female mice. Endocrinology. 2017;158(11):3716–23.
- 131. Kreisman MJ, McCosh RB, Tian K, Song CI, Breen KM. Estradiol Enables Chronic Corticosterone to Inhibit Pulsatile Luteinizing Hormone Secretion and Suppress Kiss1 Neuronal Activation in Female Mice. Neuroendocrinology. 2020;110(6):501– 16.
- 132. Jeong KH, Jacobson L, Widmaier EP, Majzoub JA. Normal suppression of the reproductive axis following stress in corticotropin-releasing hormone-deficient mice. Endocrinology. 1999;140(4):1702–8.
- 133. Roozendaal MM, Swarts HJM, Wiegant VM, Mattheij JAM. Effect of restraint stress on the preovulatory luteinizing hormone profile and ovulation in the rat. Eur J Endocrinol. 1995 Sep 1;133(3):347–53.
- 134. Wagenmaker ER, Moenter SM. Exposure to acute psychosocial stress disrupts the luteinizing hormone surge independent of estrous cycle alterations in female mice. Endocrinology. 2017;158(8):2593–602.
- 135. Christian CA, Mobley JL, Moenter SM. Diurnal and estradiol-dependent changes in gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuron firing activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2005 Oct 25;102(43):15682–7.

- 136. Hrabovszky E, Shughrue PJ, Merchenthaler I, Hajszán T, Carpenter CD, Liposits Z, et al. Detection of Estrogen Receptor-β Messenger Ribonucleic Acid and ¹²⁵ I-Estrogen Binding Sites in Luteinizing Hormone-Releasing Hormone Neurons of the Rat Brain. Endocrinology. 2000 Sep 1;141(9):3506–9.
- 137. Wintermantel TM, Campbell RE, Porteous R, Bock D, Gröne HJ, Todman MG, et al. Definition of Estrogen Receptor Pathway Critical for Estrogen Positive Feedback to Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neurons and Fertility. Neuron. 2006 Oct 19;52(2):271–80.
- 138. Silveira MA, Burger LL, DeFazio RA, Wagenmaker ER, Moenter SM. GnRH Neuron Activity and Pituitary Response in Estradiol-Induced vs Proestrous Luteinizing Hormone Surges in Female Mice. Endocrinology. 2017 Feb 1;158(2):356–66.
- 139. Adams C, Chen X, Moenter SM. Changes in GABAergic Transmission to and Intrinsic Excitability of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) Neurons during the Estrous Cycle in Mice. eneuro. 2018 Sep;5(5):ENEURO.0171-18.2018.
- 140. Christian CA, Moenter SM. Estradiol Induces Diurnal Shifts in GABA Transmission to Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neurons to Provide a Neural Signal for Ovulation. J Neurosci. 2007 Feb 21;27(8):1913–21.
- 141. DeFazio RA, Heger S, Ojeda SR, Moenter SM. Activation of A-Type γ-Aminobutyric Acid Receptors Excites Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neurons. Mol Endocrinol. 2002 Dec;16(12):2872–91.
- 142. Leranth C, MacLusky NJ, Sakamoto H, Shanabrough M, Naftolin F. Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase-Containing Axons Synapse on LHRH Neurons in the Rat Medial Preoptic Area. Neuroendocrinology. 1985;40(6):536–9.
- 143. Jansen HT, Cutter C, Hardy S, Lehman MN, Goodman RL. Seasonal Plasticity within the Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) System of the Ewe: Changes in Identified GnRH Inputs and Glial Association. Endocrinology. 2003 Aug;144(8):3663–76.
- 144. Chu Z, Moenter SM. Endogenous activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors modulates GABAergic transmission to gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons and alters their firing rate: a possible local feedback circuit. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2005 Jun 15;25(24):5740–9.
- 145. Sullivan SD, Moenter SM. Neurosteroids Alter γ-Aminobutyric Acid Postsynaptic Currents in Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neurons: A Possible Mechanism for Direct Steroidal Control. Endocrinology. 2003 Oct 1;144(10):4366–75.
- 146. Cravo RM, Margatho LO, Osborne-Lawrence S, Donato J, Atkin S, Bookout AL, et al. Characterization of Kiss1 neurons using transgenic mouse models. Neuroscience. 2011 Jan 26;173:37–56.

- 147. Piet R, Kalil B, McLennan T, Porteous R, Czieselsky K, Herbison AE. Dominant Neuropeptide Cotransmission in Kisspeptin-GABA Regulation of GnRH Neuron Firing Driving Ovulation. J Neurosci. 2018 Jul 11;38(28):6310–22.
- 148. Smith JT, Cunningham MJ, Rissman EF, Clifton DK, Steiner RA. Regulation of *Kiss1* Gene Expression in the Brain of the Female Mouse. Endocrinology. 2005 Sep 1;146(9):3686–92.
- 149. Wang L, Vanacker C, Burger LL, Barnes T, Shah YM, Myers MG, et al. Genetic dissection of the different roles of hypothalamic kisspeptin neurons in regulating female reproduction. eLife. 2019;8:1–26.
- 150. Naylor AM, Porter DWF, Lincoln DW. Central administration of corticotropinreleasing factor in the sheep: Effects on secretion of gonadotrophins, prolactin and cortisol. J Endocrinol. 1990 Jan 1;124(1):117–25.
- 151. Caraty A, Miller DW, Delaleu B, Martin GB. Stimulation of LH secretion in sheep by central administration of corticotrophin-releasing hormone. J Reprod Fertil. 1997;111(2):249–57.
- 152. Tilbrook AJ, Canny BJ, Stewart BJ, Serapiglia MD, Clarke IJ. Central administration of corticotrophin releasing hormone but not arginine vasopressin stimulates the secretion of luteinizing hormone in rams in the presence and absence of testosterone. J Endocrinol. 1999 Aug 1;162(2):301–11.
- 153. Jahn O, Tezval H, van Werven L, Eckart K, Spiess J. Three-amino acid motifs of urocortin II and III determine their CRF receptor subtype selectivity. Neuropharmacology. 2004 Aug 1;47(2):233–42.
- 154. Phumsatitpong C, Moenter SM. Estradiol-Dependent Stimulation and Suppression of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neuron Firing Activity by Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone in Female Mice. Endocrinology. 2018 Jan 1;159(1):414–25.
- 155. Tasker JG, Joëls M. The Synaptic Physiology of the Central Nervous System Response to Stress. Neuroendocrinol Stress. 2015;(August):43–70.
- 156. Verkuyl JM, Karst H, Joëls M. GABAergic transmission in the rat paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus is suppressed by corticosterone and stress. Eur J Neurosci. 2005;21(1):113–21.
- 157. Hewitt SA, Wamsteeker JI, Kurz EU, Bains JS. Altered chloride homeostasis removes synaptic inhibitory constraint of the stress axis. Nat Neurosci. 2009 Apr 1;12(4):438–43.
- 158. Kaila K. Ionic basis of GABAA receptor channel function in the nervous system. Prog Neurobiol. 1994 Mar 1;42(4):489–537.

- 159. Clarke IJ, Horton RJE, Doughton BW. Investigation of the Mechanism by which Insulin-Induced Hypoglycemia Decreases Luteinizing Hormone Secretion in Ovariectomized Ewes. Endocrinology. 1990 Sep 1;127(3):1470–6.
- 160. Harris TG, Battaglia DF, E. Brown M, Brown MB, Carlson NE, Viguié C, et al. Prostaglandins Mediate the Endotoxin-Induced Suppression of Pulsatile Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone and Luteinizing Hormone Secretion in the Ewe. Endocrinology. 2000 Mar 1;141(3):1050–8.
- 161. Phogat JB, Smith RF, Dobson H. Effect of transport on pituitary responsiveness to exogenous pulsatile GnRH and oestradiol-induced LH release in intact ewes. Reproduction. 1999 May 1;116(1):9–18.
- 162. Polkowska J, Przekop F. The effect of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) on the gonadotropin hormone releasing hormone (GnRH) hypothalamic neuronal system during preovulatory period in the ewe. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Warsz). 1997 Jun 30;57(2):91–9.
- 163. Rivier C, Vale W. Influence of Corticotropin-Releasing Factor on Reproductive Functions in the Rat. Endocrinology. 1984 Mar;114(3):914–21.
- 164. Ebisui O, Fukata J, Tominaga T, Murakami N, Kobayashi H, Segawa H, et al. Roles of interleukin-1 alpha and -1 beta in endotoxin-induced suppression of plasma gonadotropin levels in rats. Endocrinology. 1992 Jun;130(6):3307–13.
- 165. Rivier C. Role of Endotoxin and Interleukin-1 in Modulating ACTH, LH and Sex Steroid Secretion. In: Porter JC, Ježová D, editors. Circulating Regulatory Factors and Neuroendocrine Function [Internet]. Boston, MA: Springer US; 1990 [cited 2024 Mar 29]. p. 295–301. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-5799-5_18
- 166. Suter DE, Schwartz NB, Ringstrom SJ. Dual role of glucocorticoids in regulation of pituitary content and secretion of gonadotropins. Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab. 1988 May;254(5):E595–600.
- 167. Petraglia F, Sutton S, Vale W, Plotsky P. Corticotropin-Releasing Factor Decreases Plasma Luteinizing Hormone Levels in Female Rats by Inhibiting Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Release into Hypophysial-Portal Circulation. Endocrinology. 1987 Mar 1;120(3):1083–8.
- 168. Cates PS, Li XF, O'Byrne KT. The Influence of 17β-oestradiol on Corticotrophinreleasing Hormone Induced Suppression of Luteinising Hormone Pulses and the Role of CRH in Hypoglycaemic Stress-induced Suppression of Pulsatile LH Secretion in the Female Rat. Stress. 2004 Jun 7;7(2):113–8.
- 169. Rivier C, Vale W. Cytokines Act within the Brain to Inhibit Luteinizing Hormone Secretion and Ovulation in the Rat. Endocrinology. 1990 Aug;127(2):849–56.

- 170. Roozendaal MM, Swarts JJM, Wolbers WB, Threels A, Wiegant VM, Mattheij J a.
 M. Effect of CRH on the Preovulatory LH and FSH Surge in the Cyclic Rat: a Role for Arginine Vasopressin? J Neuroendocrinol. 1996;8(10):765–70.
- 171. Luo E, Stephens SBZ, Chaing S, Munaganuru N, Kauffman AS, Breen KM. Corticosterone Blocks Ovarian Cyclicity and the LH Surge via Decreased Kisspeptin Neuron Activation in Female Mice. Endocrinology. 2016 Mar 1;157(3):1187–99.
- 172. Chrousos GP, Torpy DJ, Gold PW. Interactions between the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis and the female reproductive system: Clinical implications. Ann Intern Med. 1998 Aug 1;129(3):229–40.
- 173. Knop J, van IJzendoorn MH, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, Joëls M, van der Veen R. Maternal care of heterozygous dopamine receptor D4 knockout mice: Differential susceptibility to early-life rearing conditions. Genes Brain Behav. 2020;19(7):e12655.
- 174. Davis LK, Bolton JL, Hanson H, Guarraci FA. Modified limited bedding and nesting is a model of early-life stress that affects reproductive physiology and behavior in female and male Long-Evans rats. Physiol Behav. 2020 Jun 27;224:113037.
- 175. Eck SR, Ardekani CS, Salvatore M, Luz S, Kim ED, Rogers CM, et al. The effects of early life adversity on growth, maturation, and steroid hormones in male and female rats. Eur J Neurosci. 2020 Jul 1;52(1):2664–80.
- 176. McCosh RB, Breen KM, Kauffman AS. Neural and endocrine mechanisms underlying stress-induced suppression of pulsatile LH secretion. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2019;498(July):110579.
- 177. Phumsatitpong C, Wagenmaker ER, Moenter SM. Neuroendocrine interactions of the stress and reproductive axes. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2021 Oct 1;63:100928.
- 178. Toufexis D, Rivarola MA, Lara H, Viau V. Stress and the reproductive axis. J Neuroendocrinol. 2014 Sep 1;26(9):573–86.
- 179. Peña CJ, Nestler EJ, Bagot RC. Environmental programming of susceptibility and resilience to stress in adulthood in male mice. Front Behav Neurosci. 2019;13(March):1–13.
- 180. Suter KJ, Song WJ, Sampson TL, Wuarin JP, Saunders JT, Dudek FE, et al. Genetic Targeting of Green Fluorescent Protein to Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neurons: Characterization of Whole-Cell Electrophysiological Properties and Morphology. Endocrinology. 2000;141(1):412–9.
- 181. Korenbrot CC, Huhtaniemi IT, Weiner RI. Preputial Separation as an External Sign of Pubertal Development in the Male Rat1. Biol Reprod. 1977;17(2):298–303.

- 182. Nelson JF, Karelus K, Felicio LS, Johnson TE. Genetic Influences on the Timing of Puberty in Mice. Biol Reprod. 1990 Apr 1;42(4):649–55.
- 183. Ojeda SR, Urbanski HF, Ahmed CE. The Onset of Female Puberty: Studies in the Rat. In: Greep RO, editor. Proceedings of the 1985 Laurentian Hormone Conference [Internet]. Boston: Academic Press; 1986 [cited 2023 May 13]. p. 385– 442. (Recent Progress in Hormone Research; vol. 42). Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780125711425500136
- 184. Byers SL, Wiles MV, Dunn SL, Taft RA. Mouse estrous cycle identification tool and images. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(4):1–5.
- 185. Caligioni CS. Assessing reproductive status/stages in mice. Curr Protoc Neurosci. 2009;(SUPPL. 48):1–8.
- 186. Goldman JM, Murr AS, Cooper RL. The Rodent Estrous Cycle: Characterization of Vaginal Cytology and Its Utility in Toxicological Studies. Birth Defects Res. 2007;80(2):83–97.
- 187. Gibson AG. P3.34 Acute stress that disrupts the LH surge does not alter excitatory input to GnRH neurons and cannot be recapitulated by corticosterone. Poster presented at: Annual meeting of the Society for Behavioral Neuroendocrinology; 2023 Jun 26; Tours, France.
- 188. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing [Internet]. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2023. Available from: https://www.r-project.org/
- 189. Kassambara A. rstatix: Pipe-Friendly Framework for Basic Statistical Tests [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/package=rstatix
- 190. Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. J Stat Softw. 2015 Oct 7;67:1–48.
- 191. Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB. ImerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. J Stat Softw. 2017 Dec 6;82:1–26.
- 192. Bojanowski M. Ispline: Linear Splines with Convenient Parametrisations [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2024 Jan 9]. Available from: https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/lspline/index.html
- 193. Singmann H, Bolker B, Westfall J, Aust F, Ben-Shachar MS, Højsgaard S, et al. afex: Analysis of Factorial Experiments [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Jan 9]. Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/afex/index.html
- 194. Lenth RV, Bolker B, Buerkner P, Giné-Vázquez I, Herve M, Jung M, et al. emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means [Internet]. 2023

[cited 2024 Jan 9]. Available from: https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/emmeans/index.html

- 195. Noguchi K, Gel YR, Brunner E, Konietschke F. nparLD: An R Software Package for the Nonparametric Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Factorial Experiments. J Stat Softw. 2012 Sep 18;50:1–23.
- 196. Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis [Internet]. Springer-Verlag New York; 2016. Available from: https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org
- 197. Wilke CO. cowplot: Streamlined Plot Theme and Plot Annotations for "ggplot2" [Internet]. 2023. Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/package=cowplot
- 198. Gohel D, Skintzos P. flextable: Functions for Tabular Reporting [Internet]. 2023. Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/package=flextable
- 199. Singmann H, Kellen D. An Introduction to Mixed Models for Experimental Psychology. In: New Methods in Cognitive Psychology. Routledge; 2019.
- 200. Pernold K, Iannello F, Low BE, Rigamonti M, Rosati G, Scavizzi F, et al. Towards large scale automated cage monitoring – Diurnal rhythm and impact of interventions on in-cage activity of C57BL/6J mice recorded 24/7 with a nondisrupting capacitive-based technique. PLOS ONE. 2019 Feb 4;14(2):e0211063.
- 201. Scholz F, Zhu A. kSamples: K-Sample Rank Tests and their Combinations [Internet]. 2023. Available from: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=kSamples
- 202. Ho J, Tumkaya T, Aryal S, Choi H, Claridge-Chang A. Moving beyond P values: data analysis with estimation graphics. Nat Methods. 2019 Jul;16(7):565–6.
- 203. McLaughlin RJ, Verlezza S, Gray JM, Hill MN, Walker CD. Inhibition of anandamide hydrolysis dampens the neuroendocrine response to stress in neonatal rats subjected to suboptimal rearing conditions. Stress. 2016 Jan 2;19(1):114–24.
- 204. Moussaoui N, Larauche M, Biraud M, Molet J, Million M, Mayer E, et al. Limited Nesting Stress Alters Maternal Behavior and In Vivo Intestinal Permeability in Male Wistar Pup Rats. PLOS ONE. 2016 May 5;11(5):e0155037.
- 205. Pardo GVE, Alfaro Saca EE, Becerra Flores CT, Delgado Casós WF, Pacheco-Otalora LF. Limited bedding nesting paradigm alters maternal behavior and pup's early developmental milestones but did not induce anxiety- or depressive-like behavior in two different inbred mice. Dev Psychobiol. 2023;65(1):e22357.
- 206. Ferraz MR, Cavalheira MA, Macena de Santana AO, Barboza VN, da Silva Nântua M, Santos LN, et al. Double perinatal stress reduces the sexual response of adult female Wistar rats. J Sex Med. 2023 Jun 1;20(6):742–8.

- 207. Rhees RW, Lephart ED, Eliason D. Effects of maternal separation during early postnatal development on male sexual behavior and female reproductive function. Behav Brain Res. 2001;123(1):1–10.
- 208. Wang L, Moenter SM. Differential Roles of Hypothalamic AVPV and Arcuate Kisspeptin Neurons in Estradiol Feedback Regulation of Female Reproduction. Neuroendocrinology. 2020 Feb 1;110(3–4):172–84.
- 209. Levy BH, Tasker JG. Synaptic regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and its modulation by glucocorticoids and stress. Front Cell Neurosci. 2012;6(MAY 2012):1–13.
- 210. Agus S, Yavuz Y, Atasoy D, Yilmaz B. Postweaning Social Isolation Alters Puberty Onset by Suppressing Electrical Activity of Arcuate Kisspeptin Neurons. Neuroendocrinology. 2024 Jan 25;1–14.
- 211. Atkinson HC, Waddell BJ. Circadian Variation in Basal Plasma Corticosterone and Adrenocorticotropin in the Rat: Sexual Dimorphism and Changes across the Estrous Cycle*. Endocrinology. 1997 Sep 1;138(9):3842–8.
- 212. Critchlow V, Liebelt RA, Bar-Sela M, Mountcastle W, Lipscomb HS. Sex difference in resting pituitary-adrenal function in the rat. Am J Physiol-Leg Content. 1963 Nov;205(5):807–15.
- 213. Seale JV, Wood SA, Atkinson HC, Bate E, Lightman SL, Ingram CD, et al. Gonadectomy Reverses The Sexually Diergic Patterns Of Circadian and Stress-Induced Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Activity In Male and Female Rats. J Neuroendocrinol. 2004;16(6):516–24.
- 214. Heck AL, Handa RJ. Sex differences in the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis' response to stress: an important role for gonadal hormones. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2019;44(1):45–58.
- 215. Babb JA, Masini CV, Day HEW, Campeau S. Sex differences in activated corticotropin-releasing factor neurons within stress-related neurocircuitry and hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenocortical axis hormones following restraint in rats. Neuroscience. 2013 Mar 27;234:40–52.
- 216. Viau V, Bingham B, Davis J, Lee P, Wong M. Gender and Puberty Interact on the Stress-Induced Activation of Parvocellular Neurosecretory Neurons and Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone Messenger Ribonucleic Acid Expression in the Rat. Endocrinology. 2005;146(1):137–46.
- 217. Viau V, Meaney MJ. Variations in the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Response to Stress during the Estrous Cycle in the Rat. Endocrinology. 1991 Nov 1;129(5):2503–11.

- 218. Baron S, Brush FR. Effects of acute and chronic restraint and estrus cycle on pituitary-adrenal function in the rat. Horm Behav. 1979 Jun 1;12(3):218–24.
- 219. Iwasaki-Sekino A, Mano-Otagiri A, Ohata H, Yamauchi N, Shibasaki T. Gender differences in corticotropin and corticosterone secretion and corticotropin-releasing factor mRNA expression in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus and the central nucleus of the amygdala in response to footshock stress or psychological. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2009 Feb 1;34(2):226–37.
- 220. Alcami P, Franconville R, Llano I, Marty A. Measuring the firing rate of highresistance neurons with cell-attached recording. J Neurosci. 2012 Feb 29;32(9):3118–30.
- 221. Nunemaker CS, DeFazio RA, Moenter SM. A targeted extracellular approach for recording long-term firing patterns of excitable cells: a practical guide. Biol Proced Online. 2003 Feb;5(1):53–62.
- 222. Refojo D, Schweizer M, Kuehne C, Ehrenberg S, Thoeringer C, Vogl AM, et al. Glutamatergic and dopaminergic neurons mediate anxiogenic and anxiolytic effects of CRHR1. Science. 2011;333(6051):1903–7.
- 223. Dedic N, Kühne C, Gomes KS, Hartmann J, Ressler KJ, Schmidt MV, et al. Deletion of CRH From GABAergic Forebrain Neurons Promotes Stress Resilience and Dampens Stress-Induced Changes in Neuronal Activity. Front Neurosci. 2019;13(September):1–16.
- 224. Barbarino A, De Marinis L, Tofani A, Della Casa S, D'Amico C, Mancini A, et al. Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone Inhibition of Gonadotropin Release and the Effect of Opioid Blockade. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1989 Mar;68(3):523–8.
- 225. Rivier C, Rivier J, Vale W. Stress-induced inhibition of reproductive functions: Role of endogenous corticotropin-releasing factor. Science. 1986 Feb 7;231(4738):607–9.
- 226. Yip SH, Liu X, Hessler S, Cheong I, Porteous R, Herbison AE. Indirect Suppression of Pulsatile LH Secretion by CRH Neurons in the Female Mouse. Endocrinology. 2021;162(3):1–17.
- 227. Rivest S, Rivier C. Influence of the Paraventricular Nucleus of the Hypothalamus in the Alteration of Neuroendocrine Functions Induced by Intermittent Footshock or Interleukin. Endocrinology. 1991 Oct 1;129(4):2049–57.
- 228. Dragunow M, Faull R. The use of c-fos as a metabolic marker in neuronal pathway tracing. J Neurosci Methods. 1989 Sep;29(3):261–5.
- 229. Ceccatelli S, Villar MJ, Goldstein M, Hökfelt T. Expression of c-Fos immunoreactivity in transmitter-characterized neurons after stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1989 Dec;86(23):9569–73.

- 230. Krashes MJ, Shah BP, Madara JC, Olson DP, Strochlic DE, Garfield AS, et al. An excitatory paraventricular nucleus to AgRP neuron circuit that drives hunger. Nature. 2014 Mar 2;507(7491):238–42.
- 231. Hahn JD, Kalamatianos T, Coen CW. Studies on the Neuroanatomical Basis for Stress-Induced Oestrogen-Potentiated Suppression of Reproductive Function: Evidence Against Direct Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone Projections to the Vicinity of Luteinizing Hormone-Releasing Hormone Cell Bodies in. J Neuroendocrinol. 2003 Jul 1;15(8):732–42.
- 232. Rivalland ETA, Tilbrook AJ, Turner AI, Iqbal J, Pompolo S, Clarke IJ. Projections to the preoptic area from the paraventricular nucleus, arcuate nucleus and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis are unlikely to be involved in stress-induced suppression of GnRH secretion in sheep. Neuroendocrinology. 2006;84(1):1–13.
- 233. Ghuman SPS, Morris R, Spiller DG, Smith RF, Dobson H. Integration between different hypothalamic nuclei involved in stress and GnRH secretion in the ewe. Reprod Domest Anim. 2010;45(6):1065–73.
- 234. Dudás B, Merchenthaler I. Close juxtapositions between luteinizing hormonereleasing hormone-immunoreactive neurons and corticotropin-releasing factorimmunoreactive axons in the human diencephalon. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(12):5778–84.
- 235. MacLusky NJ, Naftolin F, Leranth C. Immunocytochemical evidence for direct synaptic connections between corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF) and gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH)- containing neurons in the preoptic area of the rat. Brain Res. 1988 Jan;439(1–2):391–5.
- 236. Arrigoni E, Saper CB. What optogenetic stimulation is telling us (and failing to tell us) about fast neurotransmitters and neuromodulators in brain circuits for wake–sleep regulation. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2014 Dec 1;29:165–71.
- 237. Daigle TL, Madisen L, Hage TA, Valley MT, Knoblich U, Larsen RS, et al. A Suite of Transgenic Driver and Reporter Mouse Lines with Enhanced Brain-Cell-Type Targeting and Functionality. Cell. 2018 Jul 12;174(2):465-480.e22.
- 238. Klapoetke NC, Murata Y, Kim SS, Pulver SR, Birdsey-Benson A, Cho YK, et al. Independent optical excitation of distinct neural populations. Nat Methods. 2014;11(3):338–46.
- 239. Peng J, Long B, Yuan J, Peng X, Ni H, Li X, et al. A quantitative analysis of the distribution of CRH neurons in whole mouse brain. Front Neuroanat. 2017;11(July):1–12.
- 240. Hage TA, Bosma-Moody A, Baker CA, Kratz MB, Campagnola L, Jarsky T, et al. Synaptic connectivity to L2/3 of primary visual cortex measured by two-photon

optogenetic stimulation. Mao T, Calabrese RL, editors. eLife. 2022 Jan 21;11:e71103.